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PLACE OF INCORPORATION

Cayman Islands

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr Li Chu Kwan (Chairman & chief executive officer)
(appointed as chief executive officer on 1 January 2023)
Ms Chan Mei Yi, Melinda (Vice-chairman)
(appointed as Vice-chairman on 1 January 2023)

Non-executive Directors

Ms Ho Chiulin, Laurinda
Mr Li Chun Tak
Mr Wong Che Man Eddy

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr Wang Hongxin (alias Wang, Charles Hongxin)
Mr Lau Ngai Kee, Ricky
Mr Mak Ka Wing, Patrick

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr Lau Ngai Kee, Ricky (Chairman)

Ms Ho Chiulin, Laurinda

Mr Wang Hongxin (alias Wang, Charles Hongxin)
Mr Mak Ka Wing, Patrick

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr Wang Hongxin (alias Wang, Charles Hongxin) (Chairman)

Mr Li Chu Kwan

Mr Lau Ngai Kee, Ricky
Mr Mak Ka Wing, Patrick
Mr Wong Che Man Eddy

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr Mak Ka Wing, Patrick (Chairman)

Mr Wang Hongxin (alias Wang, Charles Hongxin)
Mr Lau Ngai Kee, Ricky

Mr Wong Che Man Eddy

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr Li Chu Kwan
Ms So Ka Man
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Corporate Information (Continued)

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms So Ka Man

REGISTERED OFFICE

Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111

Cayman Islands

HEADQUARTERS AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN
MACAU

Palace Building, Macau Fisherman’s Wharf
Avenida da Amizade e Avenida da Dr. Sun Yat Sen
Macau

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

21/F, Entertainment Building
30 Queen’s Road Central
Central

Hong Kong

CAYMAN ISLANDS PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111

Cayman Islands

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716

17M Floor, Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Wanchai

Hong Kong

HONG KONG LEGAL ADVISERS

Howse Williams, Solicitors

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

Ernst & Young
Certitied Public Accountants
Registered Public Interest Entity Auditor

Macau Legend Development Limited 2023 Annual Report 3
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PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (Macau) Limited
Banco Nacional Ultramarino, S.A.

Luso International Banking Limited

The Bank of East Asia, Limited — Hong Kong Branch
Bank of Communications Co., Ltd. — Hong Kong Branch

LISTING INFORMATION

Place of Listing

Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

Stock Code

1680

Board Lot

1,000 Shares

INVESTOR RELATIONS

Tel: (853) 2822 2211
Fax: (853) 2822 2266
Email: ir@macaulegend.com

WEBSITE

www.macaulegend.com
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Corporate Profile

Macau Legend Development Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated
under the laws of the Cayman Islands on 5 October 2006. The Company
acts as an investment holding company. The Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) is one of the leading owners of
entertainment and casino gaming facilities in Macau. The Group currently has
Macau Fisherman’s Wharf operated by MFW Investment (“MFW”), which is
a waterfront integrated gaming, hotel, convention and entertainment complex
located on the Macau Peninsula which follows the “Leisure, Tourism,
Economic and Multi-Cultural Diversification” policy of the government of the
Macau Special Administrative Region of the People’s Republic of China.

The Group’s businesses include (i) the provision of gaming services to
SJM for the operation of Legend Palace Casino; (ii) the operation of casino
inside Savan Legend Resorts Hotel and Entertainment Complex in the Lao
People’s Democratic Republic (“Lao PDR”); and (iii) the operation of hotels,
entertainment and leisure facilities within its properties.

Macau Legend Development Limited 2023 Annual Report 5
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In 2023, travel restrictions had been cancelled in phases, leading to recovery

in visitation to Macau. According to the figures released by the Macau
SAR Government Statistics and Census Service, the annual recorded visits
surged from about 5.7 million in 2022 to about 28.2 million visits in 2023;
and according to the figures released by the Macau Gaming Inspection
and Coordination Bureau, total gross gaming revenue also surged with
annual recorded amount increased from HK$41 billion in 2022 to about
HKS$177.7 billion in 2023. During the year, the Group’s main focus was on
operation execution and at the same time implemented cost control measures
in preparation for the upcoming challenges. The Group’s total reported
revenue for the year was approximately HK$901.6 million, an increase of
approximately 26.7% compared to the year 2022. Adjusted EBITDA for the
year was a profit of approximately HK$185.9 million, which was significantly
improved as compared to a loss of approximately HK$218.8 million last year.

Looking forward to the coming year, as a wide range of business development
is happening in Macau, more challenges and competition are expected to
be faced. Macau Fisherman’s Wharf will continue to optimize the facilities
in the area, fully utilizing and branding the waterfront to offer exclusive
entertainment experience, especially in dining, wedding events and sports
events, as well as increasing flexibility to host large-scale events, and actively
cooperate with the Macau government to build a “world tourism and leisure
center”. The goal is to enhance leisure experiences in a wide variety and
further improve the quality of Macau’s tourism industry.

Finally, together with the Board of Directors, we would like to thank all of our
team members for their unremitting efforts, commitment and contributions in
the past year. The Group would also like to express our sincere gratitude to
all the business partners and shareholders of the Group for their support in the
past year.

Li Chu Kwan
Chairman, executive Director and chief executive officer

28 March 2024

Macau Legend Development Limited 2023 Annual Report 7
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wf W & AT
Management Discussion and Analysis

FEMEE OVERVIEW OF RESULTS
BE_Z=FT A=+ —HIEFEE > A4 For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group achieved a total reported
) 48 B2 SRl 25 40 £5901,600,000945 76 > 2= 4F revenue of approximately HK$901.6 million, representing an increase of
] 3 497 11,600,000%5 73 1l £190,000,000%5 76 approximately HK$190.0 million or approximately 26.7% over that of the last
W #926.7% ° corresponding year of approximately HK$711.6 million.
A, TERIRE A.  Gaming Services
A £ ] 4 1R TR WA i 0 4 () ek 2 TP 5 The Group’s revenue from gaming services consisted of (i) service
W TIT 1 A 1 AR T R B8 it 1 R e B i income received from SJM for services and facilities provided relating
B IR U &(ii)ﬁi‘%ﬁ@ﬁ"]ﬁﬁ%i%% to mass market tables from Legend Palace Casino; and (ii) casino
o operations in the Lao PDR.
Vg &2 Legend Palace Casino
R BEW R kR
Mass Market Tables VIP Tables® Slot Machine
BEFAET Bk WEF A= Bk BEFZAZS-HILEE
For the year ended 31 December For the year ended 31 December For the year ended 31 December
CROEE CETTE b3 S — S— b S — S— £
2023 2022 change 2023 2022 change 2023 2022 change
TFibs Tk % TFibs Tk % TFibs Tkt %
HK$°000 HK$°000 % HK$°000 HK$°000 % HK$°000 HK$’000 %
T/ TR Games drop/Slot handle 3855202 1,021,249 2715 AEHNA  AEANA - RETNA = 40570 AEHNA
e Turnover TEANA  FEANA - A NA - 4178336 AEANA  AEANA  OREFNA  REHNA
A Net win 607,674 164,388 269.7 - 158,756 A N/A - 2755 A NA
I ES Hold rate 15.76% 16.10% 0.3) - 380%  AEH NA - 6.79% A NA
[y Ra S0 Tl Average number of tables/slot machines 3 58 3.1) = 14 A#HNA = 36 KA NA
TREER /A THER  Netwin per table/slot machine per day
bk 51 16 2188 - 32 AEANA - 044 I NA
2 llend Reported revenue 335,663 93,594 258.6 - 74359 REEF N/A - 1,102 R NA
MEARBERNE R/ No. of gaming tables/slot machines in
AFHEA operation as at year end 3 - 100.0 - - - - - -
B I fig 42 42552 Babylon Casino®
R HEWRO
Mass Market Tables VIP Tables™
BET-A=Z+—HILEE BET-A=Z+—HILEE
For the year ended 31 December For the year ended 31 December
RIS CETF 1 I =X S S )
2023 2022 change 2023 2022 change
Tt T % Tl Tt %
HK$°000 HKS$’000 % HK$°000 HKS$’000 %
TIEEE Games drop - 507,528  AEANA - AEANA O RFEHANA O KB NA
MR EER Turnover AEHNA  KNEANA KB NA = 626345 A N/A
T Net win - 67,840  ANEAI N/A - 14,603 A N/A
R Hold rate - 13.37% REH N/A - 2.33% REH N/A
e TH8E Average number of tables - 25 A NA - 9  NEHNA
HRaR GG H AR A Net win per table per day = 15 N N/A = 9 N N/A
it Reported revenue - 38,355 AEA N/A - 7970 A N/A
ey sty o | No. of gaming tables in operation as at year end = - - - _ _

Macau Legend Development Limited 2023 Annual Report 9
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BRSO Landmark Casino®
5 R HEWHO
Mass Market Tables VIP Tables®
BET-AZ+—HILEE BET-AZ+—HILEE
For the year ended 31 December For the year ended 31 December
SEIER ZECF BH 0 ZBDEgE SERCF )
2023 2022 change 2023 2022 change
Tt T % Tt Tt %
HK$’000 HK$’000 % HK$’000 HK$’000 %
TIEEE Games drop - 1824398  AWANA  AEANA  FEANA O REHNA
MR EER Turnover AREANA  RAEANA  REANA = 775,000 AN N/A
R Net win - 428,006  AEH N/A - 4541 AEHNA
[k Hold rate - 2346%  AEMHNA = 0.59% AN N/A
LRl | Average number of tables - 75 AEHNA - 3 NEANA
R BT R Net win per table per day = 32 KEANA = 9 R N/A
EHoliai Reported revenue - 235403 AEA N/A - 90 A NA
JRAEAEE D B ka B No. of gaming tables in operation as at year end - - - - - _
Savan Legend %45/ Savan Legend Casino®
L REMH T
Mass Market Tables VIP Tables Slot Machine
BET A= -HREE BRETFZAZt— Ik RETFZAS—H kA
For the year ended 31 December For the year ended 31 December For the year ended 31 December
SHOEE SR I ==L I S R —F0Sg Rk 21
2023 2022 change 2023 2022 change 2023 2022 change
T T % T T % T T %
HK$'000  HK$'000 %  HK$000  HK$'000 %  HK$000  HKS$'000 %
T/ A TR Games drop/Slot handle 144,641 98,508 468 DEANA  RERNA  FEANA 1448499 691,517 109.5
R EER Turnover AEANA  AEANA  RERNA - 2945859 1435241 1053 AEAINA  FEANA  RERNA
I Net win 37312 26,095 40 105,038 40,624 1586 55,303 28,089 96.9
| K Hold rate 25.80% 26.49% 0.7 3.57% 283% 0.7 3.82% 4.06% (0.2)
ks /TR TME Average number of tables/slot machines 20 10 100.0 15 17 (118) 291 178 635
WRRH A T Net win per table/slot machine per day
G HFRE 52 9 422 18.8 6 2133 0.95 05 90.0
E= el Reported revenue 36,959 20415 81.0 65,154 20,506 217.7 55,357 27325 102.6
REAEERIE/ No. of gaming tables/slot machines in
JERR 6] operation as at year end 2 16 315 20 16 250 37 275 18.9
R e
2023 2022
T THIT
HK$°000 HK$’000
TR IR 2 ol i A0 AR Total reported revenue for gaming services
R Mass Market Tables 372,622 387,767
BEMRO VIP Tables” 65,154 102,925
ey Slot Machines 55,357 28,427
493,133 519,119

10 MR AIEARAT] 202345



Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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Notes:

(1)  The amounts include outsourced VIP tables and indirect participation in
the gaming promotion business in Macau through New Legend under
the VIE Structure. The contractual relationship with New Legend was
terminated since 1 January 2023, and hence, there is no reported revenue
generated for the year ended 31 December 2023.

(2)  Babylon Casino has ceased operations since 1 January 2023, and hence,
there is no reported revenue generated for the year ended 31 December
2023.

(3)  The Group has expressed its intention not to continue the provision of
services in Landmark Casino since 27 June 2022, and hence, there is no
reported revenue generated for the year ended 31 December 2023.

(4)  The amounts include the operating statistics of the Thakhek slot club.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, gaming revenue of the Group
decreased slightly by approximately HK$26.0 million or approximately
5.0% when compared to the last corresponding year. Despite the fact
that the contractual relationship with New Legend, the operation of
Babylon Casino and the provision of services in Landmark Casino had
all been terminated with no reported revenue generated for the year
ended 31 December 2023, causing a decrease in total gaming revenue
by approximately HK$356.2 million, the improvements observed in the
mass market tables operation in the Legend Palace Casino with full year
operation and the overall gaming operation in Savan Legend Casino
managed to gain back the total gaming revenue by approximately
HK$331.3 million.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had a total of 33 gaming tables
in Macau (31 December 2022: Nil), of which 33 (31 December 2022:
Nil) were put into operation. The Group had 22 mass market tables (31
December 2022: 16) and 20 VIP tables (31 December 2022: 16) which
were put into operation in the Lao PDR.

Non-gaming Operations

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group recorded a total non-
gaming revenue of approximately HK$408.5 million, representing an
increase of approximately HK$216.0 million or approximately 112.2%
over that of the last corresponding year of approximately HK$192.5
million.

Macau Legend Development Limited 2023 Annual Report 11
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

N RIEPAE I I R LS R

The following table provides details on the composition of the Group’s
non-gaming revenue:

RO R
2023 2022
AL A
(Rt (Nt
Savan Savan Savan Savan
Legend) Legend oty Legend) Legend ey
The Group The Group
excluding excluding
Savan Savan Savan Savan
Legend Legend Consolidated Legend Legend Consolidated
T Fitoc Fitkoc T T T
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HKS$°000
AT IUN Income from hotel rooms 218,570 2,484 221,054 49,677 745 50,422
BB R AERE A Licensing income from investment
properties 38,866 - 38,866 32,157 - 32,157
AR B Sk B LR B A A Income from provision of services
under an addendum - - - 15,987 - 15,987
T A Income from building management
services 20,070 - 20,070 16,266 - 16,266
B Food and beverage 107,385 1,979 109,364 67,043 834 67,877
4 i B B Sales of merchandise 164 - 164 1,044 3 1,047
Fiph Others 18,938 56 18,994 8,699 31 8,730
FEHR B 2 s AR Total revenue from non-gaming
operations 403,993 4,519 408,512 190,873 1,613 192,486

1R W i 3 0 E R B T AR A R
BR ] B A SRR E 1840 TR - A PP B R~ A
Ut Ml Y i AN N > A ) AT A P2 B AR
RUEHER - D B I % 55 WS I BT 8

The increase in non-gaming revenue was mainly due to the increase in
revenue from hotel rooms as a result of the increased tourist visitation
from the mainland China, Hong Kong and other regions since the
gradual relaxation in travel restrictions and entry requirements in
January 2023 causing significant increase in both the occupancy rates
and the average room rates.

THREFIAEIRBE-F _=FT-H=1—H
L =BT A T H = B A B RS

The following table sets out certain key operational data on our major
hotel operations of the Group for the years ended 31 December 2023

12

BT R B R and 31 December 2022:
R Y - S
2023 2022
EWE AR s JEEE  RE I S
Legend Palace Harbourview Legend Palace Harbourview
Hotel Hotel Hotel Hotel
AEZ(%) Occupancy rate (%) 89.7 93.6 60.2 69.6
H 345 il (#so0) ADR (HK$) 1,043 867 580 291
BRI A E B U (570)  REVPAR (HKS) 935 812 350 202

MR AIEARAT] 202345
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

A BEBITDA Adjusted EBITDA

BE FZ =+ A=1+—HILFEEKE
KT EEBITDA M A 41185,900,000% 7 » #2
FAEE B B A5 1 49218,800,0009 T &)
404,700,000% 7 © | 3 53 £ IEEBITDA Bl A
AN EHEA NEAL TR, (ks 18) RO BHER

Adjusted EBITDA for the year ended 31 December 2023 recorded a profit
of approximately HK$185.9 million, representing an improvement of
approximately HK$404.7 million as compared with the last corresponding
year which incurred a loss of approximately HK$218.8 million. The following
table reconciles the Adjusted EBITDA to the profit/(loss) attributable to

owners of the Company:

- Y e St o
2023 2022
AR (4 AEE (A
5% Savan Savan £ 4 Savan Savan
Legend) Legend &a Legend) Legend ey
The Group The Group
excluding excluding
Savan Savan Savan Savan
Legend Legend Consolidated Legend Legend Consolidated
Ti#x Ti#x T TH#ETT TH#ETT TH#ETT
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
AN FIHER ARELS (B518) /6 ) (Loss)/profit attributable to owners
of the Company (13,171) 8,250 (4,921) (758,053) 150,844 (607,209)
R Adjustments for:
g AR Finance costs 170,562 32,287 202,849 105,696 4,277 109,973
Eid-C/ESiy Depreciation of investment
properties 17,994 - 17,994 11,404 - 11,404
VE NG i Depreciation of property and
equipment 292,077 19,912 311,989 333,032 13,780 346,812
il FIRE G T8 Depreciation of right-of-use assets 45,040 5,559 50,599 47,034 5,510 52,544
HAbAEIE Amortisation of other intangible
assets - 1,007 1,007 8,303 999 9,302
BB & i) il e ) Loss/(gain) on disposal of property
and equipment 12,035 (77) 11,958 126 (60) 66
52 T 5 Wl (L e 4 T Impairment losses on financial
assets, net (138) 188 50 1,546 46 1,592
KB (2R k518 Unrealized exchange (gain)/loss 4) (260) (264) - 8,066 8,066
I S WA Share of results of an associate - - - 7,084 - 7,084
FLEMA Interest income (135) (71) (206) (10,678) (44) (10,722)
7 B e 25 ] 5 BV (2 488 [ Reversal of write down of
inventories to net realizable
value (390) - (390) (3,139) - (3,139)
AR A R ERR RS IR Loss on change in fair value of
MR 2 A N financial assets at FVTPL = = = 10,967 - 10,967
M Compensation income (90) = (90) (152) - (152)
I8 (%) /P Income tax (credit)/expenses (421,096) 17,165 (403,931) (6,129) (142,106) (148,235)
Hoplr Other (788) - (788) (7,105) - (7,105)
K BEBITDA Adjusted EBITDA 101,896 83,960 185,856 (260,064) 41,312 (218,752)
Macau Legend Development Limited 2023 Annual Report 13
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

A3 T B 43 ) £8H EEBITD A AT (B84 85 43 3
MZEEER) IE -

An analysis of the Adjusted EBITDA by segments (after elimination of inter
segment results) is as follows:

e Y TR
2023 2022
ALK (R AL (R
4% Savan Savan FL4E Savan Savan
Legend) Legend oty Legend) Legend A
The Group The Group
excluding excluding
Savan Savan Savan Savan
Legend Legend Consolidated Legend Legend Consolidated

Tkt Tkt Tkt Tt Tt Tkt
HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$'000  HKS$000

TR R Gaming services 94,856 132,358 227214 (51,284) 56,293 5,009
FER S Non-gaming operations 14,428 (48,398) (33,970) (195,670) (14,981) (210,651)
/et Sub-total 109,284 83,960 193,244 (246,954) 41,312 (205,642)
AR TAR R L Unallocated corporate expenses'” (7,388) = (7,388) (13,110) - (13,110)
B EBITDA Adjusted EBITDA 101,896 83,960 185,856 (260,064) 41312 (218,752)
B 5E Remarks:
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(1)  The amounts represented the unallocated corporate expenses, offsetting with its
inter-segment elimination.

Adjusted EBITDA from operations of the Group excluding Savan Legend and
unallocated corporate expenses, mainly arising from the operations at MFW
Group, for the year ended 31 December 2023 was a profit of approximately
HKS$101.9 million, as compared to the last corresponding year which incurred
a loss of approximately HK$260.1 million, representing an improvement of
approximately HK$362.0 million.

Adjusted EBITDA of Savan Legend increased by approximately HK$42.7
million to a profit of approximately HK$84.0 million for the year ended 31
December 2023 when compared to the last corresponding year.

The Group’s loss for the year ended 31 December 2023 was approximately
HK$4.9 million, as compared to the loss of approximately HK$607.2 million
in the last corresponding year. This significant improvement of approximately
HK$602.3 million was mainly due to the increase in revenue by approximately
HK$190.0 million accompanied by a decrease in cost of sales and services
by approximately HK$305.6 million. The results of the Group are influenced
by the travelling policies around the world. Since early January 2023, entry
and exit restrictions and requirements had been comprehensively relaxed and
group tours gradually resumed operation among mainland China, Hong Kong
and Macau, thereby reviving the entire market economy in phases.

Dividend

The Board will not declare any final dividend for the year ended 31 December
2023 (2022: nil).
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OUTLOOK

Visitation to Macau increased significantly since early January 2023 when
travel restrictions and requirements on negative COVID-19 test result were
removed for travelers from the Mainland China, Hong Kong and Taiwan; and
these removals were further extended to travelers from other countries in early
April 2023. According to the figures from Macau SAR Government Statistics
and Census Service, the monthly average number of visitor arrivals for the
year of 2023 increased to 2.35 million from 0.48 million for the year of 2022,
which reached 71.6% of the level for the year of 2019. Unless there is another
outbreak of the pandemic, the Group remains optimistic over the further
recovery of the tourism industry.

Commencing on 1 January 2023, the Group is generating gaming revenue in
Macau through the provision of services to SIM which is derived based on net
gaming wins. The Adjusted EBITDA of this gaming operation improved from
a loss of HK$51.3 million incurred in 2022 to a profit of HK$94.9 million
generated in 2023. The Group will continue to improve its service quality to
stabilize the profit and to aim at growing steadily.

For the non-gaming operations in Macau, benefiting from the surge in
visitation, revenue in 2023 increased by 111.7% as compared with 2022.
The Adjusted EBITDA of these operations also improved from a loss of
HK$195.7 million incurred in 2022 to a profit of HK$14.4 million generated
in 2023. More challenges and competition are expected to be faced in
year 2024, and the Group will step up its efforts on the following aspects:
(i) talent recruitment and upgrade of technology and automation to yield
higher productivity; (ii) utilization and branding of the waterfront integrated
attraction to offer exclusive experience in dining and sports events; (iii)
upgrade of hardware and services to develop into a dream-wedding venue;
and (iv) upgrade of property and equipment to host large-scale events such as
the annual Lunar New Year float parade, food festival, mini-concert and other
cultural events.

In terms of overseas business, although the gaming and hotel business in
Lao PDR is profit-making, the Group is trying to centralise resources and
reallocate more resources to its business operation in Macau and for overall
future development; MLD Laos entered into a sales and purchase agreement
with a purchaser on 20 December 2023, pursuant to which MLD Laos agreed
to sell the entire equity interest in MLD Resorts Laos Limited, which in turn
wholly owns Savan Legend (the Company’s operation in Lao PDR) at the
initial consideration of US$39,000,000 subject to adjustment. For further
details, please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 20 December
2023.

Going forward, the Group remains optimistic and through the above strategies,

further equip to seize opportunities and overcome challenges in the coming
years.
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

The Group’s liquidity needs primarily comprise working capital, capital
expenditure, and servicing borrowings of the Group. The Group has generally
funded its operations and development projects from internal resources, debt
and/or equity financing.

As at 31 December 2023, the consolidated net assets attributable to owners of
the Company amounted to approximately HK$3,705.2 million, representing a
decrease of approximately HK$3.0 million from approximately HK$3,708.2
million as at 31 December 2022. The decrease in consolidated net assets
during the year ended 31 December 2023 was mainly due to the Group’s loss
for the year of approximately HK$4.9 million.

Cash and Bank Balances

As at 31 December 2023, cash and bank balances held by the Group amounted
to approximately HK$63.2 million (excluding pledged bank deposits of
approximately HK$1.7 million), which was denominated mainly in HK$ and
MOP. Given MOP is linked to HK$, the Group considers the exposure to
exchange rate risk is nominal for its cash and bank balances denominated in
MOP.

Borrowings

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had outstanding (i) secured and
guaranteed bank borrowings of approximately HK$2,103.6 million, and (ii)
unsecured, unguaranteed and interest bearing other borrowings of HK$465.0
million. The bank borrowings and other borrowings carried interest at Hong
Kong Interbank Offered Rate plus 2.25%-3% per annum and 5%-11.4% per
annum respectively.

The maturity profile of the bank borrowings and other borrowings totalling
HK$2,568.6 million as at 31 December 2023 spread over a period of four
years, with HK$633.6 million repayable within one year, HK$249.4 million
in the second year and HK$1,685.6 million in the third to fourth years. The
Group’s bank borrowings and other borrowings were denominated in HKS$.
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Charge on the Group’s Assets

As at 31 December 2023, certain assets of the Group were pledged to
secure credit facilities and use of electricity granted to the Group, including
investment properties with a total carrying amount of approximately
HK$446.8 million (31 December 2022: approximately HK$464.8 million),
buildings with a total carrying amount of approximately HK$3,555.2 million
(31 December 2022: approximately HK$3,687.4 million), right-of-use assets
with a total carrying amount of approximately HK$1,067.9 million (31
December 2022: approximately HK$1,110.2 million), trade receivables of
approximately HK$69.0 million (31 December 2022: approximately HK$25.4
million), bank deposits of approximately HK$1.7 million (31 December 2022:
approximately HK$1.7 million) and rental deposits paid of approximately
HK$1.6 million (31 December 2022: HK$1.6 million).

Gearing

The Group’s net gearing ratio is expressed as a percentage of total borrowings
(e.g. bank and other borrowings) minus cash (e.g. pledged bank deposits
and cash and bank balances) over total equity. As at 31 December 2023, the
Group’s net gearing ratio was 67.6% (31 December 2022: 66.6%).

As at 31 December 2023, the Group did not employ any financial instruments
for hedging purposes.

TREASURY POLICY

The Group has a funding and treasury policy to monitor its funding
requirements and perform ongoing liquidity review, and thus maintained
a healthy financial position throughout the year. The Group monitors and
maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate to meet its
funding requirement by the management of the Company for the operation of
the Group.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT, MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS
OR DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATED
COMPANIES

Save as the entering and the sale and purchases agreement for the disposal of
the operations in Lao PDR as disclosed in the announcement of the Company
dated 20 December 2023, there were no significant investment, material
acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries and affiliated companies by the Group
during the year ended 31 December 2023. There was no plan for material
investments or capital assets as at 31 December 2023.

Macau Legend Development Limited 2023 Annual Report 17
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CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

At the end of the reporting period, the Group did not have any litigations or
claims of material importance and, so far as the Directors of the Company are
aware, no litigation or claims of material importance are pending or threatened
by or against any companies of the Group.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group provided a bank guarantee of
HK$82.0 million (2022: Nil) to SJM in accordance with the New Service
Agreement.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED SHARES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed
any of the Shares during the year ended 31 December 2023.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had a total of approximately 2,273 (2022:
1,966) employees, including 293 (2022: Nil) gaming operation employees
who were employed and paid by SIM but over whom the Group exercised
oversight in accordance with the New Service Agreement. The Group
reimbursed SJM in full for the salaries and other benefits of these gaming
operation employees.

The Group recognises the importance of maintaining a stable staff force for its
continued success. Staff remuneration is determined by reference to personal
qualifications, work performance, industry experience, responsibilities and
relevant market trends. Discretionary bonuses are granted to employees based
on merit and in accordance with industry practice. Other benefits including
share options, reward shares, retirement benefits, medical subsidy, pension
funds and sponsorship for external education and training programmes are
offered to eligible employees.
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DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Mr Li Chu Kwan, aged 48, has been an executive Director since 29
December 2020 and was a co-chairman of the Board since 1 March 2022. He
became the chairman of the Board since 16 August 2022. He has also been
appointed as a member of the Remuneration Committee since 15 December
2022 and the chief executive officer since 1 January 2023. He studied
finance at University of South Australia and has extensive experience in
the commercial and gaming industry in Macau. He was the chief executive
officer of the Macau Jockey Club from 2007 to 2021. He has also actively
participated in public and community services in Macau, including the roles
of being a member of the 12th Chinese People’s Political Consultative of
Guangzhou Province — Macau district from 2012 to 2017; a member of the
12th Chinese People’s Political Consultative of Sichuan Province — Macau
district since 2018; a director of Tung Wah Group of Hospital in Hong Kong
from 2006 to 2010; the vice-president of Associacao Geral de Ciclismo de
Macau, China (77278 P9 BB 48 since 2012; a committee member of the
central committee of the Macau Red Cross since 2014; a committee member
of Conselho do Desporto (IR ["1## &2 5 €) since 2018; and the president
of the Macau Association of Young Employees in the Gaming Industry from
2016 to 2021. Mr Li is the son of Mr Li Chi Keung, a substantial shareholder
of the Company.

The discloseable interest of Mr Li Chu Kwan in the Shares and underlying
Shares under the provisions of Part XV of the SFO is set out in the section
headed “Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests and Short Position in
Shares and Underlying Shares of the Company” under the Directors’ Report
of this annual report.

Ms Chan Mei Yi, Melinda, aged 59, has been an executive Director since 26
March 2020, and was chief executive officer of the Company from 26 March
2020 to 29 December 2020 and from 1 March 2022 to 1 January 2023. She
has also been appointed as vice chairman of the Board since 1 January 2023
and is responsible for the overseas business development of the Group. Ms
Melinda Chan is a graduate of Peking University and has over 30 years of
extensive experience in the business and management of casinos. Since her
appointment as president of MFW Investment in October 2017, she has been
actively involved in shaping MFW’s policy and daily operations.

Ms Melinda Chan was a directly-elected member of the fourth and fifth
Legislative Assembly of Macau and a committee member on the Establishing
Talents Development Committee of Macau, and is currently a committee
member on the Tourism Development Committee of Macau. She has served
as a committee member on the third, fourth and fifth Chief Executive Election
Committee. Ms Melinda Chan is a standing committee of the Guangdong
Political Consultative Committee, the vice chairman of the Guangdong
Federation of Industry and Commerce, the vice chairman of the Guangdong
Federation of Women and the executive committee of the All-China Women’s
Federation.
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Directors and Senior Management (Continued)

Ms Melinda Chan is the managing director of Beijing Hua Hai Jin Bao Real
Estate Development Co. Ltd. (At FE iy 48 5 B A BR 22 7), and has
been responsible for the overall planning, construction and completion of the
Legendale Hotel Beijing Project since 2004. She is also the vice chairman of
Zhuhai Hengqin New Area Lai leng Commercial Management Co. Ltd. (¥fif§
TR SR i Y 1 T A BT R D).

Ms Melinda Chan is the wife of Mr David Chow, a former Director of the
Company and a substantial shareholder of the Company. The discloseable
interest of Ms Melinda Chan in the Shares and underlying Shares under the
provisions of Part XV of the SFO is set out in the section headed “Directors’
and Chief Executives’ Interests and Short Position in Shares and Underlying
Shares of the Company” under the Directors’ Report of this annual report.

Non-executive Directors

Ms Ho Chiulin, Laurinda, aged 32, was appointed as a non-executive
Director and a member of the Audit Committee on 1 September 2016. Ms
Ho is a daughter of Ms Chan Un Chan, a substantial shareholder of the
Company. She was awarded a bachelor of science in economics from the
University of London in August 2012 and was conferred the degree of master
of science in professional accountancy in 2020. She is also a member of
the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales. Ms Ho was
an assistant tax advisor with Ernst & Young PLL in London in 2013 and
a senior staff accountant with Ernst & Young PLL in Beijing from March
2014 to October 2014. She has been a director of UNIR Australia Pty Ltd,
the group of which owns substantial real estate assets including hospitality,
retail and office investments in Perth, Australia. Ms Ho has been a member of
Foshan Provincial Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference of the PRC since 25 January 2019.

Mr Li Chun Tak, aged 44, was appointed as a non-executive Director on 1
March 2022. Mr Li is a registered solicitor of the High Court and a partner
of Y.S. Lau & Partners. He has over a decade’s experience in the legal field.
Mr Li graduated from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University with a bachelor
degree majoring in Information Technology and later obtained a bachelor
degree in law from the Manchester Metropolitan University in 2008 and
his Postgraduate Certificate in Laws (P.C.LL) from the University of Hong
Kong in 2011. In addition to his experience in the legal field, he also has
substantial experience in the field of business management, having managed
and supervised projects in information technology, financing, and business
strategic planning.
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Mr Wong Che Man Eddy, aged 64, has been a non-executive Director, a
member of both the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee
since 9 September 2022. He has over 30 years of experience in the auditing
and accounting profession. Mr Wong graduated with an honours diploma in
accounting from Hong Kong Baptist College in 1984. He is the sole proprietor
of Eddy Wong & Co., Certified Public Accountants, and also is a fellow
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants.

Mr Wong is currently an independent non-executive director of Sun Hing
Vision Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 125), whose securities are
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and an independent non-
executive director of China All Access (Holdings) Limited (In Liquidation),
a company incorporated in Cayman Islands primarily engaged in Information
and Communicate Technology Business whose securities were previously
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and its listing status was
canceled in 16 January 2023. A winding up order was made against China
All Access (Holdings) Limited (In Liquidation) by the High Court of Hong
Kong on 21 June 2021 and Messrs. So Man Chun and Jong Yat Kit of
PricewaterhouseCoopers Limited have been appointed as its joint and several
liquidators. The subject winding-up petition was filed by a corporate bond
holder in respect of a claim of approximately HK$10,000,000.

Mr Wong was an independent non-executive director of PF Group Holdings
Limited (stock code: 8221) from 11 December 2020 to 10 October 2021,
whose securities are listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange.

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr Lau Ngai Kee, Ricky, aged 57, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director, the chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of
both the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee on 29
December 2020. Mr Lau obtained a professional diploma in accountancy from
Hong Kong Polytechnic in November 1989. Mr Lau is a Practicing Certified
Public Accountant and a fellow of The Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and The Association of Chartered Certified Accountants.
He has over 30 years of experience in auditing and accounting with extensive
experience in areas of initial public offering, merger and acquisition and
corporate finance exercise. He had served Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu for 25
years from 1993 to 2018 and had been a partner thereof for 17 years. He is
currently a director of Moore CPA Limited.

Mr Wang Hongxin (alias Wang, Charles Hongxin), aged 56, was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director, the chairman of the Remuneration
Committee and a member of both the Audit Committee and the Nomination
Committee on 1 June 2021. Mr Wang is the chairman of Shenzhen Academia
Capital Management* (ZRYIE BEE A HEATBR 22 ), an onshore hedge fund
based in Shenzhen which runs various China A-share quantitative investment
strategies in China, since 2016.
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Directors and Senior Management (Continued)

Mr Wang received a bachelor’s degree in Mathematics from Peking
University, a master degree in Applied Mathematics from University
of Massachusetts Amherst, and a doctoral degree in Finance from Yale
University.

Mr Wang had almost 30 years of global investment experience in the United
States and China. From 2000 to 2010, he held various senior positions at
Putnam Investments and Acadian Asset Management (“Acadian”) in the
United States, including the roles of senior portfolio manager and senior
partner at Acadian during which Acadian Global Emerging Markets Fund,
under his supervision, ranked top in the investment yield from 2000 to 2009.

After coming back to China, he served as the chief executive officer at E Fund
Management (Hong Kong) between 2010 and 2012, and the chief investment
officer at Bosera Asset Management (Shenzhen) between 2012 and 2015. He
founded his own hedge fund company in China in 2015. Mr Wang also served
as an independent director of Shenzhen Salubris Pharmaceuticals Co., Ltd.
between 2016 and 2020.

Currently, Mr Wang is an independent non-executive director of Great China
Holdings (Hong Kong) Limited (Stock Code: 21), the shares of which are
listed on the Stock Exchange.

In addition, Mr Wang has been undertaking multiple social responsibilities.
He was the president of The Chinese Finance Association in the United States
and a member of Shenzhen People’s Congress in China. Mr Wang is currently
the president of the Shenzhen Financial Professionals Association.

Mr Mak Ka Wing, Patrick, aged 59, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director, the chairman of the Nomination Committee and a member
of both the Remuneration Committee and the Audit Committee on 1 March
2022. Mr Mak is a registered solicitor of the High Court of Hong Kong
and Managing Partner of Patrick Mak & Tse, Solicitors. Mr Mak has over
20 years’ legal experience in the legal field. He was awarded the Common
Professional Examination Certificate in Laws by the University of Hong Kong
in 1995 and was awarded his Postgraduate Certificate in Laws (P.C.LL) by the
University of Hong Kong in 1998.

Mr Mak is currently an independent non-executive director of Far East
Holdings International Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange with stock code: 0036). He had also been an independent non-
executive director of Fresh Express Delivery Holdings Group Co., Limited
(a company previously listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange with
stock code: 1175, listing of which was canceled on 9 February 2023) from 8
July 2013 to 13 December 2021.

Save as disclosed, each of the Directors, confirmed, to the best of his or her
knowledge, information and belief having made all reasonable enquiries, there

were no information relating to him/her required to be disclosed under Rule
13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.

*  For identification purpose only
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT
Chief financial officer

Ms Lam Shu Yan, aged 39, is the chief financial officer of the Group. Ms
Lam graduated from the University of California, Berkeley with a Bachelor
of Arts in Economics with Honors and is also a Certified Public Accountant
under the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
Professional Committee of Accountants in Macau SAR. Ms Lam worked at the
Macau Jockey Club from 2013 to 2022 with last position held as director of
Finance and KPMG Macau from 2007 to 2013 with last position held as Audit
and Tax Manager. Ms Lam has extensive experience in financial planning,
cash flow management, credit management, risk management, evaluation,
financial consolidation, financial reporting and analysis, compliance, internal
control, audit and tax advisory. Her exposures cover a wide range of industries
including horse racing, pari-mutual gaming, fortune gaming, entertainment,
banking, insurance, pharmaceutical and public services.

Senior vice president, overseas business development

Mr Sheldon Trainor-DeGirolamo, aged 60, is the senior vice president,
overseas business development of the Company. Mr Trainor was an executive
Director of the Company and a member of the Nomination Committee
between 18 May 2012 and 24 November 2020. He obtained a bachelor’s
degree in commerce at the University of British Columbia in 1988 and has
more than 20 years of experience in financial advisory services. He served a
number of leading investment banks and has extensive experience in raising
capital for casino, leisure and property companies in Asia. He worked at
Credit Suisse Management (Australia) PTY Limited between 1990 and 1994
and last served as an associate in the investment banking division. He then
served within Morgan Stanley group of companies between 1994 and 2005
and last served as a managing director in the investment banking division
of Morgan Stanley Asia Pacific Holding Ltd. Mr Trainor worked at Merrill
Lynch between 2005 and 2009 as a managing director and had been involved
in the Group’s financing projects in such capacity since 2005. He is the
founder and managing director of PacBridge Capital Partners (HK) Limited, a
principal investment firm based in Hong Kong, which he founded in 2009. He
was a director of Athenex Inc. (Nasdaq GS: ATNX) between June 2017 and
March 2019. On 10 May 2019, Mr Trainor was appointed as an independent
non-executive director of FIT Hon Teng Limited (SEHK: 6088). Mr Trainor
is also on the board of directors of E/M Group since May 2021 and Linksys
Holdings since June 2021.
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Directors and Senior Management (Continued)

Senior vice president of finance

Mr Lei Vai Ip, aged 57, is the senior vice president of finance of the Group.
Mr Lei joined the Group since 2003. He has obtained a professional diploma
in Accounting from Jinan University and been awarded with a bachelor degree
in International Tourism Management from Macau University of Science
and Technology. Mr Lei has over 25 years of work experience in accounting,
hospitality financial management, financial forecasting and budget planning.

Senior vice president of legal

Madam Lidia da Gloria Filomena da Luz, aged 65, was appointed as the
senior vice president of Legal of the Company since July 2023. Madam Lidia
Luz was awarded a bachelor’s degree in Law from the Macau University and a
master degree in Law from the Macau University of Science and Technology.

Madam Lidia Luz spent her career in the public service sector during 1976
and 2006 with the Macau Public Administration and Civil Service Bureau
and held different management positions including head of division of
Administration and Finance, subdirector and director, she was also appointed
as the head of Public Administration Human Resources Research Center of
Macau Polytechnic Institute.

Madam Lidia Luz was appointed as the member of the Committees of Macau
Legislative Elections and Macau City Council. She has joined the Macau
Lawyer Association since 2007.

Vice president of human resources

Ms Ng Wai Cheng, Diarle, aged 51, vice president of human resources
of the Group, is responsible for the Group’s Macau, mainland China and
overseas human resources management and strategy. Ms Ng has substantial
human resources and administration experiences in gaming, hotel, food
and beverage, infrastructure and trading industries. Previously, she was the
director of human resources of Landmark Macau, she also handled human
resources related matters in Pharaoh’s Palace Casino. Ms Ng graduated from
Jinan University with Bachelor of Arts Degree in International Journalism and
Communications, and engaged in media industry after graduation. Currently,
she is the vice president of Macau Greater Bay Area Human Resources
Association, and also the head of Personnel Committee of the Macau Hotel
Association.
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Corporate Governance Report

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE CODE

The Company believes that good corporate governance practices are very
important for maintaining and promoting investor confidence and for the
sustainable growth of the Group. The Board sets appropriate policies and
implements corporate governance practices appropriate to the conduct and
growth of the Group’s business. The Board is committed to strengthening
the Group’s corporate governance practices and ensuring transparency and
accountability of the Company’s operations.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company has complied with
the CG Code and Listing Rules requirements, except for code provision C.2.1
of the CG Code which stipulates that the roles of chairman and chief executive
should be separate and should not be performed by the same individual.

A. The Board
Al. Responsibilities and Delegation

The overall management and control of the Company’s business
are vested in the Board, whose main roles are to provide
leadership and to approve strategic policies and plans with a view
to enhancing shareholder value. All Directors take decisions
objectively in the interests of the Company.

The Board reserves for its decision all major matters of the
Company, including the approval and monitoring of all policy
matters, overall strategies and budgets, risk management and
internal control systems, material transactions (in particular those
that may involve conflict of interests), financial information,
appointment of Directors and other significant financial and
operational matters.

All Directors have timely access to all relevant information
as well as the advice and services of the company secretary
and senior management, with a view to ensuring compliance
with Board procedures and all applicable laws and regulations.
Any Director may request independent professional advice in
appropriate circumstances at the Company’s expense, upon
reasonable request made to the Board.

The senior management is delegated the authority and
responsibilities by the Board for the day-to-day management and
operation of the Group. The delegated functions and work tasks
are periodically reviewed by the Company. Approval has to be
obtained from the Board prior to any significant transactions
entered into by the above-mentioned officers. The Board has
the full support of the senior management to discharge its
responsibilities.
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Mr Li Chu Kwan
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Ms Chan Mei Yi, Melinda
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Non-executive Directors:
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Ms Ho Chiulin, Laurinda
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Mr Li Chun Tak
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Mr Wong Che Man Eddy
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Independent non-executive Directors:

BB At
Mr Lau Ngai Kee, Ricky

FALR e
Mr Wang Hongxin

(alias Wang, Charles Hongxin)

BREESEE
Mr Mak Ka Wing, Patrick
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A2. Board Composition

The composition of the Board during the year and as at the date
of this annual report is as follows:

(FEFHE LN TR - = =i — ] — AR RFNZE S &k A

(Chairman of the Board, chief executive officer: appointed on 1 January 2023 and a member
of Remuneration Committee)

(BT - R = —H — HHEZ(T)

(Vice-Chairman: appointed on 1 January 2023)

(FHHZ R EMA)

(A member of the Audit Committee)

(B ZE A & R 1847 A &M A)

(A member of both the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee)

(FHEZ A G TIHHHINE G & RIESFEEHE)

(Chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of both the Remuneration Committee and
the Nomination Committee)

(FrWZE 5 6 T e 1% 5 RIBE TS A

(Chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a member of both the Audit Committee and
the Nomination Committee)

(1257 8 & T HFHEZE G & RHNES & E)

(Chairman of the Nomination Committee and a member of both the Audit Committee and the
Remuneration Committee)
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

The biographical details of the existing Directors and the
relationships among the members of the Board are disclosed
under the section headed “Directors and Senior Management” in
this annual report.

The Board has met the requirements of Rules 3.10 and 3.10A
of the Listing Rules of having a minimum of three independent
non-executive Directors (representing at least one-third of the
Board) with one of them possessing appropriate professional
qualifications and accounting and related financial management
expertise.

The members of the Board have skills and experience appropriate
for the business requirements and objectives of the Group.
Each executive Director is responsible for different business
and functional division of the Group in accordance with his/her
expertise. The non-executive Directors bring different business
and financial expertise, experiences and independent judgement to
the Board and they are invited to serve on the Board committees
of the Company. Through participation in Board meetings and
taking the lead in managing issues involving potential conflicts
of interests, the non-executive Directors had made contributions
to the effective direction of the Company and provided adequate
checks and balances to safeguard the interests of both the Group
and the shareholders.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from each
independent non-executive Director of his independence pursuant
to the requirements of the Listing Rules. The Company considers
all independent non-executive Directors to be independent in light
of the independence guidelines set out in the Listing Rules.

The Company has implementable and effective mechanism to
ensure independent views and inputs are available to the Board,
with the following key features: (i) the Nomination Committee
is established with clear terms of reference to identify suitable
candidates, including independent non-executive Directors,
for appointment as Directors; (ii) the Nomination Committee
will assess annually the independence of all independent non-
executive Directors; and (iii) the Directors are entitled to seek, at
the Group’s expense, independent professional advice reasonably
necessary for discharging their duties as Directors. During
the year ended 31 December 2023, the Board has reviewed
the implementation and effectiveness of such mechanism and
considered it to be effective.

Macau Legend Development Limited 2023 Annual Report 29



i % 6 W (8D

Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

30

A3.

Ad.

T RAT B A

ARG I 2 S RIS C.2 1k
BLAE T2 BAT B AR R A (A [
g AR — AR RFFRAE

MEFZ=F—A—H o BERL
LEHTA R AT BUB R S e
FECERAE AN FAT AR o R
ZAEFAEMSEAE BITBURRRE > &
e AT AN R g £
JAT B SRR o T i AR S
HFRISF RSO C2 10k -
il SRMAGHEERG L
AN ) G 2 T RE ) A RE T
iy o HEGRER > B — AFHEE
i B AT AR Y 1y (0 20 A AR T 4 {3
WA S R — - W ARFFE
AR R T A 4 Y
RN o AN ERERS - #
HETRMATES R I RITES
MIGMALN > LRERERZAY
(5 % b 8 5 IR AT 3 S AL A
N F B R T AT B - i
SR PRI - e PRAE ) S bl
- o 2 I AR A A I 5 T
S I AR A 2 ) RS R O [
JiE BAT AR o R - BLRE
B & o b f e e 2 ELAT A A
DR AN A o

FEREEEH

SR E F IR E LR - AT
B LI RATE R A AL AR
= AERIREE G A &S AT
J7 8 RO A8 A R T A
1k o AR AL E AT R A A R
WA B = AT AL F] A R &
AT 359 B o 4% 14 28 1 5Bl R A
A BRI T I N
D A R g 5T T 2 R AL
1k e

MR AIEARAT] 202345

A3.

Ad.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of
chairman and chief executive should be separate and should not
be performed by the same individual.

On 1 January 2023, Ms Melinda Chan resigned as the chief
executive officer of the Company and Mr Li Chu Kwan was
appointed as the chief executive officer of the Company. Upon
the appointment of Mr Li Chu Kwan as the chief executive
officer, Mr Li Chu Kwan has performed both of the roles as
the Chairman and the chief executive officer of the Company.
This deviates from code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code. The
Board considers that this structure will not impair the balance
of power and authority between the Board and the management
of the Company. The Board believes that vesting both the roles
of Chairman and the chief executive officer in the same person
has the benefit of providing a strong and consistent leadership to
the Group and allows for more effective planning, management
and implement the overall strategy of the Group. In addition, the
Board is of the view that the balanced composition of executive
and the independent non-executive Directors on the Board and
the various committees of the Board (primarily comprising
independent non-executive Directors) in overseeing different
aspects of the Company’s affairs would provide adequate
safeguards to ensure a balance of power and authority. The
Board will continue to review and consider splitting the roles
of the Chairman and the chief executive officer at a time when
appropriate and suitable by taking into account the circumstances
of the Group as a whole. Hence, the aforesaid deviation is
appropriate and in the best interest of the Company at the present
stage.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

All Directors are appointed for a specific term. Each of the
executive Directors and non-executive Directors is engaged on
a service contract for a term of two or three years, which may
be terminated by either party by not less than three months’
written notice. Each of the independent non-executive Directors
of the Company is appointed for a term of two or three years and
renewable automatically for a successive term of one year each
commencing from the next day after the expiry of the then current
term of appointment, unless terminated by either party giving to
the other not less than three months’ prior notice in writing.
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FEREAN R AT B A ZAT KRR S The Articles of Association contain provisions on the procedures
B 7 SORAE R E o ARAE A4 and process of appointment and removal of Directors. According
R = 2 —FEAL E (i E to the Articles of Association, one-third of the Directors for
H A I =2 A58 Al the time being (if their number is not a multiple of three, the
AR A =53 2 — 8 E ZETA B number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from
IR AR R B b im s AR > Bl office by rotation at each annual general meeting provided
236 HH 0 AR Ex%ﬂgﬁ that every Director shall be subject to retirement at an annual
& Elm R —IK o WAL - AR general meeting at least once every three years. In addition, any
T AT D O IR 2 new Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy in
FA) T 2 = TAT A S5 AT A the Board and any new Director appointed by the Board as an
G WM E R AT R AL addition to the Board shall hold office until the next following
B R AR R Ay 1E o BT annual general meeting of the Company. The retiring Directors
AT TP R B R BR K Ll e R g are eligible for re-election by the Shareholders at the respective
1% - general meetings.
HRPE A A = AR A0 P 5 84k » PRIEMR According to Article 84 of the Articles of Association, Ms
Lt~ RRAESEE R E AR AR Melinda Chan, Mr Li Chun Tak and Mr Wang Hongxin shall
A 22 A i R A @k@ﬂ"‘ﬁ% retire by rotation at the 2024 AGM being eligible, will offer
BAT > F5 5 EAR KB E R & themselves for re-election at the 2024 AGM. The Board and the
gﬂlﬁiﬂxﬁﬁLﬁiﬁ@LJ’%%LE Nomination Committee recommended their re-appointment. The
HEGNRATEGHRERSEE Company’s circular in relation to the 2024 AGM sent together
o 8 7] A A — 1 A A AR 4 ] with this annual report, contains detailed information of the above
A BIA ZF AR R E R G 2 Directors as required by the Listing Rules.
T BRI b TR S BT B A B
FFEA R ©
e AS. Training and Continuing Development of Directors
M AT B R T IR AT R 4 Each newly appointed Director will receive induction on the
ZNBRAR A o T R HC A B 1 ) S first occasion of his/her appointment so as to ensure he/she has
W B AT AT W R > G SR A appropriate understanding of the business and operations of the
&AL R B A B B A R T Group and that he/she is fully aware of his/her responsibilities
T R B B AT - and obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant regulatory
requirements.
BT 35 55 0 2 088 1Y R S e The existing Directors should participate in appropriate
& > DAREEE S AR T LR K R continuous professional development to develop and refresh
ifE P 1 56 o) =8 = F L1 RS AAH B their knowledge and skills to ensure that their contribution to
BIER o AN FMAEREE BT 5 the Board remains informed and relevant. Internally-facilitated
# A2 E A A g i e 2 briefings for Directors will be arranged and reading materials on
B AR B T2 R R BEREA R o A AR relevant topics will be issued to Directors by the Company where
BB T A HE =R 2 BUM B B R AR appropriate. All Directors are encouraged to attend relevant
2 e A R R training courses at the Company’s expenses.
S E R AR TR gEZAT All Directors receive a comprehensive induction and shall
AN S R OE R R A obtain legal advice on his/her appointment to ensure appropriate
Tt 7 708 AR fft A A2 B ) 65 I understanding of the business and operations of the Group and
AR Sl iRk EE A B TR full awareness of Director’s responsibilities and obligations under
RS B A S 3T - the Listing Rules and relevant statutory requirements.
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A6.

The existing Directors are continually updated with legal and
regulatory developments, business and market changes to
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure that
their contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.
Continuing briefings and professional development for Directors
are arranged whenever necessary. In addition, reading materials
on new or changes to salient laws and regulations applicable to
the Group are provided to the Directors from time to time for their
studying and reference. All Directors are encouraged to attend
relevant training courses at the Company’s expenses.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Directors
complied with the code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code. All
Directors namely, Mr Li Chu Kwan, Ms Melinda Chan, Ms Ho
Chiulin, Laurinda, Mr Li Chun Tak, Mr Wong Che Man Eddy,
Mr Lau Ngai Kee, Ricky, Mr Wang Hongxin and Mr Mak Ka
Wing, Patrick have received regular briefings and updates from
professional firm on the Group’s business/operations/corporate
governance matters which are relevant to their duties and
responsibilities.

Model Code for Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code as its code of conduct
governing Directors’ dealings in the Company’s securities.
Specific enquiry has been made of all the Directors and they have
confirmed their compliance with the Model Code during the year
ended 31 December 2023.

The Company also has established written guidelines on no less
exacting terms than the Model Code (the “Employees Written
Guidelines”), governing securities transactions by relevant
employees who are likely to possess inside information of the
Company and/or its securities. No incident of non-compliance of
the Employees Written Guidelines by the relevant employees was
noted by the Company during the year ended 31 December 2023.

In case when the Company is aware of any restricted period for
dealings in the Company’s securities, the Company will notify its
Directors and relevant employees in advance.
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A7, BFEEIRBGE A7. Corporate Governance Functions
#HHGAERITMEE RIS The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in
PGSBS A2 GBI Rk BE the code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code.
BE-EF_=F+"A=t+—HI During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Board has
FEE S ERGUREIAAFAMNAE reviewed the Company’s corporate governance policies and
EIRHURBLE R - EF m g practices, training and continuous professional development of
ELERET SRS 3 i  BIIESPS Directors and senior management, the Company’s policies and
R S L A AR ) RO B practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements,
B~ A A RV SF A ARSI the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in
F 1 DL B AR A 28 TR R AR this Corporate Governance Report.

A8 #FHE AR AS8. Directors’ Attendance Records
HEHLFEANFRERE X = The attendance records of each Director at the Board meetings,
T H = R RRATIE Board committees meetings and general meetings of the Company
HETHk - EFEEGERIK held during the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out below:
REHFCERHEIIAT

HIY 9 £ L 2 ERe

Attendance/Number of Meetings
WG wHRZBREE HmzEe RUEZHG JBe O3B 45

HHLEA ik ik ik ik PN
Audit Remuneration Nomination Annual

Board Committee Committee Committee General

Name of Directors Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting

A e 5/5 - 212 - 1/1

Mr Li Chu Kwan

[F eSS/ 5/5 - - - 1/1

Ms Chan Mei Yi, Melinda

R 3 4 - 4/5 3/3 - - 11

Ms Ho Chiulin, Laurinda

RS 4/5 - - - 1/1

Mr Li Chun Tak

B A 5/5 - 2/2 111 11

Mr Wong Che Man Eddy

BIRAESE 5/5 3/3 2/2 111 11

Mr Lau Ngai Kee, Ricky

EALRSEE 5/5 3/3 212 11 11

Mr Wang Hongxin

(alias Wang, Charles Hongxin)
BRESEE 5/5 3/3 212 1/1 11
Mr Mak Ka Wing, Patrick
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Board Committees

The Board has established three Board committees, namely, Audit
Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee,
for overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s affairs. All Board
committees of the Company have been established with defined written
terms of reference which are posted on the Company’s website “www.
macaulegend.com” and on the Stock Exchange’s website “www.
hkexnews.hk”. All the Board committees should report to the Board on
their decisions or recommendations made.

All Board committees are provided with sufficient resources to
discharge their duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the
Company’s expenses.

Bl1. Audit Committee

The Audit Committee comprises a total of four members, being
three independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr Lau
Ngai Kee, Ricky (Chairman), Mr Wang Hongxin and Mr Mak
Ka Wing, Patrick; and one non-executive Director, namely,
Ms Ho Chiulin, Laurinda. Mr Lau Ngai Kee, Ricky possesses
appropriate professional qualifications and accounting and
financial management expertise as required under Rule 3.10(2) of
the Listing Rules. None of the members of the Audit Committee is
a former partner of the Company’s existing external auditors. All
of the members are non-executive Directors and the majority of
the members are independent non-executive Directors.

The main duties of the Audit Committee are reviewing the
financial information and reports of the Group and considering
any significant or unusual items raised by the financial officers
of the Group or external auditors before submission to the Board;
reviewing the relationship with and the terms of appointment of
the external auditors and making the relevant recommendation
to the Board; and reviewing the Company’s financial reporting
system, risk management system and internal control system.
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During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Audit Committee
has performed the following major tasks:

—  Reviewed and discussed the annual financial statements,
results announcement and report for the year ended
31 December 2022, the related accounting principles
and practices adopted by the Group and the relevant
audit findings, the report from the management on the
Company’s risk management and internal control review
and processes and recommendation of the re-appointment
of the external auditor;

—  Reviewed and reported on continuing connected transactions
carried out during the year ended 31 December 2022;

—  Reviewed and discussed the interim financial statements,
results announcement and report for the six months ended
30 June 2023 and the related accounting principles and
practices adopted by the Group;

—  Reviewed and approved the engagement letters of Ernst &
Young as the auditor of the Company, the nature and scope
of the audit for the year ended 31 December 2023, their
reporting obligations and their work plan; and

—  Reviewed the effectiveness of the Group’s internal audit
function, internal audit plan and report.

The external auditors were invited to attend the meetings to
discuss with the Audit Committee on issues arising from the
audit and financial reporting matters. Besides, there was no
disagreement between the Board and the Audit Committee
regarding the appointment of Ernst & Young as the external
auditor for the year ended 31 December 2023.
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B2.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee comprises a total of five members,
being three independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr
Wang Hongxin (Chairman), Mr Lau Ngai Kee, Ricky and Mr
Mak Ka Wing, Patrick; one non-executive Director, namely, Mr
Wong Che Man Eddy; and one executive Director, namely, Mr
Li Chu Kwan. Accordingly, the majority of the members are
independent non-executive Directors.

The principal responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee
include making recommendations to the Board on the Company’s
remuneration policy and structure and the remuneration packages
of Directors and members of senior management (i.e. the model
described in the code provision E.1.2(c)(ii) of the CG Code). The
Remuneration Committee is also responsible for establishing
transparent procedures for developing such remuneration policy
and structure to ensure that no Director or any of his/her associates
will participate in deciding his/her own remuneration, which
remuneration will be determined by reference to the performance
of the individual and the Company as well as market practice and
conditions.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Remuneration

Committee has performed the following major tasks:

—  Assessed the performance of executive Directors;

—  Reviewed the Group’s remuneration policy; and

—  Reviewed the remuneration packages of Directors and senior
management and to make any appropriate adjustments,

approve the terms of service agreements/appointment letters
as appropriate.
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Pursuant to code provision E.1.5 of the CG Code, the annual
remuneration of the members of the senior management (other
than Directors) by bands for the year ended 31 December 2023 is

set out below:

AB

Number of

individuals

1,000,001 7T %2,000,0007 7T

HK$1,000,001 to HK$2,000,000

ERAEER N R A -

AHEE =4+ A=+—
Lk 47 4% 0 S M ) 17 S5
AL EARE BRI R 10 -

HELRE

REZ B EIA LB - 7>
Eﬂf—b zﬁﬁiéﬂiﬁ TEHEERRE

A (CER) FR S 2E R BB 5
s B %é‘FﬁLﬁ%%ﬁz%iﬁ‘a
B e IR RER B J AL IR
T#% -

e Z& B e T AR E R
RIS E AN - }\%Z&?E)ﬂi (1%
HRE ~ Mk M AEER) o AAE e
H F) A ] B iﬂ%tﬂ@% /NGRS
WHAEBTEFGREMAL
A 238 S 4 AT BN L AR
B mEREFELEERER
WAL I ATE SR AL 5 R
HEERE MR NER OLHZ
AN T I BAT B H AT R Y

FHB S E i EE G E R fEEE R -

The above table excluded the employees that resigned during the

year.

Details of the remuneration of each of the Directors for the

year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in note 10 to the

consolidated financial statements of the Group.

B3. Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee comprises a total of four members,
being three independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr
Mak Ka Wing, Patrick (Chairman), Mr Wang Hongxin and Mr
Lau Ngai Kee, Ricky and one non-executive Director, namely, Mr
Wong Che Man Eddy. Accordingly, the majority of the members

are independent non-executive Directors.

The principal responsibilities of the Nomination Committee
include reviewing the structure, size and composition (including
the skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board on a regular
basis and recommending any changes to the Board; identifying
qualified and suitable individuals to become Board members
and selecting and making recommendations to the Board on the
selection of individuals nominated for directorships; assessing
the independence of independent non-executive Directors; and
making recommendations to the Board on relevant matters
relating to the appointment or re-appointment of Directors and
succession planning for Directors in particular, the chairman and

the chief executive of the Company.
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The Company recognizes and embraces the benefits of having
a diverse Board and sees increasing diversity at the Board
level as an essential element in maintaining the Company’s
competitive advantage. A Board Diversity Policy was adopted
by the Company during the year under review, pursuant to which
the Nomination Committee will review annually the structure,
size and composition of the Board and where appropriate, make
recommendations on changes to the Board to complement the
Company’s corporate strategy and to ensure that the Board
maintains a balanced diverse profile. In relation to reviewing and
assessing the Board composition, the Nomination Committee is
committed to achieving diversity at all levels and will consider
a number of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, professional qualifications,
skills, knowledge and regional and industry experience.

The Company aims to maintain an appropriate balance of
diversity perspectives that are relevant to the Company’s business
growth and is also committed to ensuring that recruitment and
selection practices at all levels (from the Board downwards) are
appropriately structured so that a diverse range of candidates are
considered. The Board will consider setting measurable objectives
to implement the Board Diversity Policy and review such
objectives from time to time to ensure their appropriateness and
ascertain the progress made towards achieving those objectives.

As of the date of this annual report, 2 of 8 of the Company’s
Directors are female and 3 out of 5 of the senior management
of the Company are female. As of 31 December 2023, the
Group had a total of 1,128 female staff out of 2,273 employees,
representing 49.6% of the employees of the Group. Further details
on the gender ratio of the Group together with relevant data can
be found in the Environmental, Social and Governance Report
of the Company. The Board and the Nomination Committee
have reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the board
diversity policy and considered it to be effective for the year
ended 31 December 2023.
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ARNFINC RN E SRR L EOR - 7% The Company has also adopted the Director Nomination Policy
BUORGI L BLAR A R B AN R which sets out the selection criteria and process and the Board
A R 119 25 SBE AEE T A DA R succession planning considerations in relation to nomination and
HEEE - BIEMRES G EMYH appointment of Directors of the Company and aims to ensure
EN/NEINTI=E i L YN TR 4] that the Board has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of
LR s EEVYE -0 perspectives appropriate to the Company and the continuity of the
T S I S SRR ) Board and appropriate leadership at Board level.
R EOR TR AL R g The Director Nomination Policy also sets out the factors for
ANZ GRS #H R W EE assessing the suitability and the potential contribution to the
BRI EERR » AR BRA « A B Board of a proposed candidate, including but not limited to
EE G (EAREA A R 2 3 the following: character and integrity; qualifications including
1 RIS AR B 2 L~ $hnk - professional qualifications, skills, knowledge and experience that
FIk B K8 Bw) 5 & Jr i 2 oot (| are relevant to the Company’s business and corporate strategy;
FEARCRBRAER ~ 488 (/A Bk A diversity in all aspects, including but not limited to gender,
)~ UL RHEEE 5 - ik - ¥ age (18 years or above), cultural and educational background,
REBR - Hone - R RIRBAER) 5 E ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length
HGg AR IFPATER ZHIE R of service; requirements of independent non-executive Directors
SRR AL AT O R A ARE B on the Board and independence of the proposed independent non-
U N YOS GRS N O] executive Directors in accordance with the Listing Rules; and
W R A B A i > DUBATIE B A A commitment in respect of available time and relevant interest
HREG AR, WHEETZ BTN to discharge duties as a member of the Board and/or Board
BRI - committee(s) of the Company.
R —EFE =T A=+ During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Nomination
IL4EE > RAZABFCETU T E Committee has performed the following major tasks:
A
—  WETEEEREM - AN — Reviewed the structure, size, composition and diversity of
AR I Z e DL TR L B 3 the Board to ensure that it has a balance of expertise, skills
CIE A S VS ETIR ) and experience and diversity of perspective appropriate to
B AL - A ALE the requirements for the business of the Group;
T
—  MAREN EEZERR —  Recommended the re-election of the retiring Directors
AR R G LR AT I g5 g standing for re-election at the Company’s 2023 annual
Tz FERAHER R X general meeting; and
—  FEITAEBLERATE R —  Assessed the independence of all the independent non-
BN executive Directors.
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Directors’ Responsibilities for Financial Reporting

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the
financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December
2023.

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and
understandable assessment of annual and interim reports, quarterly
financial information, inside information announcements and other
disclosures required under the Listing Rules and other regulatory
requirements. The senior management has provided to the Board such
explanation and information as are necessary to enable the Board to
carry out an informed assessment of the financial information and
position of the Company, which are put to the Board for approval.

Save as detailed in the financial statements, the Directors are not aware
of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may
cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going
concern.

Risk Management and Internal Controls

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the risk management
and internal control systems and reviewing their effectiveness. Such
systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure
to achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Board has the overall responsibility for evaluating and determining
the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving the
Company’s strategic objectives, and establishing and maintaining
appropriate and effective risk management and internal control systems
of the Group. The Audit Committee assists the Board in leading
the management and overseeing their design, implementation and
monitoring of the risk management and internal control systems.

The Group has developed and adopted different risk management
procedures and guidelines with defined authority for implementation
by key business processes and office functions, including gaming
operations, hotel operations, food and beverage, construction, finance,
human resources, information technology.

The internal audit team is responsible for performing independent
review of the adequacy and effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group. The internal audit team identifies
and examines key issues in relation to the hotel/casino management,
strategic management, key operational and financial processes, human
resources management, regulatory compliance and information security
and provides its findings and recommendations for improvement to the
Audit Committee.
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The Board, as supported by the Audit Committee, has performed
annual review on the effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023
by reviewing the management report and the internal audit findings,
the actions taken and the plans formulated to remedy the deficiencies.
The Board is not aware of any material defect or weakness of the
internal systems and controls in relation to anti-money laundering and
counter-terrorist financing which would have an adverse impact on the
operations of the Group; and considered that the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group are effective and adequate.

The Group has developed its disclosure policy which provides a general
guide to the Company’s Directors, officers, senior management and
relevant employees in handling confidential information, monitoring
information disclosure and responding to enquiries.

External Auditor and Auditor’s Remuneration

The statement of the external auditor of the Company about their
reporting responsibilities for the Company’s financial statements for
the year ended 31 December 2023 is set out in the section headed
“Independent Auditor’s Report™ in this annual report.

The fees paid/payable to the Group’s external auditor in respect of audit
services and non-audit services for the year ended 31 December 2023
are analyzed below:

e AT 2
Fees paid/payable
(o0
(HK$)
RO -
Audit services:
— BEECEF A T B R 3,745,000
— Audit fee for the year ended 31 December 2023
FERZ BT
Non-audit services:
— B E A T AR A S H SR A R 535,000
— Interim review for the six months ended 30 June 2023
— BB A HUIRH; 159,500
— Tax compliance services
Hst 4,439,500
Total
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F. 2Awni#E F. Company Secretary

HoFR T A—HEE KA Ms So Ka Man of Tricor Services Limited, an external service provider,

IR 5 {3 R P e S S P S A PR T Y was appointed as the company secretary of the Company with effect

R L L O ERER AN T Z A from 1 December 2022.

=3

1R 3 T L RTHR AR 0 AN R S B AR N The primary contact person of the Company, whom Ms So Ka Man can

AN B TS AR AR E D 4 o contact, is Ms Lam Shu Yan, the chief financial officer of the Company.

AR > SRR LR EZ AR During the year under review, Ms So Ka Man has taken no less than 15

LSRN RE 2 AH B B ZE BRI - LABESE B hours of relevant professional trainings in compliance with Rule 3.29 of

HIRIEE3. 206 BLE - the Listing Rules.

G. BUJBOR R G. Communications with Shareholders and Investors

AN FARAE BB TR A0 4 S e 4% The Company believes that effective communication with Shareholders

B BRAR S g A5 R A AR SR R is essential for enhancing investor relations and investors’ understanding

Bl RG22 By E B o ARAEE R B IR RO of the Group’s business performance and strategies. The Group also

A 3 % 708 I B R A R A 2 EE R 0 Ut recognises the importance of transparent and timely disclosure of

R A R AR E E L R corporate information, which enables Shareholders and investors to

JE o make the best investment decision.

BE_EF =+ "=+ —HILF During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company reviewed the

[ N/ TS I R S il g implementation and effectiveness of its shareholders’ communication

M AT CEOME e M AP o R A R policy in place and considered it as effective and adequate. The

P RS O R NN I < Company maintains a website at “www.macaulegend.com” as a

[www.macaulegend.com] » 1F % B % & communication platform with Shareholders and investors, where

wEFEWHEET & HPRAEAERAL information and updates on the Company’s business developments

A SETS B R I I R B D and operations and other information are available for public access.

i R HE A R AR o IR AR B ] A Shareholders and investors may send written enquiries or requests to the

DN W e TR S [ R S NN Company as follows:

o

Hodk TR P9 A RH K B e Rk Address: Palace Building, Macau Fisherman’s Wharf,
A G St UL 1 3 A S 5 Avenida da Amizade e Avenida da Dr. Sun Yat
ESN=PN Sen, Macau

i - (853) 2822 2266 Fax No.: (853) 2822 2266

EEA ir@macaulegend.com Email: ir@macaulegend.com

WAk o R B 7 2 g B RSRAR Besides, Shareholders’ meetings provide an opportunity for

e o AMEMERIRERABZ S communication between the Board and the Shareholders. Board

SR B AT R g I ] 2 R AR L AT ] members and appropriate senior staff of the Group are available at the

il i o meeting to answer any questions raised by Shareholders.

AR ) S B AR A B P R R % The Company continues to enhance communications and relationships

B o T8 8 Y A B B AR with its Shareholders and investors. Designated senior management

B B4y BT B R E A R DR 4 4 maintains regular dialogue with institutional investors and analysts

TR A EER o AN TG B IR i I to keep them posted of the Company’s developments. Enquiries from

R EF A IR TR AR - Shareholders and investors are dealt with in an informative and timely

manner.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

Shareholders’ Rights

To safeguard shareholders’ interests and rights, separate resolutions are
proposed at Shareholders’ meetings on each substantial issue, including
the election of individual Directors, for Shareholders’ consideration
and voting. The Shareholders may convene an extraordinary general
meeting or put forward proposals at Shareholders’ meetings as follows:

(1)  Shareholder(s) holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not
less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital of the Company may
request the Board to convene an extraordinary general meeting
pursuant to Article 58 of the Articles of Association by sending
a written requisition to the Board or the company secretary. The
objects of the meeting must be stated in the written requisition.

(2) If a shareholder wishes to propose a person other than a retiring
Director for election as a Director at a general meeting, pursuant
to Article 85 of the Articles of Association, the shareholder (other
than the person to be proposed) duly qualified to attend and vote
at the general meeting shall send a written notice, duly signed by
the shareholder, of his/her intention to propose such person for
election and also a notice signed by the person to be proposed of
his/her willingness to be elected. These notices should be lodged
at the Company’s head office or the office of the Company’s
branch share registrar. The period for lodgement of such notices
shall commence on the day after the despatch of the notice of
such general meeting and end no later than 7 days prior to the
date of such general meeting.

For the avoidance of doubt, Shareholder(s) must deliver and send the
original duly signed written requisition, notice or statement (as the case
may be) to the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong
and provide their full name, contact details and identification in order
to give effect thereto. Shareholders’ information may be disclosed as
required by law.

All resolutions proposed at shareholder meetings will be voted by poll
pursuant to the Listing Rules and the poll results will be posted on the
websites of the Stock Exchange “www.hkexnews.hk” and the Company
“www.macaulegend.com”, respectively, immediately after the relevant
general meetings.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company has not made
any changes to the Articles of Association. An up-to-date version of
the Company’s Articles of Association is available on the Company’s
website and the Stock Exchange’s website. Shareholder may refer to the
Articles of Association for further detail of the rights of shareholders.
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ABOUT THIS ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORT

Macau Legend Development Limited (hereafter the “Company” or “Macau
Legend”) with its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”, “we”, “our”) is
pleased to publish its environmental, social and governance (“ESG”) report
(the “Report”), summarising our management approach, initiatives and

performance of the ESG issues.

Scope of Report

The Report covers the ESG management approaches, environmental and
social performance of the Group during the period from 1 January 2023 to 31
December 2023 (the “Reporting Period” or “2023”"). With the assessment of
the material and core business operation, we have included our gaming and
non-gaming operations in Macau and Hong Kong, including offices, hotels,
casinos and Macau Fisherman Wharf (“MFW”) property in this Report.
Unless otherwise specified, there is no change in reporting scope compared to
that in the previous year.

Reporting Standard

The Report has been prepared in accordance with the Environmental, Social
and Governance Reporting Guide (“ESG Reporting Guide™) under Appendix
C2 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange.

it B fiiat

Reporting Principles Description

HIE FA TR0 s oy B R 0 2 AT R R i A A A BT o MR M SR [ B A ) T o
Materiality Material topics are assessed through internal discussion and surveys of key stakeholders. A materiality matrix is

produced and presented in the session — Materiality Assessment.

ik AT A A0 B 05 B B TR ([ BRI RIS 1)) 2 2 IRESGHU 48 5 EAT RT3 I 2 81 - M0 BRI RRMEE Y Jy

Quantitative Rl s At 1) 5 B AT o

All social and environmental key performance indicators (“KPIs”) are calculated and presented with reference

to the ESG Reporting Guide and robust methodologies are adopted as illustrated in the respective sections of the

Report.
T ot PR LB AR SR G LU AP T AR RS ) R AN O 2 ]
Balance Data comparisons with the previous year are presented in the Report with illustration on the achievement and

rooms for improvement of the Group.

— ik A ARYRS £ — AR A TR AR R

Consistency The Report has been prepared based on the methodology which is the same as the previous year.

ARG CAER G ((HEE)) Fadi -

The Report has been reviewed and approved by the Board of Directors (the
“Board”).
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

The Group has been in constant contact with its stakeholders through a variety
of channels to better understand their needs, concerns, and expectations. The
channels that are tailored for each stakeholder group are shown in the table
below:

P H R

Investors and Shareholders

sk b

ARRNE

JB AR

A BN e
Company website
Company’s announcements
Annual general meeting
Annual and interim reports

%

Customers

aiEED

IERERT il

SR AN B R

&R A

Company website

Customer direct communication
Customer feedback and complaints
Customer satisfaction surveys

BT
Employees

BRI 5

BT AR A

BT

B ARG

Training and orientation

Email and opinion boxes
Employee tea gatherings
Employee performance evaluation

BV B S 5 T

Suppliers and Business Partners

ST AN 5 A

PRI AR

Selection assessment and background check
Procurement process

Ak [ O\ F ks BAL R IR

Communities AL S )
Company website and social media platforms
Community activities

e 2N T A

Media INFA

AT &

Company website
Company’s announcements
Social networking platforms
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Identification

25

Engagement

43 W BT
Analysis &
Evaluation

B et

Validation

FETA FE B AR B b 5 ) el A oy B Y
A o A% B B T R A TR B F A AN R
E AR AR R B > Sy AU ER A7 e K fE
{H -

AR BB e P > RO AR 2 B
HIESGE B K R R ISR o FRAMAY S L2 4
R A A 2 B B AL [ R T I i
AR S TR SRS Y e A SRR LT -

MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

To define our strategic ESG priorities, the Group conducted a materiality
assessment involving internal and external stakeholders. This process is
aligned with best practice in identifying the issues most vital to our business
and of highest importance to stakeholders.

Stakeholders evaluated ESG topics based on their relevance and impact. Their
feedback was analysed to understand each issue’s significance according to
stakeholders as well as the level of influence on our operations.

o JYBURI L VETE A ES Gl LT kil B S 1) 455 5
el

e To create and categorise a list of potential ESG
topics and identify key stakeholder groups

o BEENESANSNIREFE S AR L MG A
e To invite internal and external stakeholders to
complete an online survey

o APAEAEESEE B A A ES Gt
e To evaluate and prioritise the most material ESG
topics

o NAEBEEERETRE > DI EESGRETEH g
PeFR AN R AR BOE ISR T

e The results are validated by the Company to
determine the priority of the ESG topics for ESG
report disclosure and future improvement

Topics mapping to the upper right quadrant of the materiality matrix
represented the issues deemed most material. These key sustainability
challenges will direct our goal setting and disclosure focus to generate
maximum value for people and the planet.

By prioritising stakeholder perspectives, the assessment outcomes support
intelligent ESG management and reporting. Our strategies and performance
disclosures concentrate resources where they can affect the most meaningful
change by addressing priorities defined collaboratively through open dialogue.
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P e i
Materiality Matrix!

i e
Medium Priority High Priority
= o

I
=

Employment P

D ot
o0
Community @

Fi iy A
Significance of Stakeholders

B w RS

Low Priority Medium Priority

SR ARG 0 S 5 T A

Significance to the Group’s Business & Operation

AL Social

B [
Environment {E# Employment 3 Operation Community
1. BERHE 9. S5 LHER 18. BFEE 27. Bkt
Air emission Labour rights Customer satisfaction Community investment
2. i APk 10. SEHR 19. &P MB R i R 2t
Greenhouse gas emission Labour-management relations Customer service quality &
3. FREEL I complaints handling
Climate change Employee retention 20. K {HREELT S
A e . » Customer health and safet
s WA 12 ZEATHRE y
Energy efficiency Diversity and equal opportunity 21, BN~ FE S AIRBS AR AR A AR M
5. KEIEK 13 R Mar?(etmg anfi product 'and
o service labelling compliance
Water & effluents Non-discrimination P—
. e 22, FHuEE
6. MEHET 14, TEfRRRE 24 . g oot
Use of materials Occupational health and ntellectual property
o T safety 23. FFIRRAE MR
. e Emmagemem 15. BTE3 N Custon}er privacy and data
Employee training protection
) & AT 1L e S A
oonome o
: mployee development
compliance pioy P management
17. Bl THIEE S .
LA Seil ) 25 TS
Prevention of child labour & X .
Business ethics
forced labour
26. HERPEGH
Socio-economic compliance
& J \ J J
BF&E - Note:
! SR PRI TR > G AT SR o AR IR ! As confirmed by the management, there were no significant changes on the
TR T R R AR - operation. The Report adopts the result of 2021 materiality matrix.

48 HMESRAIEARAT 202344



BREZVERPAG LISN > FRAMER AR R F 2 5
A7 S8 o i il <6 A R A e S ) A 4 [
IREENESGeEE o KLl LA 2% - B
3 LUR AN RES G s LR 7 FAM 1 £ 227 g A

%=

AR RERZ S ES Gk AE 1Y A AR S A e
DA RIS T B S 2% 55 Wl

B

i Kk B A (

Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

Except for the materiality assessment, we have also gone through the
stakeholder engagement, industrial benchmarking, and risk assessment
processes to identify the ESG topics that are most important to the
Group. After discussion and consolidation, we have come up with the

following six ESG topics as our key considerations:

A 1 EESGH E P F
Our Key ESG Considerations
-8} 1 B
Environment Employment

TR (e B2 2
Occupational Health and Safety

e

Climate Change

BB

i £ B 13

Environment Employee Relations

B

Operation

R M 5

Customer Services

[EEEE

Business Ethics

The below table explains the importance of these ESG issues and how
the Group responds to them in various measures.

SRS
Climate Change

i i R SR B SR T 8 SRR B AL o SRUIG PR A ) I
M REfEE B LR PRI %A -

Climate change is evidenced by the occurrence of extreme weather
events and rising temperatures. Physical concerns brought on
by the climate crisis may jeopardise safety of employees and
customers.

LA - BB SR - I 2 (A R 2 R R SR A SR R
A AR I R T B T S R A SR S A Kk P AR B BORE
FRAM 1E 25 V) B M B T -

Furthermore, transition risks associated with regulatory changes,
evolving consumer preferences, and technology advancement to
accommodate the new climate pattern may be attributed to climate
change and policy related to carbon neutrality. We have been
closely monitoring the development of this trend.

FRAM - i BAM A BRI B B % S5 SR DA B > JI3R
P05 B T A 1 R B 35y T B SRR,

The robustness and overall competitiveness of our business may be
at risk if we do not identify and handle these climate-related threats
in the long run.

Iy M 3B 7K 35 e e JEAS A B Bk B - A B 2% i
B PR R R E — B BUR -

To address challenges brought on by flooding
and typhoons, we have devised a set of policies
for our front office, security, and housekeeping
departments.

%?ﬁﬂﬂ‘]%‘l@? > FAM I IE Hfi B FE B 9]

Under our management, we have been promoting
the switch to electric vehicles.
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BRI
Environment

TETR S > AR AR - dnok - RS R H A
dh o BRI FAM SR R B R Sy BAMA EAT IR TR
BB o

Within our hotel operation, we utilise various resources such as
water, plastic products and daily necessity items. However, we
and our stakeholders firmly believe that it is our responsibility to
protect the environment of every business.

B~ BUT B A 7 2 B Bn i SR BRI R B o BR T e
T sl B T 5 TR HERN 22 2241 - R BEORGHEER IR & (0 24 W 1T
i A 2 T S BRI K A TR

There is a growing emphasis from customers, the government, and
other stakeholders on businesses’ environmental performance. In
addition to endangering the local population’s health and safety as
well as that of the workforce, failing to safeguard the environment
puts the company at risk of damaging its reputation and breaking
environmental laws.

Ty B PRI B R B AE - e
B THEME o BeAh > FRAMiR 248 TR AUT K
HEE > TR PR ENFN R K [l SCEE ©

To help our guests use fewer resources while
staying at our hotels, we have implemented few
measures. Additionally, we have installed water-
saving plumbing fittings like water-efficient
urinals and rainwater recycling systems.

Tk fk B B 22 &
Occupational
Health and Safety
(“OHS”)

TEOR TAFBR I M el 22 BT M D3R B EE - M+
Iy AR AFN B THGERE » RERDRIESEE R AT o a4
A [ 7 V% B S (el e B 22 2 A RS SV R SRR SR 8% 7 - (B3R
HELASERTHIR TAERA o Bt » 742 6 2 e AR 1 e p
T e e o S 2 4[] e

Ensuring a healthy and safe working environment is crucial for the
success of any business. We place great importance on the health
of our guests and employees, especially considering the pandemic
scenario. It is challenging to totally eradicate work-related events
despite the Group’s continuous efforts to establish OHS-related
rules and initiatives. Therefore, the management of the Group
should continue to prioritise OHS problems.

S A ] 2 BT H e SR SR AN S ] R AR AL
I FF) 38 B4 e R 95 2 ([COVID-19 ) 8 53 1 ¢ »
% BUATHEE COVID- 19K JiAT 1R 38 1Y SR w2 3¢
The Group has formed a coronavirus (“COVID-197)
readiness team, grouped by senior management and
representatives from different divisions, to implement
strategies and countermeasures for the COVID-19
pandemic outbreak.

1 2 BR
Employee
Relations

MERF LIRS F 28 1) SEHE R - WAZEAT — SRS HAR M I B
TRRAL o

Maintaining a service-oriented business model requires a
professional and motivated workforce.

FATGEFIRTAR B TS 1 JIE Ry » SREEHL B TIRFFIE MK
AR BRR e T R S A B 5 B A A TR R SR A BE Y
TETE R o [RlOE - B T Sy AR ELAE ) B R — R 2 R R
TR b 2 B g -

We recognise the significant pressure faced by our frontline
employees. Failing to uphold a positive working relationship runs
the danger of jeopardising the retention of qualified individuals and
losing potential for valuable skills. As a result, establishing a strong
and positive relationship with its employees becomes extremely
crucial for a corporation to remain viable.

A £y B 4R Ak 2 T v 7 U A SR A AT R B
e

For our staff to voice their ideas, we provide a
variety of communication options.

U M s

Customer Service

PTG B i e ST 30 T B o VR AT SE I B e b3
Z— > BAM LA LRSI = R RIS o R RRARI i R T = L
AEERRAR T RAM B R R T > WHEE TR M A RROR IR
1 fiRAE H 1 Hb Y R o

The hospitality and entertainment industries in Macau are
characterised by intense market competition. As one of the leading
businesses in this sector, it is imperative that we maintain the
highest level of service. Failure to keep up a high level of customer
satisfaction not only lowers our overall competitiveness but also
damages Macau’s reputation as a tourist destination serving people
around the world.

MR R > WWE B T > Ll
RO -

We frequently review our customer feedback and
share to our staff for improvement.
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Business Ethics

[HESE:S TR MR BB S 8850 by > T RERL o U AR IR
The gaming industry deals with a large scale of financial | We offer anti-corruption training and anti-money
transactions that could serve as a channel for money laundering.

AEENE—M AT > WEHEDISHRANE » FERMITA I
SE7 v AL JE DR A R R AR R B s PO TR AV o
Every member of the Group’s workforce, from management to
supporting staff, must exercise extreme caution and observe the
highest ethical standards in all our commercial dealings.

T 2 B TARPE R B 5 35 3 B S e AR B .

laundering test for our staff.

WA R BT

AR T B R GRS > AR E B
SEESG ok BUEAT HE LS ~ FPAL AT 2L > DA Rl EEE
1532 W BV RT AR Y AE I ES GRS

ESGHE A

FEN% T BB (10 IR £ VLR B ES G BH 2
RER ST~ AR A~ AR - WA
FRF D E W - FEEEGETE DA MM
W > BTWES Gk B ) 35 Er i s o A%
ZEOTHREENESGHE A T/E4L - T
FI R ESGHR M « TARAL K HJE T =180 4l
BHr o

ESGEIGZEMEMT -

OUR SUSTAINABILITY MANAGEMENT APPROACH

We have set up a more organised system for tracking, evaluating, and
managing the Group’s primary ESG issues in response to the concerns of the
stakeholders and any possible ESG risks.

ESG Governance Structure

The authority of the Audit Committee includes the leadership and supervision
of ESG related structure establishment, risk identification, standard settings,
reporting procedure and disclosure to stakeholders. The Audit Committee
meets at least twice a year to discuss ESG issues and report to the Board. An
ESG special working group is formed under the Audit Committee in order
to execute the Group’s ESG strategy. The working group and its sub-groups
meet regularly.

The ESG governance structure is as follows:

HHG
The Board

EUEREE
Audit Committee

ESG il TfE4
ESG Special Working Group

BRABE - Wit A IR TARAH
Environment, Facilities and
Resources Working Group

N Dy BUR S € TARAL FRILAEA

Human Resources and Society Governance

Working Group Working Group
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ESGE I ERER

ESG Governance Structure Roles and Responsibilities

HEG o HIERFRESGHR IS

The Board Devising the Group’s ESG strategy

o TR RS B ESGHR
Reviewing and approving the ESG report

FREHE o HEESGEMIIL - RG-S H
Audit Committee Examining the ESG management approach, strategy, priorities and objectives
o RPANANEREE A BAESGHY U AN - Sl A R S 20 AN AL A ES G B A AN A7 o B #2E 48%
Evaluating and determining ESG risks and opportunities, and ensuring that appropriate and effective
ESG risk management and internal control system are in place
o MRBIESG H EANE BEaTAl 4 B 19 R B
Evaluating the Group’s performance against its ESG goals and targets
« MEESGHEH RBATHE UL
Reviewing the implementation of the ESG mechanism
o [N SE R ESGIE A A R KR i

Reporting ESG findings and recommendations to the Board

ESGH# I LAEAL «  EUHESGEURH BT
ESG Special Working Group Supervising the overall execution of ESG policies

o EMImEKZ B

Reporting to the Audit Committee regularly

BRBE ~ BOtiAnE I LA TERA N S EESGEUK -
Environment, Facilities and Resources Implementing ESG policies in the following areas:
Working Group o T

Engineering

o ERURH A B % 2
IT and data security
o BEYER
Waste handling
o RETRANEIRAE B
Energy and resource management
o DRIBANH M S gy o 1

Procurement and supply chain risk management

. EREAE
Food safety
Ny B EGE & TARA TELL N AHIE IEESGEUR -
Human Resources and Society Implementing ESG policies in the following areas:
Working Group o AJER

Human resources
o MSEfERIL R A
Occupational health and safety
o BTEEMFEA
Employee development and welfare
. BEMEEE
Responsible gambling
o RETS
Anti-corruption
o AERIGH)
Community initiative

Bin TR E LA SIS I HEESG LR
Governance Working Group Implementing ESG policies in the following areas:
. FipESH
Stakeholder engagement
o BIEGH

Legal compliance
o [AATEEMEDT AN AT
Peer standard research and analysis
*  ESGEB#H I Bl
ESG risk trend analysis and management
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ESG 2\ i B

0 FLA R 073 R A e 0l Ak
FEESGEF o A4 B RR k] - ﬂn%%‘ﬁ(%é
AT A R R T @?iﬁjﬁ%%

Ut - FAM TN EHESG I R A A BLAT JE B
L] o

T A - A [ T B AN R R R AT IR ALY
ESGT\Fg #F A o 2 1 5 LI 2 B —JH
EREENCADECE SR T € 35% 30 $1ER7)) b
A Py I o W B R ERHEA R R
B B R AR E A B R E T o B 5 R KB
VERF LI E - Wl fE 2 sl — IR - R
B REGE A GRERER T A B TR

ESG Risk Management

Investors and other stakeholders are increasingly focusing on how companies
identify and mitigate ESG risks. The Group recognises that sustainability issues
can significantly impact operations if not properly governed. As such, we have
strengthened integration of ESG considerations into existing risk management
and controls.

During the Reporting Period, an in-depth ESG risk assessment was conducted
with external support. The Board and senior leadership participated in a
survey to evaluate exposures. Their inputs were analysed to prioritise the most
pressing issues. International standards from the Sustainability Accounting
Standards Board helped guide methodology. Benchmarking against peers
additionally informed recommendations. The Board and Audit Committee

%o

subsequently reviewed advice for enhancing practices.

TR (437 F i L B

Widespread Diseases
Risk

HR AT E R - COVID-19R AT AR b 36 A4 T R
The COVID-19 pandemic has had a significant impact on the hospitality industry due to the
factors of:

HRAE B

Travel Restrictions

AR B 5 RS B BUR EE 1R R > DARERIR R R > SRR B T
AR S > DL B R SRS TR o R ORI B A HEE R K -

Over the past few years, governments around the world had implemented travel restrictions to
control the spread of the virus, which has largely decreased the number of visitors abroad, as well as
the demand for hotel and entertainment services. Eventually, it causes our financial uncertainty.

S il

Health and Safety Concerns

S RN 22 2 9 B e AP B R B A 6~ MRS S 7 AR DB ARAT o dE D TR Y
IRHE TR Ry a2 S RS T L B V) He Al AL S B o

Concerns about health and safety have led people to avoid large gatherings, crowded places, and

non-essential travel. It reduces the demand for our services as these are often associated with
close contact and social interaction.

PRRI & o i 5 TR - JUIFRAM S R 1 R A0 AR T3 RO B s
Internally, our operations cannot normally run with sufficient human resources if our staff get
infected.

COVID-19/# 2 A H - A4 E
ﬁEjT—ﬂECOVID 192%1%%

% EI%EEE 10 A B AR
(] PR AR ALK

The Group established a COVID-19
preparedness and response team
during the COVID-19 outbreak
in an effort to halt the spread of
diseases. Our senior management
and representatives from several
departments make up this team.

HBFEN -
At

For details, please read “COVID-19
Measures”.

2#COVID-19
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VR B A L B
Legal and Regulatory
Risk

P MBS B R 1 SAE R P SEAT A > AR R AR e 2 > LI IB AT AN
RSB EL BRI S IS AR T LM > DU ST BT IR BT R AR B A%
iDL

Due to the increased concerns about responsible business practices, such as responsible gaming
and cybersecurity, and increased environmental consideration on plastic uses and climate change
issues, the Group needs to prepare itself to comply with the current laws and more tightened
regulations expected in the future.

ST ) 1 BE AR B A A AR

Laws and Regulations that are highly relevant to our operations:

L B2/ /MR R M BRI A )
Law No. 2/91/M Environmental Laws of Macao
2. 820145 CRIB AN BRI )
Law No. 8/2014 Prevention and Control of Ambient Noise
3. 5E16/201955 15 H CRRITR I L)
Law No. 16/2019 on Restrictions on the Distribution of Plastic Bags
4. FBEGCER B RO S DUBOE B 4 20 5 16/96/MBEIL 2 K5 83/96/M 3% Al 4
Decree-Law no. 16/96/M, and Ordinance no. 83/96/M regarding the environmental and food
hygiene, and fire safety of the F&B industry
5. S11/20095% B (TR BT E)
Law No. 11/2009 Cybercrime Prevention Law
6. Hi8/20055% I QRIE N ERMR L)
Law No. 8/2005 Macao Personal Data Protection
7. H57/20225% A QUL R 4435 3 8 PR A8 TR R )
Law No. 7/2022 Macao Gaming Law

TETG G R IR S 5 365 h » B
BEEHEEE > WKE - £
M~ R R o R
Y E A T B R0 > LAY
B F R AR E
FERBEREY) o A AR 0o £
KRR RO & B

2 W TRV A 4R ) I [ TR i
il

In the hotel and casino businesses,
the daily operation consumes
resources such as bed lining,
towels, toiletries, and plastic
products. We have implemented
few environment protection
measures to conserve the resources
and minimise the waste generated
under our daily operations. For
details and more initiatives of how
we save the resources, please see
“Energy Efficiency” and “Use of
Resources”.

REERT=E S RMEREH
FALTR A o0 (DR AL
AR PIBCR R A 15 > PATESR
1 ) 7 o AT TR
ABE SRR R
T A | o [ A ST I
— i o

In 2023, we have collaborated
more frequently with Yat On
Responsible Gambling Counselling
Centre (“Yat On Centre”), and the
Macau Government to promote
responsible gambling in our
operations. For details, please see
“Responsible Gambling” under the
section of “Maintaining Highest
Business Ethics.”

TR HEFFISONMEC 27001587
S 7S A i AT o] B 48 4 D
JEB A P o

‘We demonstrated our determination
to tackle any exposure to cyber-
related risk by getting accredited
with ISO/IEC 27001.
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AR

75 ] Tl B R A S A BRI R e R B A B
H R o s m > 57T lA - KA RE
436 R Pkt e Al AR O R B A B
THUE AR B — 25 o RAMA(EE AT E B
FAM i AHLAK F AR - Sl DA — 185 R AL A Jr
TR R ER AL

TR AR
Base Year 2021

ADVOCATING FOR THE ENVIRONMENT

The Group is aware that concerns about our environmental performance are
growing. During the Reporting Period, we have taken crucial measures to
determine our targets in order to be a responsible enterprise and cast a positive
impact in the society. We believe that setting these targets can help us reach
our organisational goals and provide a more organised way to keep track of
our environmental performance.

R ThAEHBAE
Target Year 2025

R
Greenhouse Gases
(“GHG”) Emissions 9

B RCR B (AR — N = > A9 S TR
i) A4 B 15%

Reduce the carbon emission intensity (Scope 1
and Scope 2, per million HK$ revenue) by 15%

REUEIH R L v,
Energy Intensity

ABVETH G40 BE (15 77 B s TT iR A D 15%
Reduce energy consumption intensity (per mil-
lion HK$ revenue) by 15%

LES O
Water Consumption @ O

PR EIRBE (5 77 B T iiaR) s 10%

Reduce water consumption intensity (per
million HK$ revenue) by 10%

B AF B Al

Waste Management -

HESL BRI D 10%
Reduce the waste to landfill by 10%
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S ) 1k A0 Bk B e Climate Resilience and Carbon Emission
VeE N/ a4 e ] Prepare for Climate Change
AR 98 S A A I8 B 40 VR AL (1 5 A B 5 In accordance with the suggestions made by the Task Force on Climate related
g TAEAAD) ek » FAMBESGRI RIS 1E - Financial Disclosure (“TCFD”), we work with the ESG advisor to identify
2 S AL Y JE B A A o B SRR B AL climate change risks and opportunities. Given that it causes frequent changes
ORI S s AL P bR v KR B > B in weather patterns and extreme weather occurrences, climate change is one of
B NS 2RI — o FREE LT RE the most worrisome global challenges. The possible effects of climate change
PEAR IR T R A o are summarised in the table below.
&P B R B TR AS B 5 A P SR A58 2 A FRAM 1) 26755 T i B 98 SRR o Bl IRF P A 48 > 2 el B AR P T
Acute Physical Risk SRR AT 9% % B4 % 1) AT SRUE o Bl > A — - AR Y LR AR SIS SR PR T B R o TRBIIRER W

BB S 2 ST B LR A AR 9 L R )

Macau has witnessed changing climate patterns that have increased risks to our operations from natural
hazards. Over time, extreme precipitation, warmer temperatures and more frequent tropical cyclones have
emerged. For example, typhoon Hato in 2017 brought intense rainfall and winds. Predictions also suggest
storm surge flooding will amplify as cyclones happen more frequently.

% S SR TN ) R SRS A A A B o K i Sl 5 it ) T S T 2 S5 A i o AR
SRR RE SRS KA > R E B L L4 > e - 75 v] Reb 2 2 4
(CRWSEPNIN ¢/ V%2 X

The effects of these climate-exacerbated weather events pose challenges. Infrastructure damage from
floods or winds can interrupt critical supply chains. During severe events like No. 8 typhoon signals,
operations may be required to temporarily cease as worker safety becomes a priority. This may translate to
unplanned downtime and human resource impacts.

BFEE - Note:

2 AWM AEEELNFEN > &2 H 2 For details about climate change in Macau, please refer to https://www.smg.gov.
https://www.smg.gov.mo/zh/page/363, https:// mo/zh/page/363, https://www.hko.gov.hk/en/publica/reprint/files/r1002.pdf and
www.hko.gov.hk/en/publica/reprint/files/ https://www.cas.cn/syky/201509/t20150914_4424098.shtml.

r1002.pdf Fhttps://www.cas.cn/syky/201509/
120150914 _4424098.shtml °
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18 L 0 R B FAM O FEH AR F R A TERT R A PR o TR P R B R = TR o REARE » AR R
Chronic Physical Risk 5 B I 5 B ) A B R

Our operations are mainly located in Macau, the southern part of China along the South China Sea on
three sides. There are concerning trends that will influence financial and non-financial risks over the long
run.

SIS A AR T10.09°C T 1T T IR AR LT o B BRI O Z ISR L 1 5E
GAENE - 3 IE ARAAR A o FHFHELEE ~ W7 I b BUAR A ol REPEAE— 2 BT

Average temperatures have risen 0.09°C every decade, while average sea levels have increased annually.
This indicates that Macau is already experiencing the impacts of climate change through a warming
climate and encroaching coastlines. Further increases in temperature, sea level and likelihood of heat
waves are projected to occur.

i

AR

A ANEAT SR MR > FE T TR S IR A S o TSR A AR MG T REAE BRI I I
R 7 i AL o IR v B JEBR R 25 R SRR AR A A MO BE R e AT U I o S SR S
B S B o AR B AR LR B A R LR BB B (IR ki s PR B RO

Rising costs are expected across several operational areas if mitigating measures are not implemented.
Increased maintenance and shortened asset lifecycles from more frequent repairs may arise. Lost
productivity and overtime from heatstroke risks or severe weather could impact human resources.
Insurance premium hikes and reduced availability resembling actions by other underwriters may transpire
given growing exposure to climate hazards.

S Jl g ER
Transition Risk Policy

AT AR W PBRST R R 52 I R B (2017-2026) )4 -

o BERN R EAERE R NIRRT BB [ U R S

o FHMER SF SR R NIRRT R 1 8 IR A AR BRI B AT RETE

In 2017, the Macao Environmental Protection Bureau established the “Solid Waste Resources

Management Plan (2017-2026)":

e Intended to develop the Municipal Solid Waste Charging System in 2023-2026

e Evaluated the possibility of establishing the Producer Responsibility Regulations based on the
Polluters-pay Principle in 2023-2026

TERTRANE T & 8 R BT R E A o BESS BRI IR AR R - ST ORI AN & 1

Additional costs are expected resulting from the disposal of municipal wastes. As the environmental laws

are tightened, the costs of compliance with the policies will increase as well.

B

Technology

Wi A8 75 B A ) AUt AR R Y > 5 B o B 2 B A e BT RE RO ZEBS T o ol
o RATEEMIHI B BRI

o fERIMTEARER 5 K

o BRI

As the economy begins to transit to a lower-carbon economy, an eco-friendlier and energy-efficient
business operation is required, such as:

e System control energy savings practices;

e Use of renewable energy; and

* Adoption of water-efficient devices.

BFEE - Notes:

3 A BRI A AL B FEE > 752 M https:// 3 For details about climate change in Macau, please refer to https://www.smg.gov.
www.smg.gov.mo/zh/page/363, https://www.hko.gov. mo/zh/page/363, https://www.hko.gov.hk/en/publica/reprint/files/r1002.pdf and
hk/en/publica/reprint/files/r1002. pdf https://www. https://www.cas.cn/syky/201509/t20150914_4424098.shtml.
cas.cn/syky/201509/120150914_4424098.shtml °

4 HEFEN - 752 Mhttps://www.dspa.gov.mo/ 4 For details, please refer to https://www.dspa.gov.mo/pdf/20171227 _
pdf/20171227_SolidWastesManagementPlan_ SolidWastesManagementPlan_TC.pdf.

TC.pdf °
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TR > AT

o HOMBREE K SRS > AT R SO AR 5 R

o R ERERE R AN T > ABCRAR A RN

During the transitional period, the Group would expect:

e Increased research and development and/or procurement expenditures to introduce new and alternative
technologies; and

e Additional cost of adopting/deploying new practices and processes, as well as the increase in the costs
of installation in the future.

%

Market

Wi 2 EAT R AL - S TR EER R o T A U B AR R A o 5T B R
SRAESEAL - BOR DRI SR AL R A A G b o [ - BRI = R IR 4EI5 )
B4 RS R RN - TR 2% S 3 R I R ) B B R A QU i A i s

As consumer behaviour evolves towards greater environmental consciousness, market preferences have

undergone a significant shift. Investors are now placing increased emphasis on climate change, and rating
agencies are incorporating climate change efforts into their investment portfolios. Consequently, it is
anticipated that the operating costs of office and casino supplies may rise due to the higher costs associated
with environmentally friendly alternatives for offices and hotels.

BE

Reputation

P MEEIR AR AL - R Z R IR AR RIS — MR o Blan - 0032 R B il s — IR AR ER 2y
EERER HAR - BRI ETHRGITE2"CLLR o BbAbh - 25 T Rl OE R 22 2 vl A RE R . -

In response to climate change concerns, an increasing number of companies are actively addressing the
issue. For instance, some companies have made commitments to establish science-based targets aimed at
limiting temperature rising to below 2°C. Additionally, certain companies are allocating resources towards
the installation of renewable energy sources.

ST AL % 5 L7 TR V1 39 22 T S A A M AR S A ROR AR AT T RE R R

Failure to meet customer expectations in this regard may result in decreased demand for the Group’s

products and services, potentially impacting its reputation.
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M 15

AR I BRI e A4 e 3B SR A S AL S B 0 41K
BERETy > PR AR SR B TR A AN A 24 & 523
SRR o G LA At A i R SRR L 18
M B THE NN L RZRNBE o ZEF 058
AL T HAM B HEH - EEONT AR S BB P —
BB o BLAh > R REHE T BR PR UK B T AM
HEBEHIR L EIHE — 2RSS E SR B -

I R TR A e A5 i i R SR ) L R R AR
FEABTHE N > ALEC RO RZE B B0
1 e SR B TR e o FRAM O 5k M JELEC
W DA RE 7 REH e U 5 R B9 AR~ B o
iAo

LA A ) A A T B B -
ftn > 22 4 5 1k PR B R AN IR T A At K Y oK
[l S JE V35 TS 1 0 L A o 4355 o D
(ERAIES K Y RIS T E (e S o e 7
En

FAM L e o8 1) FE B A 5 VI A A A
VAJE AT FAM ok 0 o B IO 7R o TP i AR B
i B A e % DB O S 5 TR B HE o P
NG S i e S I IR 2 e T S 2 SR
AT AR A TR BN HAN ()

TR A AR AR R ST IR A T 2 SR T
SRR PR ~ Tk B - st R A R B A A B
F B HE A OO B B A
Bl o BEAh > ASSR AR SR ORI K PR 7 i 3 AT
Al ]/

Countermeasures

The Group has implemented measures to enhance its resilience against the
impacts of climate change, as it recognises that individuals and businesses
alike are affected by these changes. The safety of our employees and guests
is put at risk by typhoons and other extreme weather events. These incidents
disrupt our operations, leading to understaffing or temporary closures of
certain establishments. Moreover, uncontrolled carbon emissions jeopardise
global efforts to mitigate temperature rise.

To address the increasing frequency and intensity of extreme weather events
like typhoons in recent year, the Group has established a Typhoon Committee
dedicated to reduce the risks faced by our employees. We have updated our
Typhoon Policy to outline protocols for work, evacuation, and compensation
during active typhoon signals.

In addition, all properties are equipped with adequate physical defences.
Floodgates are installed to prevent flooding from heavy rain and surges, while
wind barriers and diesel-powered pumps are in place at Harbourview Hotel
and Babylon Casino to mitigate the impact of city-wide power failures.

To fulfil our commitment to reducing carbon emissions, we have promoted the
use of electric vehicles as an alternative to petrol. At MFW, all visitor vehicles
have been replaced by electric-powered versions. An increasing number of
charging stations have also been placed at the MFW and the Harbourview
Hotel, to facilitate the increasing use of electric vehicles in the future.

During the Reporting Period, the Group has complied with relevant laws and
regulations in Macau regarding air and greenhouse gas emissions, water and
land discharge, and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste that has
a significant impact on its business. Furthermore, the Group was not aware of
any issue in sourcing water that is fit for purpose.
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BHE Carbon Emission

oA 0 e B ik AR R TR AT FER T~ T Our primary sources of carbon emissions are the electricity, liquefied
b E MR (TLPGD) %R o iR iRkEIR - 3 petroleum gas (“LPG”) and refrigerant we consumed. We generated 26,445.11
MEEAE 26,445. 11T A8 A0 B 2 1) 25 SR o tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent (“tCO2e”) of GHG during the Reporting
AR IR - T I FER B B PR o Period. The largest contributor to our overall carbon emissions during the

Reporting Period was electricity use.

. R S : o TR
AL 2023 2022
L5 SR R i A AW SAALIRE 2
Total GHG Emission tCO,e 26,445.11 22,508.80
i —s AL B (A3
Syl 1CO.e 425.55 497.60
o AW AL E
Scope 2 ¢ 1CO.e 26,019.55 22,011.20
W W AR IR R R 95 35
Intensity tCO,e/million HK$ revenue ’ ’

AR AR Energy Efficiency

AR A ARG BE R - WD IR R DL R AR The Group invests in energy efficiency to lower its carbon footprint in order to

PR o achieve environmental protection.

S A E RS HH I > £942,887.22 K FLIRF ([JE FL Given that approximately 42,887.22 megawatt-hour (“MWh”) of the energy

R )P REVR I FE A 0 » MM T AT E4EE consumed over the Reporting Period was electricity, a Power Monitoring

FEALHET h TRV TR A R ROk 2 T ALY T System consisting of a series of current transformers and recorders was

EYERAE - installed in all the electrical switchboard.

BRI - ] IR IR o S A T R B R A3 BT Therefore, the real time electrical consumption data can be tracked and

AR B IO o analysed and for necessary improvements.

BFSE - Notes:

5 18— AR AN i ST (8 R A LA i S 5 Scope 1 represents direct GHG emissions generated by the use of LPG and
BT EA N HRRE R - S92 =% refrigerant of our hospitality business. It is calculated with reference to the
FINAFTPCCRI R i 2 S M i B 46 g ANl L published emission factors from 2006 IPCC Guidelines for National Greenhouse
VI TE T 7% B WA B %5 S Th ok LS I Y T Gas Inventories and the guidance worksheets of World Resources Institute’s
VEZ A M B BRI R T L GHG Protocol Tool for Mobile Combustion.

o S AR A TR ) IR ) 6 Scope 2 represents indirect GHG emissions generated by the use of purchased
A 1) P UL 2 SR R - BT L R IR E ) electricity from the local power companies. The calculation is based on the
3T (CEM) % . —4F Al FE A S i Bk emission factors from 2021 Sustainability Report of Companhia de Electricidade
&S & de Macau.
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S e S St St

L4 BT 2023 20227
HAREFES JK LR
Total energy consumption * MWh 42,887.22 36,42048
g JRELHE o R e S
Intensity MWh/million HK$ revenue ’ ’
EE?E%Y%?&—?MKEY_N% JRFLIHE 920.20 018.55
Direct energy consumption — LPG MWh
g JRELHE, o R L i
Intensity MWh/million HK$ revenue : ’
[ REURIHFE—E N I BLIE
Indirect energy consumption — Electricity MWh 41,967.02 35,501.93
)3 JRECHE,H o R
Intensity MWh/million HK$ revenue 46.54 49.89

FoAM o T BB B IRAM Sy —F AR R E n W HE
FURRE o P i ARG BR AR A TE 45 R It D AT Ik
> DM REVR B A

. 4 4999% 1 FELEDYE F # S LEDS - [A] Iy
AL B Y R () 3% > DA AR B RO T 1Y
HRERRS

o URBRIEE AR BERE R — P

. S R ARAETE > BIPAOS %I -
P FIT A UK RS WA B > 1% T ZE R L
F225°C » LA BHPAR [ % B - LABY Ik
BIEIE

o BHAP40% 1 B EY AR K

o EILMEHME - RAEMAREER
ARG R R UK

o BUEMUKAEE > EM RO

o FEE AT IIE A 0F T B oK
PERE > DA R EOK 5 R

o EAHEAERUKE -
(i)

7 R T AR RBURAN R S L H RE IR FE R T
PR B T AR S o 55T TR A 2 5 I
SETLITAT B WA A9 [ A MEARER BT - A28 o
BRI ISR BRSBTS IR AR |
PEPERCR B R TR T AR - U
ERMEHEME - 2 LSBT TR
AP AR B — D AR T A R CR B o

s SR T ARAREG > REURH FEIE N T
TR T SRR A E S I TR

En

We keep in mind to achieve our reduction target set for 2025. MFW
continues to make improvements in various measures to promote the energy
conservation:

. Converted around 99% of non-LED lights to LED together with lighting
schedule optimisation to ensure only the necessary lights are on;

. Removed a half of light bulbs on all mural lights at every hotel floor;

. Blocked out the entire floors of the hotels with 95% of the lights off,
unplugged all refrigerators, lowered all air conditioners’ speed with
25°C, and room curtains shut to prevent heat transfer;

o Disabled 40% of the escalators and elevators;

. Stopped operating the boilers and replaced with the heat pumps to
generate hot water for guest rooms, casino and restaurants usage;

. Remodelled the water supply piping to stop a half of domestic water
supply pumps;

. Stopped the hot water supply in the hotel’s public guest washrooms
during the summer period to reduce the usage of hot water; and

. Reduced the usage of electric water heater.
Notes:
7 Total energy consumption and direct energy consumption of 2022 were restated as

a result of the updated emission factors. The calculation is based on the emission
factor taken from “How to prepare an ESG Report Appendix 2: Reporting
Guidance on Environmental KPIs” by Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing
Limited which was updated in 2022, replacing the emission factor from “GHG
Protocol — Emission Factors from Cross-Sector Tools March 2017 — Stationary
Combustion”.

The increase of energy consumption is due to the increase in visitors to our
business locations in 2023 compared with 2022.
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BEAN > FRAM B B v BROK WAL 245 T E RE R A -
T R AR BROK AL M A T ) W 2 P oK M B
TRTHFE o 2 BE v BRUK J9 8 1 A B Jel M1 7%
BH Sl Je AL R PE I - S JRUARE % ¥4 BROK 3
H7EEE > DL R AR > BRI
REFENAC T TR T 10 55 B TR A% > SE kvl LA
#125% MBI IH FE o

JEE SR PR i B N IR B B

A T ) SR PR T T A B R A1 T AR
MR - BEEENERERTREZBEF N
FPIRIRE > FRAMAE I 5 o Al A DR OK B % 3R
IS/

Besides, we have already implemented energy saving devices for the chilled
water unit. It is because the operation of it is the largest energy consumption
in the property. Smart energy valve helps reduce operating costs and CO2
emissions, Variable Frequency Drives are on Primary Air Handling Units and
Cooling Towers for better load control. Replacing high energy consumption
alternate current motors with energy efficient direct current motors can save
25% of energy consumption.

Air Emission and Indoor Environmental Quality

The Group’s air emissions are primarily generated by the use of LPG for
cooking. Having considered that indoor air quality may affect the comfort of
our guests, we did not emit significant amount of air pollutants in our hotel
operation.

o St —g A
Unit
AU 2023 2022°
ML B 13.25 13.23
Nitrogen oxides Kg . .
e 4] M
0.0648 0.0647
Sulphur oxides Kg
BN Use of Resources

FAM A9 S5 T S W AR G M T FE R R TR
FEAE ) o Tl A S BR S I 5 B
AN AREE T HIESR T RAEE - DUER T BT
FEE A ) JBE ) A o B R 2 2 A 5 A R 3 1) % ik
HL > S0 AR R A B [ A i o

Ry bR A8 B TR R T B AR ) A B A
FAMAE LS T 45 SRS AR M i B T 2 (8 3 i R
AR o AR SE IR I AN IE & 5 - A
WA BB A IR ARSR - B2
g AEY G > DU ERIRERF o

TEHTHEARE - REE KB TREEEE HR
RACESNEWORE > DUE— P S B TIEME
HRESEY) o [AlRFTE B T A 2 0 5580
B B TR WA o A B D A R TR
PP A e R -

i

B AP RESEHON SR PHOR T T LT
91 5175 R 55 B 580 fr
LB AL R ¢ RSB
e BB 51 O RO B U %
G R E R EABE - %t
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Our business operation will inevitably consume a considerable amount of
resources and generate waste. To minimise the impact that we may bring
to the environment, the Group has established guidelines and measures to
ensure the waste we produce is handled in full compliance with the relevant
legislation and regulations and that we are aware of the resource minimisation
and recycling practices.

To promote sustainable waste management practices among staff and
guests, various clearly labeled recycling bins have been strategically placed
throughout company facilities. In public spaces such as hotel rooms, corridors
and offices, separate containers are provided for items like paper, plastics and
aluminum to simplify the recycling process.

In back-of-house areas like staff changing rooms, restrooms and the employee
canteen, additional recycling streams are made accessible to further encourage
proper disposal. Special battery recycling bins have also been situated next to
major exit points used by employees, helping reduce toxic e-waste entering
local landfills.

Note:

0 Air emissions of 2022 were restated as a result of the updated emission factors.
The calculation is based on the emission factor taken from “How to prepare
an ESG Report Appendix 2: Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs” by
HKEx which was updated in 2022, replacing the emission factor from “GHG
Protocol — Emission Factors from Cross-Sector Tools March 2017 — Stationary
Combustion”.
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Recycling bins in back area
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Recycling bins in public area

T b (A 8 He [ R A [ USCR
Water Efficiency

Batteries recycling bins

We have implemented a stringent water treatment programme for the chiller
plant to reduce the water consumption and maintenance-related issues. This
not only lengthens the life span of the equipment but also decreases cooling
tower blowdowns and water valves failures that prevents water loss.

Waterless urinals have been installed in Babylon casino toilets, with plans to
install in additional properties, prompting both water conservation and public
awareness. Water-saving valves in hotel kitchen restaurants also conserve
water. Employees are encouraged to conserve water through daily workflows.
We implemented some environment protection measures helps reduce water
usage by lowering guest room linen laundry frequency. A greywater and
swimming pool water recapture system is being developed for irrigation

purposes and other usage for further environmental protection benefits.

fk i (LK)

Water Usage e 450,379 425,599

W TR H TR

Intensity m*million HK$ revenue 49951 598.08
JEFER P Waste Management

A T PR R G BE E AR 18 FRAM AR A 1 4
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Most of the waste generated by the Group is made up of plastic from the water
bottles given to our casino patrons as well as paper used for marketing or
administrative purposes.

Due to the Group's business nature, the Group does not generate a significant
amount of hazardous waste during daily operation, and therefore no relevant
targets have been set.

Paper use

We have taken measures to cut down our use of paper. Employees are told
to use electronic communications and documents whenever possible in their
work and to print on both sides of the page.
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FElimination of Plastic Use

We have reduced our reliance on plastic products and decreased our use. We
have phased out plastic straws and takeaway boxes at our food and beverages
outlets. They are replaced by recyclable papers and eco-friendly materials. At our
hotels, we have also installed water dispensers as an alternative to bottled water.

Food Waste

Food waste poses a significant challenge in our hotel operations, contributing
to overall waste generation. With the awareness of our responsibility to
operate in an environmentally sustainable manner, regular staff meetings were
held to ensure proper kitchen waste disposal practices and food waste tracking.

To minimise food waste and reduce waste landfill diversion, we have
implemented various facilities in our hotel. Food waste decomposers have
been installed, and recycling bins are readily available at multiple locations.
The kitchen staff are responsible for ensuring the wastes they produced are
disposed of or recycled appropriately.

Improperly composted food waste will create methane that contributes to
global warming. To address this, our hotels leverage the food-composting
machines to tackle food waste as well as minimising the load of trucks for
delivering the trash to the landfills, and the carbon footprint along with the
transport will decrease.

Harbourview Hotel’s food-composting machine processes 120kg of food
waste into water, while Legend Palace’s machine converts 150kg of food
waste into fertiliser. Fertiliser is utilised for vegetation of MFW with leftovers
donated to local plant nurseries. Cooking oil from our food and beverage
(“F&B”) operation is also recycled by licensed operators to lessen potential
load on the wastewater treatment process as well as encouraging recycling of
useful substances.

Meanwhile, we are currently developing a centralised waste treatment
and recyclable centre. This facility will enable the sorting of waste into
recyclables, kitchen waste, hazardous waste, electrical waste and others to
further enhance our waste management practices.

Construction Waste

In accordance with the Construction Material Waste Management Regime
of Macau, we set up construction waste recycling points at our properties
to collect and categorise construction wastes produced by our undergoing
renovations of business premises.
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BT (R Il Environmental Protection Measures

AR S Y T R A R A B R - 3R To promote sustainability efforts and conserve valuable resources at our
(VB3 E-INE S IENEE IS SR akis EPN: hotels, we encourage guests to participate in various environment protection
PR TR IR EMED > MHS KE initiatives. These include options for guests to only have their bedsheets and
o BN VEE S o SR D S g towels replaced when needed rather than daily, using wall-mounted bath
Yo WA EOR IR A = F i o FMEIRE amenities to minimize plastic waste, and providing hand towels in bathrooms
A B AT S VY N A BN FEFIIR A B A only upon request. Through simple actions like these that reduce excess
BT REAEG RO R 9 R BREEEE - consumption and waste at the property, we aim to more effectively protect our

natural environment and resources for future generations.

B A A AR B SE VR AR H R Due to the Group's business nature, the Group does not generate a significant
S A A K R MR amount of packaging materials during daily operation.
N SCEEAR T RRAM A SE ST R A S I 2 The following shows the summary of the waste generated from our business
operations.
: SR EA RO
B4 Unit o 022
4858 )3% P Non-hazardous waste
AR L]
Paper Tonnes 9.46 10.50
W W, O R
Intensity Tonnes/million HK$ revenue 0.0105 0.0147
g g
Plastic oS 1.74 0.31
W L VR Y L€
Intensity Tonnes/million HK$ revenue 0.0016 0.0004
5§ £ L
Food Waste Tonnes I57ues 119.92
W W I R
Intensity Tonnes/million HK$ revenue 0.1749 0.1685
AR08 L]
Domestic Waste ToiEs 377.76 312.85
954 VR Y L€
Intensity Tonnes/million HK$ revenue 0.4190 0.4396
JB& £ FH It
Waste Cooking Oil Litre 3,925.00 1,825.00
W FtHE T
Intensity Litre/million HK$ revenue 43532 2.5646
BFSE - Notes:
10 412 B T ) R (R AR A I AR R B 10 The non-hazardous waste data include various types of waste on which the
PRI £ AR BE e R o RN R Group collected data in 2023. We have enhanced the scope of data collection of
ST E AR B R BB IR 1 - the generation of food waste in our operation.
! TR T AR R, R T A = R 1 The increase in plastic waste and waste cooking oil in 2023 is due full operation
{1 1 ZEFAECOVID- 19BE A% 2 1 R A 5 7 o resumption of our business after COVID-19.
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Promoting Environmental Awareness
Lai Si Envelope Recycle Activity

The Group participated in the 2023 Lai Si (Red Pocket) Envelope Recycling
initiative organized by the Direc¢do dos Servigos de Protecgdo Ambiental
(“DSPA”) during the Chinese New Year season. Collection boxes are placed
strategically around our office premises to enable employees and local
residents to conveniently deposit used envelopes for recycling. Through our
involvement in this collaborative effort supporting sustainable waste diversion
practices, we were pleased to recycle around 4,500 envelopes that were then
processed by the Environmental Protection Department.

Mooncake Box Recycle Activity

Continuing our efforts to support sustainable waste management programs
in Macau, the Group participated in the Mooncake Box Recycling Activity
organized by the DSPA during Mid-Autumn Festival celebrations. Collection
bins were placed strategically around our office premises to provide a
convenient recycling option for employees and community members to

deposit their used mooncake packaging.
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Recycling Game Booth

To promote sustainable practices and encourage learning amongst staff, the
Group hosted a Recycling Game Booth event in our employee canteen during
lunch hours. Employees were invited to participate in various interactive
games focused on recycling education while enjoying their meals with
colleagues.

Topics covered in the games helped raise awareness of proper waste
sorting, the recyclability of common household materials, and small actions
individuals can take to support the circular economy. Prizes were also given
out to winners, incentivizing participation and fun competition around this
important sustainability issue.

=
F=ETe

S SSASSa me e

The 40th Walk for a Million

Reinforcing our commitment to corporate social responsibility, the Group
made a donation to support the annual charity walk organized by the Reader’s
Charity Foundation of Macau Daily on 10 December 2023.

This event aims to raise funds assisting Macau residents in need, directly
aligning with our goals of supporting the local community. Some of our team
members also participated in the walk to contribute physically to the important
cause. Through both financial and volunteer participation, we hoped to play a
small role in addressing social issues and strengthening the fabric of society.
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SUSTAINABLE PROCUREMENT PRACTICES

ESG considerations have been incorporated into the Group’s procurement
policy to guide all outsourcing and procurement decision-making. At the
strategic level, we make sure our procurement decisions are made in line with
the Group’s environmental objectives, including:

I HEE HE YL 1) JBE ) W RS
FAT R4 £R B
Promoting waste
diversion from

landfills and

I FH A B 5 e sustainable

E RS
Driving
environmental
improvement of
our facilities

s b gD 1 S ) D
FIBR BT
Reducing solid
waste disposal and
carbon emissions
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rocurement JNBUNIRY Va2
p 5 49 RE VRN & IR

Resources and
energy conservation

HRERBE P AR B
T~ HEM
B R T N RATEAL I 1 22 B

Strategic Fostering community

engagement with our

employees, guests and
the general public regarding

environmental issues

Level

The Group has adopted the Green Purchasing Guidelines issued by
the DSPA. At the operational level, we have established par levels
for consumables, amenities, and other supplies at our hotels to avoid
excessive purchasing and inefficient storage. These par levels are
subject to bi-annual review and adjustment depending on actual
consumption.
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Selection of Suppliers

In addition to cost-effectiveness, the Group considers ESG factors when
selecting suppliers. During the tendering process, suppliers and service
providers must demonstrate their ESG performance, which will form a crucial
part of the evaluation criteria for awarding business. We assess factors such
as the producers, origins, material composition, necessity, and proper disposal
of the expired products in particular. Whenever possible, preference is given
to products that are recognised by reputable organisations and have the least
negative impact on the environment.

Evaluation and Engagement with Suppliers

Our suppliers are expected to comply with all applicable laws, regulations, and
ethical labour standards. This consists of ensuring workplace safety, paying
fair wages and respecting human and children’s rights. Through engagement
and knowledge exchange, we encourage and influence our suppliers to
improve their services, products and business operation in order to reduce
their environmental impact and promote sustainability.

During the Reporting Period, the Group collaborated with 1,796 suppliers
from the following countries and regions:

TR CO=H - <y :

2023 2022
bt

1,386 1,369
Macau
il
Hong Kong 330 337
v B Py
Mainland China 60 57
H i 55 o B . X
Other Asian countries
HAw B

1 1

Other countries 5 5
At

1,796 1,783
Total 79 5
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PN A AL PEOPLE-ORIENTED CULTURE
B LTI A - R MER - R The success and accomplishment of a company relies on its employees.
PERR A RO — 1 TAF - HR Al - & At Macau Legend, we go beyond offering mere jobs; we provide career
"B B AR B B A R A i AL R n] opportunities. By fostering a culture of performance and honouring employee
H e E R A A B L #aE 4 o contributions, we aim to become the preferred employer and cultivate a culture
of excellence.
TAFRAE A TA > A% 42 [ 31 R 50 2 ATl A 2 I During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any material breach
AR A R M A B 1 R e~ of relevant laws and regulations in Macau that has a significant impact on the
R ET - TR~ AREIAR - TERE - 250 Group relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion,
b~ BB ~ J A A RN 18 DA R i T o working hours, rest periods, equal opportunities, diversity, anti-discrimination,
25 LRSI - other benefits and welfare, as well as child and forced labour.
AR B LRSI IR The total workforce of the Group is summarised as follows:
2023 2022
¥ B TR 34> By Gender
3B Male 635 508
Z Pk Female 514 306
4@ 7 2 % %] 5> By Employment Type
2 1% Full-time 1,149 814
1% B TR 314 By Age Group
(18-2955%) 18-29 130 135
(30-5055%) 30-50 817 546
(505 ML 1) > 50 202 133
%18 B 25 8] 5 By Position
" B BLE Senior Management 13 12
#HE F4 Management/Supervisor 403 327
—ft B T. General Staff 733 475
HHb [ 314> By Geographical Region
#" Macau 1,141 811
75 Hong Kong 8 3
HAlh Other _ _
#5t Total 1,149 814
R5E - Note:
12 TR AR T EE TS R E T R 12 The increase in 2023 workforce is due to the change in operation model of our
AT ) o gaming business.
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An Inclusive and Diverse Working Environment

The Group is committed to promoting a fair and inclusive work environment
for all of our employees. Our employment policy strictly emphasises selecting
candidates based on qualifications that are pertinent to the open positions,
such as their abilities, competencies, contributions, and performance.

We fully abide by all applicable labour laws, rules, and best practises. The
Group strictly prohibits forced labour and child labour. Prior to employment,
all applicants must undergo a thorough background check and medical check.
Our human resources personnel will make sure that each applicant is treated
with fairness and impartiality. We adhere to our interviewing practice during
the recruiting process, and candidates accept job offers in accordance with
their own free will.

Applicants who are found providing misleading, erroneous or deceptive
information during the recruitment process would not be considered.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any material
noncompliance cases relating to labour standards.

Emphasising the Value of Our Employees

Effective communication with employees is crucial to fostering close
relationships and enhancing productivity at work. To facilitate employee
engagement, the Group has established several channels for employees to
express their concerns to their respective managers or management staff.

Employees can reach the Human Resources Department by phone or email, or
schedule an appointment with their representatives. Opinion boxes managed
by staff relations team are also set up for those who prefer to express their
opinion in a more discreet manner. Additionally, informal occasions like
tea gatherings are organised periodically, providing an opportunity for all
employees to participate and engage in open discussions.

In addition to prioritising excellent food and service to our visitors, we also
ensure that our own staff are well-fed. As a more approachable, practical, and
ecologically responsible means to collect feedback, electronic survey systems
have been introduced.

Employees can rate their dining experience at the canteens based on the
variety and quality of the food, comfortability of the environment and level
of services. The results are consolidated and analysed to identify areas
for improvement. During the Reporting Period, we received a total of 178
responses from different canteens.
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Employee Feedback and Grievances

The Group places great importance on employee feedback and grievances,
treating them with utmost seriousness. Any feedback or complaints received
are promptly investigated and addressed by our management. Any feedback
or complaints received are promptly handled through a coordinated response
process. The relevant property’s Human Resources department initiates an
examination of the issue. The Head of the property and the Head of Human
Resources are informed as appropriate based on the nature of the concern.
In serious matters, escalation to the chief executive officer occurs. Relevant
stakeholders may be invited to participate in confidential investigatory
discussions as needed. Minor case resolutions aim to be addressed within
one week, while conclusions for more complex matters depend on timely
information gathering efforts. All investigation results are ultimately
reported to the chief executive officer for final review and sign-off. We take
appropriate action and thoroughly investigate any suggestions or grievances
expressed in good faith by employees. Within a reasonable extent, the
identities of complainants will be protected, and all reports will be kept strictly
confidential.

Whistle-blowing and Internal Investigation Mechanism

The Group has implemented robust measure to protects its employees who
report violations out of goodwill from any repercussions and retaliation.
Interference with an ongoing investigation is strictly forbidden under the
Group’s Code of Conduct and violators will be subject to disciplinary actions.

P #EBH A B Internal Investigation Mechanism

Al > NG

S IR 5 g
a report, the Human R
to the relevant employe

s Department conduc
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A designated point of contact is provided to whistleblowers to privately receive investigation updates from
assigned personnel via confidential channels such as instant messaging or phone calls.
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Workshop

Recreational and Team building

We aim to create strong bonds throughout our community and treat our
employees as members of the Macau Legend family. We occasionally
organised enjoyable team-building and recreational events for our employees as
a way of expressing our gratitude to our workforce.

Throughout the Reporting Period, various activities such as DIY Rice
Dumpling Workshop, Legend Hiking Day, Buffet Party were organised for
our employees.

DIY Rice Dumpling Workshop

To help employees experience the joy and community spirit of Chinese
festivals, we hosted a DIY rice dumpling making event. More than 40 staff
members came together in good spirits to each craft their own dumplings
according to tradition.

Legend Hiking Day

We had a hiking day as an outdoor activity for leisure. During the adventure,
our staff hiked through the Coloane Seac Min Pun Ancient Path, and
successfully challenged the long stairs and to the highest point. They took care
of each other under the drizzle.

Buffet Party

To express gratitude for our staff’s dedication and efforts throughout the year,
we hosted an uplifting year-end buffet party. Colleagues enjoyed a variety of
entertainment including singing performances, delicious food spread and fun
interactive games.

All attendees received a small token of our appreciation upon arrival.
Additionally, staff had the opportunity to participate in lucky draws for
coveted prizes through enjoyable team bonding activities like the BINGO
game.

G20 WL 0 AR A7 S
Z Macau Legend Development Lid.

THANK YOU FOR

YOUR PARTICIPATION! RIS Made by start
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We take care of the employees’ needs and concerns. In 2023, the turnover rate
of the Group was about 28.2%.

- S : o R S
2023 2022

Overall

28.2 170.4

i H TR 4y
By Gender

F:1 i
Male

30.1 132.7

g/qi8

Female

259 233.0

% B TR
By Age Group

(305ELL F)
Below 30

49.2 135.6

(30-5055%)
30-50

26.2 152.6

(5055 P 1)
>50

22.8 278.9

e PR [ 358 ) 4y
By Geographical Region

WM

Macau

28.2 170.5

Hi
Hong Kong

50.0 133.3

Fle 30305
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Employment Conditions

Our remuneration packages are carefully designed to attract, retain and
motivate high-quality employees. In additional to competitive salary, our
employees are given bonuses and non-monetary incentives, including
welfare benefits and professional development opportunities based on their
performance and contributions.

The Group adheres to a six-day workweek schedule and standard working
hours set at eight hours per day in accordance with Article 33 of the Macau
Labour Relation Law. Overtime work and corresponding remuneration are
respectively regulated by Articles 36 and 37 of the Law. To ensure work-
life balance, employees are also entitled to annual leave, weekly rest days,
statutory holidays, sick and accident leave, hospitalisation leave, work injury
leave, maternity leave, compensation leave and compassionate leave. In terms
of insurance, our Company Medical Scheme covers employees’ medical
expenses.

Note:

13 Turnover rate is calculated by dividing the number of leaving employees in
each category by the total number of employees in the same category as at 31
December 2023.
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For imported labour, the Group provides free living accommodations and
a housing allowance which may be available upon request. All employees
on duty receive two meals each day at the staff canteens or other designated
food and beverage establishments. At the restaurants owned by the Group,
employees are entitled to enjoy various discounts.

In case of severe violation of business policies or misconduct, early
termination of employment through summary dismissal may occur. When
an employee resigns, we conduct exit interviews to get their opinion and
determine what needs to be improved.

Occupational Health and Workplace Safety
Employees’ Health

Our employees are a valuable asset to the Group, and we prioritise their
health and satisfaction through our human resources management strategy.
To ascertain whether they are physically qualified for the role, all prospective
applicants must successfully undergo the pre-employment medical
examination, which is financially covered by the Group.

Annual medical check-ups are provided to safeguard the employees’ rights.
Should any employees be diagnosed with significant medical conditions, the
human resources department will make efforts to reassign them to suitable
positions within the Group, whenever feasible.

As one of the top businesses in Macau’s leisure and hospitality sectors, our
hotels serve many visitors, which exposes our frontline employee to the
risk of infectious illnesses. To mitigate such risk, the Group has devised
operating procedures for the housekeeping staff when visitors are suspected or
confirmed to be infected. Due to the coronavirus pandemic, revised cleaning
requirements are in force. We also host lectures to raise staff understanding of
infectious diseases, so that they can take sensible safety precautions. To help
prevent the spread of infection in the workplace, employees exhibiting flu-
like symptoms such as fever, muscle aches, sore throat, cough or runny nose
must promptly notify their supervisor and seek medical care without delay.
The department head will then coordinate any appropriate adjustments, while
masks are required for symptomatic staff members. Furthermore, the Company
strongly recommends all personnel be vaccinated against COVID-19 to better
protect the health of colleagues and guests.

Macau Legend Development Limited 2023 Annual Report 75



g kE R W D

Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

A A B AR S TAE H #5323 K » During the Reporting Period, there were 323 lost days due to work injury.
A8 R A A B AR IR 8 K = AR R A B A BT There was no work-related fatality that occurred in the past three years
EA BIMBE T At o R COVID-19% 1 A< including the reporting year. As the COVID-19 pandemic begins to ease off
AR [ R BT A J e el 5 > TR A A A Ry B in the regions where the Group operates, we will continue to maintain and
SRR B e A S DL b AR E R B L - reinforce our health and safety initiatives to better protect our employees.

P & AN R N S T 1 P [ L S R During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any non-compliance
BB 2 TG RS TR iERs with applicable laws and regulations in Macau concerning the provision of
FI A AR RIS o MR AL = a safe working environment and protection of employees from occupational
AR TAEAHBRSE T B2 5 S G hazards. The following table provides details of work-related fatalities and

injuries that have occurred in the past three years:

e =Y TR M G- Sat:
2023 2022 2021
B TARA BRI ZE 1
Number of Work-related Fatalities - - -
BTAEA B2 A 30 o 5
Number of Work-related Injuries
A TAGE R TAE H B
Lost Days due to Work Injury 323 479 1,392
LB 2 Workplace Safety
FAMAE BT A 35 B EAT T R LA B 2 A Routine workplace safety inspections are conducted in all of our establishments
A DA DR SR 2 PR to check the safety control measures in the following areas:
) H %8 T
Hotel General Operation Construction
. kA o AR EVEAEAR RN . AME o B AR
o UM o W RS EL Y - IHBEAE o RIBERRYIE AL,
+  General safety it »  Storage o AT
» Fire safety o JIEMEH R e Electrical safety o ABE LA TAEI L
e First-aid items e Usage of stoves and hot e Fire safety o mZELE
food containers e Equipment and
e Cold storage machinery
*  Maintenance of food * Electrical safety
lifts and gas stoves e Handling dangerous
e Usage and storage of substances and
knives chemicals

* Noise management
e Ergonomic practices
*  Working at height
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Occupational Safety & Health Game Booth

TR R A 2 TP A
FARZ PR o HAR
MHRE > DUEATRE Sat#] > A
SRFEITREATE) > AT > I
ESNRR SN N (RIE S
By % 2 A — RE WA -

BBBHAHXNRABLNBER
Irmprove the occupational sat

ety GNd heaith level OF the SEaTT through games:

AP

We have developed working procedures for the kitchen staff of MFW on
the safe use of cooking utensils and maintaining hygiene. New kitchen
hires undergo mandatory training to learn these protocols before taking on
their roles. Additionally, management conducts routine staff meetings and
shift briefings to directly communicate any revised processes or workflow
adjustments to the team. This ensures all culinary personnel are properly
informed of policies to minimize risks and maintain optimal standards of
safety in food preparation.

O mpweneamsa  Safety Training

ZY - Vpcwikagonit P igpsei ik

In partnership with the Macau Labour Affairs
Bureau, we have established the Hotel & Catering
SEmmmssssESSSt - ndustry Safety Card training course for our staff
s members. This comprehensive training gives our
employees knowledge of relevant laws and rules
regarding workplace safety and health. It also
covered typical risks in the hotel, catering, and
gaming industries, as well as safeguards and tools

E2 S
Lifting posture

to prevent accidents and occupational hazards.

DEDBBLROB Learn more avout OSH

We have scheduled certified training for the fire
safety officer within the Reporting Period. It
offers the skills necessary to carry out emergency
planning, put emergency response plans into action,
coordinate them, and be knowledgeable about how
installed systems work and building fire safety.

COVID-1919 7% it

2y TR IR & 4E > FECOVID- 1945 %5 1)
il AL KL T —COVID-19 ¥4 ff % fiE 5%
INEEL o % K P AR B B R RSP R A
AR o FRA T 43 B ik 2 vl RS TR 4 4 2E RS Y
T BB AER R o RGN > EBaRE I
FRE > A SE AT R RS - I
5 175 S 300 THT 6 ° B PR 3t - DA T I 4 35 R
JE A D S R U VL P BREAES © FAM EE ih 1E
e 0o e A AR A L A R R A
GRG0 BRI N T 9 45 e (RS IELAS
B R o B TR & A
T FRAMECME T RSN 35 R T R A AR
DARREAR SE 7 A2 > ] ISR A FR AP0 B T M
L 5 i 3t 2 T A A R R P o

COVID-19 Measures

In order to stop the spread of infections, the Group developed a COVID-19
preparedness and response team during the COVID-19 outbreak. This team
is made up of our senior management and representatives from several
departments. We are completely aware of the potential consequences it could
have on how we conduct business. During the Reporting Period, some of the
measures are still on-going, and we adhere to all legal regulations, including
temporary closures during an active pandemic and the posting of the Macau
Health Code at casino and hotel entrances. A variety of preventative measures,
such as improving the ventilation in our office buildings, adding UV lights
to the ventilation system, and taking personal precautions (body temperature
screening, health declaration of employees etc.) To protect our customers
and staff, we have exercised additional cleaning procedures and sanitation
processes to enable a smooth business operation while offering full health
protection to our staff and customers.
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B RGBS 8% Staff Training and Career Development
AAEETEIR B LS SRR E > B The Group ensures that its employees have ample opportunities for continuous
FEIE H AC80 ~ (ERRE - TR Rk SERE R DL S A development, including project-based exposure, on-the-job coaching,
PRI e - BTERFRRAM M B TR horizontal career development, and external training courses or seminars. This
PER AR — 0y TAE - R — O F R o commitment upholds our belief in giving each employee more than just a job,
TAM S B TELA AW EE S g R but a career. We encourage each employee to communicate their growth goals
DU FAM 58 ) S At AT B2 (it T BB A B K SCHE - B with their management so that we can provide them with the greatest support
LR ESFIEF AR T 4 possible. Employee training often covers the following topics:
r A
o REMB I
o HBIR A AT
o EEEEMCETR R B
=0 o EBIEBITAEY
=) o YRR A B N
= o ITELABEARG  AE T R
== o DPYIRCER RERE AT RLVE R AL SRR S BT AL
R o HIRES LY
i B~ o DUMATRE LIS ) 1 S A
H 8 e Security Guard Service Training
il gb ¢ Mindfulness Communication Workshop
_— e Certified Training for Fire Safety Officer
=] e Occupational Safety Card for the Construction Industry Training
E e Stress Management Workshop
= e Food Hygiene Supervisor Training
* Essential Network Security Knowledge for Administrative Staff Seminar
¢ MORS Intensive Course & Assessment
e Live Marketing Workshop
*  How to Break Free from Emotional Constraints in the Workplace
——
BEAb - 75 B 4 A A Bl AR B 2 R B Y Additionally, the Group nominates and sponsors employees’ attendance at
HMERIGRIGRFE o relevant external training sessions.
AN B TR IR The employee training data for the Reporting Period are as follows:

5 i AB(%) AN AN (%) NG
R Umt Number (%) * Hour | Number (%) Hour
H5t Total 586 (51.0%) 2.49 528 (64.9%) 425
% B TR 84 By Gender

%1 Male 355 (60.6%) 2.49 190 (36.0%) 4.55
4 Female 231 (39.4%) 248 338 (64.0%) 3.75
1% B LTI 4 2] By Employee Category
B 45 B Senior Management 5(0.9%) 19.35 14 (2.6%) 16.02
¥ P8, 3% Management/Supervisor 142 (24.2%) 1.85 155 (29.4%) 3.45
—ft B T. General Staff 439 (74.9%) 2.54 359 (68.0%) 4.50
B &E - Note:
" %%{%ﬁll%ﬁkﬁﬁ%{iﬂ% :ifij:% @ig 14 The percentage of total employees trained is obtained by dividing the number
B2 B Al 9 B T R LA % B T A\ BGH of employees who received training in 2023 by the Group’s total workforce,
B o % 5 LA K L &éﬂé}ﬁ@ﬁé}t Lt whereas the percentage of employees trained by gender and employee category
F — AR BUI ThaZ Bl B TS is obtained by dividi i
W DL 3 B T 4 A is obtained by dividing the number of employees of the respective category who

received training in 2023 by the total number of trained employees.
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(B memmma National Security Education Exhibition 2023

B et
To increase our employees’ awareness of national
security issues and their patriotism for the
motherland and Macao, around 50 employees of
the Group visited the National Security Education
Exhibition in April 2023, which was organised
jointly by the Macao Special Administrative
Region Government and the Liaison Office of the
Central People’s Government in the Macao Special
Administrative Region.

This exhibition combined more than 350 pictures
and multiple videos with refined text. By watching
and listening to the content explanations of national
security education, our employees understood the
current state of national security and the future
direction of development, and cultivated the spirit
of “loving the motherland and loving Macao”.

Performance Appraisal and Career Development

To continuously enhance the overall competitiveness of the Group, we
conduct regular performance appraisals to assess the performance of our staff.
These assessments allow us to identify if there are any strengths to utilise and
any needs for further training. For staff in different grades, they will be assessed
based on different aspects. Performance appraisals incorporate a two-way
feedback process, with supervisors first scheduling one-on-one meetings to
provide input to staff and receive their perspectives. These sessions conclude
by supervisors counseling employees on training opportunities and advice to
aid their career progression.

For general staff, the appraisal focuses on job skills, communication,
team works and attitude. This assessment helps us recognise and leverage
their existing skills while providing opportunities for improvement in
communication.
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Supervisors undergo a performance appraisal that evaluates their leadership
and management skills, as well as their attitude towards their work. This
assessment enables us to identify their strengths in leading teams and
managing tasks effectively, while also highlighting areas where further
development may be beneficial.

FE BTt

Performance Appraisal

—BET

General Staff

TEHET
Supervisor Grade Staff

LAEdRE
Job Skills

|
R

Communications

I
FER G 1
Team Works

ReRE
Attitude
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FULRE
Leadership
EHIRES)
Management Skills
I
KBRS

Business Attitude

When new vacancies arise within the Group, we prioritise internal promotion
or transfer of suitable employees over external hiring. This approach
reflects our commitment to recognising and nurturing the talent within our
organisation, providing opportunities for growth and advancement to our
existing staff members.

INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY RIGHTS

To safeguard the Group’s intellectual property rights, the Group has taken
necessary steps to file trademark application, and will consistently monitor and
prevent any unauthorised use or violation of its intellectual property rights.
If it is found that there has been an infringement of our intellectual property
rights, the Company will proactively take action against such infringement in
a timely manner.

UPHOLDING HIGHEST SERVICE QUALITY

The hospitality and entertainment sectors in Macau are highly competitive.
The Group is committed to consistently providing best possible service and
optimising enjoyment for our visitors. The customer service manual that
defined standards for their conduct, appearance, and manners, is a resource
that our hotel personnel received in training.
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Strict guidelines govern culinary operations from sourcing to storage,
preparation and service. Our quality control method guarantees that
standards of hygiene and food safety are maintained at every stage, from the
procurement of the food to delivery and storage, preparation, and serving.

During the Reporting Period, no sold or shipped products required recalls due
to safety and health reasons. There was no material breach of relevant laws
and regulations relating to health and product safety, advertising, labelling
and privacy matters in connection to the products and services provided by
the Group, as well as the method of redress. The Group was not aware of any
non-compliance with applicable laws and regulations relating to intellectual
property regarding our products and services during the Reporting Period.

Customer Satisfaction

We recognise that customers’ preferences are continually changing. To keep
pace with evolving industry and consumer expectations, ongoing adaptation is
crucial.

Family vacationers and young individual tours have increased noticeably since
the COVID-19 outbreak. In response to this trend, the Harbourview Hotel has
stocked a number of kid-friendly goods, such as baby beds, child safety bars,
faucet extenders, toothbrushes, etc., to improve its babysitting services for
guests in need. Besides, disabled and elders bathing and toilet seats will be
provided to the needs as well.

By attentively tracking trends and proactively customising our offerings, we
strive to anticipate and meet the wants of our diversifying customer base. This
commitment to flexibility strengthens our reputation as a leading choice for
memorable experiences catering to all.

Ku.Ku Duckbill

Baby toilet seats
il B R A

Baby sleeping protection

Disabled/elder toilet seats

S B G R A 1 VNS ==y
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Physical Comment Card We provide the card at reception for customers’ convenience to give their opinion while waiting for

check in or check out.

Customer satisfaction survey

Our hotels incorporate feedback from satisfaction surveys into rigorous
quantitative and qualitative assessments. To determine our respective strengths
and limitations, we also assess our performance data in comparison to that of
our peers.

In 2023, the Group maintained exceptional satisfaction levels. According to
the results to a global leading guest experience platform, Legend Palace Hotel
received 5,055 reviews, which is two times more than the year 2022.

Legend Palace Hotel achieved a customer satisfaction score of 4.41 out of 5,
with nearly 90% of the respondent had given a “Good” or higher satisfaction
rating for their overall experience of staying. The scoring areas cover “Room”,
“Service”, “Cleanliness”, and “Food & Drinks”. Among the other factors, the
hotel’s environment and atmosphere (66%) influenced guests’ decisions the
most strongly to stay with us. We will continue to keep track on the rating of
our hotel performance and seek for a higher service quality.

Continued monitoring of ratings and service quality optimisation remains a
focus to make sure our dining guests are able to attain the maximum level of
enjoyment. Guests are invited to give feedback and comments after finishing
their meals. All issues identified are reported to the managers and chefs for
ratification immediately.

Our customer satisfaction management leverages the following channel to
understand customers’ expressions:

LA B (ETEA - SR
Expedia) A ©
Major Social Media Platform

(e.g. Ctrip, TripAdvisor, and Expedia)

§1P3l3’9KE%EE%?N&EI%&%@%?@LE‘JE)\%‘?%‘% o FRAMAT HERR B He [m B % AT

Our room administrators regularly check on guest comments on major social media platforms. We
have access to reply to guest comments directly.

ReviewPro ReviewPro& — i BT A7 74 iy A IS F B 4T SR A8 © FRAM M ale B 20 15 9 I iy

ReviewPro ReviewPro is an ultimate review channel of all the products and services. We analyse the data and
review from the customers.

5 H iR (ELESS IR 5 A S S 1 o R > T W) R AR AR R ety » MO 7 i v BRI A 5

Daily Briefing Sheet TESE -
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The Duty Managers will consolidate the social media updates, such as our hotels’ ratings and recent
comments, and share them with all Department Heads in the morning briefing.

During departmental briefings for each shift, all constructive feedback will be discussed and followed
up. The department heads will identify the underlying issue and address any operational shortcomings
to prevent it from happening again.

JEPEHETF Complaints Handling

FRAM G I f) (B BE A 2R 2 0 2 WA FE 4 > DL
B BN S BB B PR o — HEI
ARG AL RVEAT TR A > 0SS ] B B D fEE B B
FRETR o PR TR - AR A I S B A R R
HEDNE &

82 MR AIEARAT] 202345

Duty managers at our hotels undergo extensive instruction in respectfully,
genuinely and professionally handling complaints. Any issues raised are
promptly examined and directed to relevant teams for timely resolution.
During the Reporting Period, we did not receive material service-related
complaints.
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MAINTAINING HIGHEST BUSINESS ETHICS

Responsible Gambling

In light of the recent amendments under Law no. 7/2022, the Macao Gaming
Law requires casino concessionaires to have a comprehensive responsible
gambling plan. The Group collaborated with the Macau government and
various related institutions to advance awareness and education on responsible
gambling among both existing and new staff.

In 2023, the Group continues to take responsibility for the extensive promotion
of responsible gambling. We are actively responding and cooperating with the
government’s theme of responsible gaming promotion of “Lose Control, Lose
Family!”. The Group implements multiple awareness initiatives of responsible
gambling work and activities for all customers and employees to gain a better
understanding of the related information and content.

On-site publicity and promotion activities

The Group and Yat On Centre jointly organise on-
site promotion activities. The event has been held
since 2021. On the first Friday of each month, the
staff of Yat On Centre will visit our gaming venues.
Through booth games, convey the importance of
responsible gaming to family harmony and the
message of refusing to get addicted in gambling.
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Quiz Game Poster Campaign with Prizes

We put up posters of quiz games with prizes in the staff lounges and offices,
and inform all employees of the relevant information in regular meetings, so
that they can understand the importance of responsible gaming through this
activity.

Responsible Gambling Training Course

Senior management also participated in external training to sufficiently
oversee responsible gaming guidelines organised by Yat On Centre and the
external party. The courses aimed to strengthen assistance for those in need as
well as overall management competencies in this crucial domain.
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Responsible Gambling Computer Testing

Employees of the Gaming Operations Department are required to pass tests
on responsible gaming in addition to the Anti-Money Laundering exam. By
passing the responsible gambling test, employees can have a richer knowledge
of the topic, which benefits the process of responsible management as a
whole. Basically, the employees who conduct the test have passed the test
qualification standard.

Except for the abovementioned facilities, we have respective settings in our
gaming venues to fully cooperate with the government’s responsible gambling
initiatives.

Posters and Videos

Posters about responsible gambling are displayed at all entrances and various
points throughout the premises. Each poster includes phone numbers for
anyone in need to get help. All of the smoking areas in the premise have TVs
that play a video to urge guests not to get addicted to gambling.

Gaming Table Equipment

On each game table, there is a display screen. In addition to providing
reference information on the game category, it also shows the real time and
responsible gambling slogans. The apparatus encourages guests to participate
in games sensibly by showing the slogan and reminding them how long they
have been participating.

Information Kiosks

We also set up responsible gambling information kiosks at our properties to
provide a convenient and comprehensive way for our guests to access more
information about responsible gambling.

Privacy Protection

Ensuring stringent protection of guest personal data is essential. We are fully
committed to complying with Macao’s Personal Data Protection Act No.
8/2005 and all relevant regulations of Macao.

Policies and procedures on the handling and storage of private data are
established to guide our front desk staff in minimising the risk of privacy
information leakage Only authorised IT and technical personnel can access
data through designated devices and applications safely situated on company
premises. As part of our dedication, we actively conduct regular cybersecurity
evaluations employing a range of technical and procedural auditing activities,
including external vulnerability scanning, access privilege reviews, and
comprehensive security audits. This defense-in-depth approach aims to
proactively identify and mitigate risks from evolving cyber threats.

Our commitment to cybersecurity, and ability to identify, manage and
reduce the severity of regular threats to our information are evidenced by the
accreditation of the international standards ISO/IEC 27001.
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Anti-corruption
Group Anti-corruption Policy

The Group maintains a stringent anti-corruption policy and implementing
guidelines to govern business gifts and ensure transparency across interactions.
While casino staff are typically prohibited from accepting presents of any
kind or value, on-gaming roles permit modest, nominal tokens from clients to
strengthen relationships appropriately without undue influence. All employees
are advised to avoid receiving gifts from parties or companies that have
commercial relations with the Group.

Bribery is strictly prohibited and constitutes using gifts, entertainment or
other benefits to improperly sway business decisions instead of legitimately
cultivating partnerships and consumer ties. To ensure transparency, accounting
for all exchanges must accurately represent the nature and purpose of each
transaction. All staff have also received specific instructions on business
transactions. The company auditor is also in charge of determining any
corruption and bribery risk.

Reporting Procedure

Employees and external stakeholders can confidentially report any suspected
breaches through defined whistleblowing channels as outlined in our policy.
Please see the “Whistle-blowing and Internal Investigation Mechanism”
section above for details.

Employee Code of Conduct

Our code establishes high ethical standards expected of all employees
and Directors, in addition to fully complying with all applicable laws and
regulations in Macau and in Hong Kong. The Code of Conduct outlines the
values and guidelines that guide employees’ behaviour. Non-adherence may
result in disciplinary actions up to dismissal to uphold integrity.

Anti-corruption Training

Our gaming segment’s management and general workforce received
anticorruption training in 2023 for a combined total of 30 hours and 660 hours,
respectively. In order to enhance our gaming staff’s anti-money laundering
knowledge and understanding, we also test them through an electronic system.

During the Reporting Period, no legal case regarding corrupt practices was
brought against the Group or its employees. The Group was not aware of any
material breach of laws and regulations in Macau relating to bribery, extortion,
fraud and money laundering during the Reporting Period.
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COMMUNITY PARTICIPATION

Without the help of the community, we believe no business can prosper. We
are more than happy to participate in any opportunity to help charities in
any field and give back to society. The Group’s contribution areas focus on
contributing to local community.

#4 1 Blood Donation
% 1T D 5 0 R 2023.11.20
Macey Eiogend Developerent Lid: WAl
TR JEH T A 5Ty S ' _ ; Donating blood is crucial, as it provides a life-
MR A (N F 5 - Tl MLD Blood Donation 2023 (2™) saving supply for those requiring transfusions,
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We appreciate for your contribution! LI

Y 151

newborns undergoing critical care. It helps ensure
= our community’s blood reserves are adequate to
3 5/\ > meet the needs of all relying on them in medical

emergencies. Beyond its community benefits,

Lm 5 E73 ar@A donating blood carries health advantages for donors
vV as well. It reduces iron levels in the blood in a

natural way and promotes cardiovascular wellness.

Organised with Macau’s Blood Transfusion Service
Centre, our annual staff drive underscores this
commitment. In March and November 2023, a total
of 58 employees donated blood.
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With an aim to promote sustainability and support
those in need, we organised an employee goods
donation drive from 1 June to 20 June, 2023. Staff
were encouraged to donate pre-loved items they no
longer needed.

All collected goods were carefully sorted and
donated to local charitable organisations to be put
to good use. By redirecting quality, reusable items,
we hoped to reduce waste while bringing comfort
to others.
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We appreciate for your donations! All goods will be reorganized and
donated to caring communities in the society in order to make good use of
resources, and to promote environmental protection and recycling!
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The Board is pleased to present this annual report and the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group during the year, which includes
an analysis of the Group’s performance using financial key performance
indicators, a discussion on the Group’s future business development and
principal risks and uncertainties that the Group may be facing, discussion on
the relationships with its key stakeholders and particulars of important events
affecting the Group that have occurred since the end of the financial year
ended 31 December 2023 are provided in the sections headed “Chairman’s
Statement”, “Management Discussion and Analysis”, “Corporate Governance
Report” and “Environmental, Social and Governance Report” of this annual
report. The Group has always been committed to establish and improve the
relationship with customers to gain and maintain customers. The review forms
part of the Directors’ report.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The activities of its
principal subsidiaries are set out in note 41 to the consolidated financial
statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
on page 106 of this annual report.

No interim dividend was paid during the year.

The Board did not recommend the payment of a final dividend in respect of
the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: nil).

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the audited consolidated results and the assets and liabilities of
the Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 207 of this annual
report.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES AND PROPERTY AND
EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements during the year in the investment properties
and property and equipment of the Group are set out in notes 16 and 17,
respectively, to the consolidated financial statements.
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Directors’ Report (Continued)

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements during the year in the share capital of the Company are
set out in note 30 to the consolidated financial statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Details of the share options of the Company are disclosed under the below
section headed “Share Options” and in note 39 to the consolidated financial
statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed
any of the Shares during the year ended 31 December 2023.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2023, the Company’s reserves available for distribution
to Shareholders amounted to approximately HK$2,701.4 million comprising
share premium of approximately HK$4,163.8 million and other reserve of
approximately HK$202.3 million, net of accumulated loss of approximately
HK$1,664.6 million.

Under the Cayman Islands Companies Law, subject to the provisions of
memorandum of association of the Company or the Articles of Association,
the Company’s share premium account may be applied to pay distributions or
dividends to Shareholders, provided that immediately following the date the
distribution or dividend is proposed to be paid, the Company is able to pay its
debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this annual report were:

Executive Directors

Mr Li Chu Kwan (Chairman & chief executive officer)
(appointed as chief executive ofticer on 1 January 2023)
Ms Chan Mei Yi, Melinda (Vice-chairman)
(appointed as Vice-chairman on 1 January 2023)

Non-executive Directors

Ms Ho Chiulin, Laurinda
Mr Li Chun Tak
Mr Wong Che Man Eddy

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr Wang Hongxin (alias Wang, Charles Hongxin)
Mr Lau Ngai Kee, Ricky
Mr Mak Ka Wing, Patrick

According to Article 84 of the Articles of Association, Ms Melinda Chan, Mr
Li Chun Tak and Mr Wang Hongxin shall retire by rotation at the 2024 AGM
being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the 2024 AGM.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the 2024 AGM has
a service contract with the Company that is not terminable within one year
without payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

A permitted indemnity provision (as referred to the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance) for the benefit of the Directors is currently in force throughout the
year.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy on payment of dividends.
Depending on the financial conditions of the Company and the Group and
the conditions and factors as set out in the dividend policy, dividends may be
proposed and/or declared by the Board during a financial year and any final
dividend for a financial year will be subject to shareholders’ approval.
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EH R EEITHA BRA LR Z Bt B DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS AND
B8 Jie Ay WO R 4 2 90 AT SHORT POSITION IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES
OF THE COMPANY
W_EZ=ZF+FHZA=+—H > AAVERER As at 31 December 2023, the interests and short position of the Directors
FBATHON B I KAH BRI A3 A AR DR 8 2 and chief executives of the Company in the Shares and underlying Shares, as
B BRI 565 35 20 K A Hh AR 2 R A 9 5w recorded in the register maintained by the Company pursuant to section 352
kiR sk 2 B i S IR > mOMR A A ST JU) 2 RN of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
AN R B AE T 2 g BORETANE pursuant to the Model Code were as follows:
(1) AL b i (1) Long Position in Shares of the Company
Al CEAT IR O A
WA /i ety B H MAE S
*Approximate
percentage of total
Name of Director Capacity Number of Shares issued Shares
LSS S HanEA A 129,690,066 2.09%
Ms Chan Mei Yi, Melinda Beneficial owner
i E i 483,781,402 7.80%

Interest of spouse

613,471,468 9.89%

BF5E - Note:
(1) BRI L 1Dl 27 775 208 L e {1 J) 86 i (1) Ms Melinda Chan was deemed to be interested in these Shares through the

A IRE RS A % S Oy TP RS o interest of her spouse, Mr David Chow.
* "R -F - EFE T A= —H * The percentage represents the number of Shares interested divided by the

A ME £ 2 JB A 0 I DA 8 A T IR 10 8 number of the issued Shares as at 31 December 2023.

H -
i b SCHT B R A AN > A E) A AR EE S Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or chief executive of the
FEETHRABR -Z =412 Company, as at 31 December 2023, had registered an interest or a short
= H BB FRCIRA A B 5 CHAT A AR B position in the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the Company
2 GE S R I L B IRGIEXVED 2 or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of
JBe A3 ~ A B S A A5 v R A R R the SFO) as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
AN F AR IR RS I SO B 91 56 352 JE AT pursuant to section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the
B0 R RO A A AR A E S R ZE N A Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

O3 F) B A P R 2 R
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SHARE OPTIONS
Share Option Scheme

On 5 June 2013, the Company adopted the Share Option Scheme for the
purpose of providing incentives or rewards to eligible participants for their
contribution or potential contribution to the Group. Eligible participants of
the Share Option Scheme include, among others, the Directors, including
non-executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors, full-
time or part-time employees, executives or officers of the Group, advisors,
consultants, suppliers, customers and agents. The Share Option Scheme
became effective on 5 July 2013 upon the Listing and shall be valid and
effective for a period of 10 years from that date.

The maximum number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the Share Option
Scheme and any other schemes of the Company must not exceed 30% of the
total number of Shares in issue from time to time. The maximum number of
Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the options granted and to be
granted to each eligible participant in any 12-month period must not exceed
1% of the Company’s issued share capital from time to time. Any grant or
further grant of share options in excess of this limit is subject to Shareholders’
approval in a general meeting of the Company.

Each grant of share options to a Director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder, or to any of their associates, is subject to approval in advance
by the independent non-executive Directors. In addition, any grant of share
options to a substantial shareholder or an independent non-executive Director,
or to any of their associates, resulting in the Shares issued and to be issued
upon exercise of all options already granted and to be granted (including
options exercised, cancelled and outstanding) to such person, in a 12-month
period up to and including the date of such grant in excess of 0.1% of the
Shares in issue and with an aggregate value (based on the closing price of
the Shares at the date of the grant) in excess of HK$5 million, is subject to
Shareholders’ approval in advance in a general meeting of the Company.

An option shall be deemed to have been granted and accepted by the grantee
and to have taken effect when the duplicate offer document constituting
acceptance of the option duly signed by the grantee, together with a remittance
in favour of the Company of HK$1 by way of consideration for the grant of
the option, is received by the Company within 30 days after the date of offer.

The exercise price of share options is determined by the Directors, but shall
not be less than the highest of (i) the nominal value of the Shares; (ii) the
closing price of the Shares as stated in the daily quotation sheets of the Stock
Exchange on the date of offer of the share options; and (iii) the average
closing price of the Shares as stated in the daily quotation sheets of the Stock
Exchange for the five business days immediately preceding the date of offer.

As at 1 January 2023 and 4 July 2023, the date the Share Option Scheme
expired, the number of share options available for grant, and hence number of
shares available for issue, under the Share Option Scheme was 623,217,787.
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Directors’ Report (Continued)

No share option has been granted since the adoption of the Share Option
Scheme.

The Share Option Scheme expired on 4 July 2023 and no further options can
be granted thereunder.

Save as disclosed, the Company has not adopted any other Share Scheme.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

At no time during the year was the Company, its holding company, or any of
its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries, a party to any arrangements to enable
the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of Shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Other than as disclosed in notes 10 and 40 to the consolidated financial
statements, no transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance to which
the Company, its holding company, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was
a party and in which a Director or an entity connected with a Director had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year
or at any time during the year.

CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Other than as disclosed in notes 10 and 40 to the consolidated financial
statements, no contract of significance had been entered into between the
Company or any of its subsidiaries and the controlling shareholder of the
Company or any of its subsidiaries during the year under review.

Other than as disclosed in notes 10 and 40 to the consolidated financial
statements, there is no contract of significance for the provision of services to
the Company or any of its subsidiaries by the controlling shareholder of the
Company or any of its subsidiaries.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract for the management and administration of the whole or any
substantial part of the business of the Company was entered into or existed
during the year.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2023, none of the related party
transactions of the Company constitutes discloseable connected transaction or
continuing connected transaction under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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As at 31 December 2023, so far as the Directors are aware, the following
parties (other than the Directors and chief executives of the Company) had
interests or short position in the Shares and underlying Shares as recorded in
the register of interests required to be kept by the Company pursuant to section

f IR 336 of the SFO:
1) AARAGE B P (1) Long position in Shares of the Company
Al OB AT I AR Y
FEB N AT g/ B4y ¥ H RN pidia
*Approximate

94

percentage of total

Name of substantial shareholders Capacity Number of Shares issued Shares
BRAE IR JEETR7 ZEDN 6,661,000 0.11%
Mr Chan Weng Lin Beneficial owner
ZHE 2,051,485,252 33.08%
Controlled corporation
2,058,146,252 33.19%
R HaEA A 2,051,485,252V 33.08%
Perfect Achiever Beneficial owner
Wu Jo HsuanZZ 1 T B 4 2,058,146,252® 33.19%
Ms Wu Jo Hsuan Interest of spouse
Elite Success JEETR7 ZSDN 1,012,599,750 16.33%
Elite Success Beneficial owner
ARSEE JEETR7 ZEDN 109,446,429 1.76%
Mr Li Chi Keung Beneficial owner
ZHEEE 1,012,599,750® 16.33%
Controlled corporation
1,122,046,179 18.09%
BRGNS T 1,012,599,750® 16.33%
Ms Wong Hoi Ping Controlled corporation
i HE 109,446,429¢ 1.76%
Interest of spouse
1,122,046,179 18.09%
BRI 4+ HaA A 75,664,000 1.22%
Ms Chan Un Chan Beneficial owner
T 937,104,609 15.11%
Controlled corporation
1,012,768,609 16.33%
Earth Group Ventures Ltd. Ha A A 934,269,609 © 15.07%
Earth Group Ventures Ltd. Beneficial owner
JEI SRR SE A HaEA A 483,781,402 7.80%
Mr David Chow Beneficial owner
Fic 19 R i 129,690,066 ™ 2.09%
Interest of spouse
613,471,468 9.89%

MR AIEARAT] 202345
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Directors’ Report (Continued)

Notes:

1. These Shares were held by Perfect Achiever, a controlled corporation of
Mr Chan Weng Lin.

2. Ms Wu Jo Hsuan was deemed to be interested in these Shares through the

interest of her spouse, Mr Chan Weng Lin.

3. These Shares were held by Elite Success (a company in which Mr Li Chi
Keung and Ms Wong Hoi Ping, spouse of Mr Li Chi Keung, held 51%
and 39% of the total issued capital, respectively).

4. Ms Wong Hoi Ping was deemed to be interested in these Shares through
the interest of her spouse, Mr Li Chi Keung.

5. These Shares were held by Earth Group Ventures Ltd. and UNIR (HK)
Management Limited, controlled corporations of Ms Chan Un Chan.

6. These Shares were held by Earth Group Ventures Ltd., a controlled
corporation of Ms Chan Un Chan.

7. Mr David Chow was deemed to be interested in these Shares through the
interest of his spouse, Ms Melinda Chan.

* The percentage represents the number of Shares interested divided by the
number of the issued Shares as at 31 December 2023.

Save as disclosed above, the Directors are not aware of any other corporation
or individual (other than a Director or the chief executive of the Company)
who, as at 31 December 2023, had registered an interest or a short position in
the Shares or underlying Shares as recorded in the register of interests required
to be kept pursuant to section 336 of the SFO.

INDEPENDENCE CONFIRMATION

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-executive
Directors, an annual confirmation of his/her independence pursuant to Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all the independent non-
executive Directors are independent.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES

The Group is committed to building an environmentally-friendly corporation
that pays close attention to conserving natural resources. The Group strives
to minimize the environmental impact by saving electricity and encouraging
recycle of office supplies and other materials. Details of the environmental
policies of the Group are set out in the “Environmental, Social and
Governance Report” of this annual report.

Macau Legend Development Limited 2023 Annual Report 95



EOH oM E (B

Directors’ Report (Continued)

Bt I BCR

AN FH o A P B e el T B
ﬁ%ﬁ&%%aﬁ%%@?ﬁﬂﬁ$%@%%
A ~ RN KR B AT PTG W -

15 o i

B A FI) BB 2 T O 1) 2 S AR ) R A%
EU 9] 1) B A7 B AROARE 2 A T B B P i R A
X e

e 5 T B

AR AN R 8 AT AT AT [ B SR A AR 2 ) R
T 1) 48 55 B 14 2 i 5 T ok B s o

I LUPAY LY a

AN TR AR A s RN FE P > B
AT 4% A G A TSP 25 % i I R FR I B
ZHUE > B T BB B E 4 16 19.04% ([
PRI R o ARIEAAN WG R B E R

KO R TR AR R AR H B E AR
LR AR AR I B R e 2 B - HERRTS
EMANBRERE R -

EREP KR

M oEC=ZF RAEBMNHERES MR KE
7R IR 55 A A A A B R 4R £954.2% K
37.2% o

J TR T AR AR Y TR R R
A B 78 2 ol A A 4 T R M AR R A0 248 % LAY
13.5% -

MEAEAT A A ] 2 B A~ HLBH I B N BOR
(ﬁﬁ%ﬁﬂ%ﬁ$ﬁﬁ&$wwu:mﬁmﬁ
A B ) A A 2 B K % A R 2 A

5o
ISR U 3 AR

DA £ o A B 2 0 PR 45 AR 0 T B B A 4]
558.10(2)(b)I T2 558.10(2) (c) i@ » 3 (&
SE BT EE SRR A1) B R [ A SR SR
3 B AT ﬁb%ﬁiﬁﬁ?ﬁ’]%iﬁqj@f%ﬁ%%ﬁt
(B HATfar 3 )

96 MR AIEARAT] 202345

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emoluments of the Directors and senior management of the Company
are reviewed and determined by the Remuneration Committee, having regard
to, inter alia, the Group’s operating results, individual performance and
comparable market statistics.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association, or the laws of Cayman Islands, which would oblige the Company
to offer new Shares on a pro-rata basis to existing Shareholders.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Company is not aware of any tax relief and exemption available to the
shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s securities.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

As stated in the Supplemental Prospectus, the Company has applied for,
and the Stock Exchange has granted, a waiver from strict compliance with
the minimum public float requirement of 25% and the Stock Exchange
accepted a lower percentage of 19.04% (the “Public Float Waiver”). Based
on information that is publicly available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Directors, as at the date of this annual report, the Company
maintained the prescribed public float under the Listing Rules and as required
by the Public Float Waiver.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In 2023, the five largest customers of the Group accounted for approximately
54.2% of the Group’s revenue with the largest customer, SJM, accounted for
approximately 37.2% of the Group’s revenue.

In 2023, the five largest suppliers of the Group accounted for approximately
24.8% of the Group’s total purchases with the largest supplier accounted for
approximately 13.5% of the Group’s total purchases.

At no time during the year did a Director, a close associate of a Director or a
shareholder of the Company (which to the knowledge of the Directors owns
more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) have an interest in any of the
Group’s five largest customers or suppliers.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

The interests of Directors (other than independent non-executive Directors)
in a business apart from the Group’s business, which competes or is likely
to compete either directly or indirectly, with the Group’s business (or any
changes thereof) as informed by the relevant Directors pursuant to Rule 8.10(2)
(b) and Rule 8.10(2)(c) respectively of the Listing Rules are as follows:
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Directors’ Report (Continued)

—  Mr Li Chu Kwan is a director of a company which provides services
to Waldo Casino. He is also a director of a company which, through its
subsidiary, operates Waldo Hotel. Waldo Casino and Waldo Hotel are
engaged in casino operation and hotel business in Macau, respectively.

The above-mentioned competing businesses are managed by separate entities
with independent management and administration.

The Directors are of the view that the Group is capable of carrying on its
businesses independently of, and at arm’s-length from, the businesses of
above-mentioned entities. When making decisions, the relevant Directors, in
performance of their duties as Directors of the Company, have acted and will
continue to act in the best interests of the Group.

During the year under review, save as disclosed above and in the section
headed “Relationship with Controlling Shareholders” of the Prospectus, none
of the Directors is considered to have interests in a business which competes
or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the
Group, as defined in the Listing Rules.

COMPLIANCE WITH ANTI-MONEY LAUNDERING LAWS
AND REGULATIONS

SJM has provided with the Group a confirmation dated 6 February 2024 that
its anti-money laundering policies and procedures implemented in the casinos
and gaming premises at MFW were in full compliance with the applicable
legal and regulatory requirements of the Macau government for the financial
year ended 31 December 2023.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

During the year, as far as the Company is aware, there was no material breach
of or non-compliance with applicable laws and regulations by the Group that
has a significant impact on the business and operations of the Group.

EVENT AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

The Group did not have any significant events after the reporting period.
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AUDITOR

On 27 July 2020, Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu resigned as the auditor of the
Company and Ernst & Young was appointed as the auditor of the Company
with effect from 27 July 2020. Save as disclosed, the Company has not
changed its auditors in any of the preceding three years.

A resolution will be submitted to the 2024 AGM to re-appoint Ernst & Young
as auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Li Chu Kwan
Chairman, executive Director and chief executive officer
28 March 2024
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Ernst & Young KGNS R Tel EB5%: +852 2846 9888
27/F, One Taikoo Place EBMIERHSE 07998 Fax [HEL: +852 2868 4432

979 King’s Road
Quarry Bay, Hong Kong ReEth—E 27 18 ey.com

To the shareholders of Macau Legend Development Limited
R Jh e A s A PR 2 )
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Macau Legend
Development Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”)
set out on pages 106 to 206, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2023, and the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including
material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2023,
and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the
audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.
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MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING
CONCERN

We draw attention to note 2.1 in the consolidated financial statements, which
indicates that the Group incurred a net loss of HK$4.9 million during the
year ended 31 December 2023 and, as of that date, the Group’s net current
liabilities were approximately HK$799.6 million. This condition, along with
other matters as set forth in note 2.1, indicates that a material uncertainty
exists that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of
the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. In addition
to the matter described in the Material uncertainty related to going concern
section of our report, we have determined the matters described below to
be the key audit matters to be communicated in our report. For each matter
below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is provided in
that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s responsibilities
for the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report,
including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included the
performance of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks
of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results
of our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address the
matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying
consolidated financial statements.
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Independent Review Report (Continued)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Key audit matter

Impairment assessment of non-current non-financial assets in Macau

As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amount of the Group’s non-current
non-financial assets in Macau, comprising investment properties, property and
equipment, and right-of-use assets amounted to approximately HK$5,972.4
million, representing 87% of the Group’s total assets.

As the Group has incurred substantial losses before reversal of tax provision,
an impairment indicator existed and therefore the Group has performed an
impairment assessment of its non-current non-financial assets related to the
cash-generating unit (“CGU”). The management engaged an independent
external valuer to assess on the recoverable amounts of investment properties,
property and equipment and right-of-use assets as at 31 December 2023. The
recoverable amounts were calculated based on Value-In-Use (“VIU”) for the
non-current non-financial assets in Macau and compared with the carrying
amount as at 31 December 2023. The assets’ recoverable amounts as at 31
December 2023 were stated at the higher of the assets’ VIU and their fair
value less cost of disposal.

The assets’ VIU was determined by management based on the cash flow
forecasts of the CGU, which required the use of key assumptions including
the budgeted revenue, budgeted gross margin and expected growth rates based
on management’s business plan on operation of the CGU, the current market
circumstances and management’s expectation of market development, as well
as suitable discount rates.

Given the subjectivity of estimates and management judgement in the
impairment assessment and the material amounts involved, we considered this

area to be important to our audit.

The relevant disclosures of the Group’s non-current non-financial assets are
included in notes 3, 16, 17 and 18 to the consolidated financial statements.
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

. We enquired of management in relation to the key assumptions and
estimates used in the preparation of the cash flow forecasts, and
compared these assumptions and estimates with the Group’s historical
results and independent market data;

. we evaluated the management’s forecast by comparing the previous
year’s forecast against current year’s actual results and considered the
validity for explanations on any significant variances;

. we checked the arithmetical accuracy of the forecasts used in the
recoverable amount calculation;

. we assessed the independence, objectivity and competence of the
external valuer;

. we involved our internal valuation specialists to assist us in the
evaluation of the valuation methodology, discount rates and other
assumptions used by the management and external valuer in preparing
the valuation and performing the assessment; and

. we considered the adequacy of disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements.

OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL
REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included in the Annual Report,
other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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Independent Review Report (Continued)

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of the
Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as a body, and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability
to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by
the directors.

. Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists,
we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
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Independent Review Report (Continued)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

. Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence and
to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in
our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s
report is Chow Chi Chung.

Ernst & Young
Certitied Public Accountants
Hong Kong

28 March 2024
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and
Other Comprehensive Income

HEZF =+ A=1+—HILEE
Year ended 31 December 2023

2023 2022
i T#x T
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
I i Revenue 5 901,645 711,605
B R s A Cost of sales and services (741,353) (1,046,963)
160,292 (335,358)
HAMA ~ Wizt KgiE - HER Other income, gains and losses, net 7 (1,114) 19,850
IV E AR Share of results of an associate 20 - (7,084)
S RVE B R Impairment losses on financial assets 8 (50) (1,592)
T e B R B S Marketing and promotional expenses (106,102) (80,139)
I~ ATEU A 32 Operating, administrative and other expenses (259,029) (241,148)
il A Finance costs 9 (202,849) (109,973)
Bl Hi e 48 LOSS BEFORE TAX 12 (408,852) (755,444)
S Bk S Income tax credit 13 403,931 148,235
A A 4R LOSS FOR THE YEAR (4,921) (607,209)
HAtr A OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME:
TETE A I AT BETE AT 7 Other comprehensive income that may be
F1F a2 H M E reclassitied to profit or loss in subsequent
WA - periods:
WA AN ER B AR Exchange differences on translation of foreign
[i 50,7 FH operations
B A — subsidiaries 1,938 481
A HA A A Other comprehensive income for the year 1,938 481
A TR 4 THI e $H AR AR TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR THE YEAR (2,983) (606,728)
(i 2] LOSS PER SHARE
FEAR (A Basic (HK cents)
— R — For loss for the year 15 (0.08) 9.79)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

ZER St ZA=1T—H
31 December 2023

e St e St
2023 2022
Bt Tt Tkt
Notes HK$°000 HK$°000
i) B NON-CURRENT ASSETS
&Y % Investment properties 16 446,771 464,765
%%&‘ﬁ)’%ﬁ Property and equipment 17 4,571,922 4,880,365
o PR Right-of-use assets 18 1,150,094 1,200,393
HoAb AT & Other intangible assets 19 43,305 44,027
S NP 4y Investment in an associate 20 - -
] i 2 m) R Loan to an associate 21 210,388 116,467
O %4 Deposits paid 22 229,184 219,648
FE U By K Total non-current assets 6,652,164 6,925,665
) CURRENT ASSETS
peSty Inventories 23 21,321 21,304
B 5 B HA E IR Trade and other receivables,

?Eﬁz‘&ﬁﬁ%ﬁlﬁ deposits and prepayments 24 124,224 114,398
CHEHRERAT Ak Pledged bank deposits 25 1,674 1,672
B RERAT & R Cash and bank balances 25 63,233 87,341

LB i AR Total current assets 210,452 224,715
T A K CURRENT LIABILITIES
5 Ty B F A RE A #0E Trade and other payables 26 367,911 218,862
JEABL K Tax payable 770 433,864
SRAT B HABAR R Bank and other borrowings

— JA—AE N F A — due within one year 27 633,607 542,319

iEN=N=K Lease liabilities 28 7,732 7,326
Tl A AR Total current liabilities 1,010,020 1,202,371
T & R AR NET CURRENT LIABILITIES (799,568) (977,656)
By g S =L TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 5,852,596 5,948,009
I E) A NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

SRAT S HABAE K Bank and other borrowings

— AR — due after one year 27 1,934,949 2,015,632
FHE A Lease liabilities 28 86,384 91,625
R SEBLIE & Deferred tax liabilities 29 126,034 132,540

FE W Eh B LA Total non-current liabilities 2,147,367 2,239,797
R R Net assets 3,705,229 3,708,212
gk EQUITY

A Share capital 30 620,119 620,119

Tt Reserves 3,085,110 3,088,093
HE 25 4% Total equity 3,705,229 3,708,212

Zs kb B 2% 1%
FHE FHE
Li Chu Kwan Chan Mei Yi, Melinda
Director Director
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

[ a—
Year ended 31 December 2023

FEtZH =t —HIMEE

JBe A Bt At 8 oo it = Wi il i+ A Bt At
Share Share Other Legal Translation Accumulated
capital premium* reserve* reserve* reserve* losses* Total
THIT TH#IT T IT THTT THTT THIT T
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000
(HHREG) (FfF (i)
(note (i) (note (ii))

WoE - HF—~H—H At 1 January 2022 620,119 4,163,765 (323,835) 6,915 58,960 (210,984) 4,314,940

ER R Loss for the year - - - - - (607,209) (607,209)

AE R A A A Other comprehensive

income for the year - - - - 481 - 481

AN 2T R A Total comprehensive

loss for the year - - - - 481 (607,209) (606,728)

SECTHETZA=T—H At31 December 2022 and
ﬁ EoZHE—H—H 1 January 2023 620,119 4,163,765 (323,835) 6,915 59,441 (818,193) 3,708,212

N R Loss for the year = = = = = (4,921) (4,921)
AR HA A A Other comprehensive

income for the year - - - - 1,938 - 1,938
AR T AR Total comprehensive

loss for the year - - - - 1,938 (4,921) (2,983)

MEEFZZFFH=1+—H  At31 December 2023 620,119 4,163,765 (323,835) 6,915 61,379 (823,114) 3,705,229

st Notes:

(1) 7 A 8] 1 Al i 7952'—(/ \ﬂqﬁiﬁﬁﬂ"l i Je 2 w1 1) @) The other reserve of the Group represents the difference between the nominal
JBeA7s T {BLBLAS 20 W) s &N AR -+ H AR value of the shares of subsidiaries acquired by the Company and the nominal
SH IR AR U ST I A 2 \1}3&{5}E{EE"J FHE o value of the shares of the Company issued for acquisition at the time of group

reorganisation in December 2006.
(i) RFEEEARRIFILME (T Ak ik (i)  In accordance with the Enterprise Law of the Lao People’s Democratic Republic
BB A ) B 2 ] P 2RO O A& g (“Lao PDR”), the subsidiary registered in Lao PDR is required to transfer not
R 1091 i FliE 2 0 2 ftfle > HEAHE less than 10% of its profits of each accounting period to its legal reserve, until
FERR A AR BB 2 W) 2 — 2R oA - the amount reaches an amount equal to half of the share capital of the respective
subsidiary.

* WS IR B @ fERN F EFE T A * These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of HK$3,085,110,000
=t —HMEEG W ;U( WL R £ A in the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2023 (31
3,085,110,000# 7T (—&F — —4F+ A =+— December 2022: HK$3,088,093,000).

H @ 3,088,093,00045 70) °
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

WE T =F A= HIREE

Year ended 31 December 2023

2023 2022
{oR: T#x T
Notes HK$°000 HK$’000
KA EEEE < Bl CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
BB i s 4R Loss before tax (408,852) (755,444)
Lk T 9 1R L i Adjustments for:
FLEUE A Interest income 7 (206) (10,722)
FEBH L Interest expenses 9 202,849 109,973
A H I 5t (g 4) s 18 1 4 Unrealised exchange (gain)/loss, net (264) 8,066
ea=grZinEr 0| Reversal of allowance for inventories 12 (390) (3,139)
iU /ESii Depreciation of investment properties 12 17,994 11,404
L EI S i Depreciation of property and equipment 12 311,989 346,812
A6 R AT Depreciation of right-of-use assets 12 50,599 52,544
W Rkt Y Loss on disposal of property and equipment
e 7 11,958 66
AR TR ELCOVID-19 COVID-19-related rent concessions from lessors
AR B PO L < 8 A1 - (5.524)
At ST B Amortisation of other intangible assets 12 1,007 9,302
2 5 MUK T ol (B A 18 Impairment losses on trade receivables 8 42 1,591
HoAth FEW3KIE (Rl {583 5])  (Reversal of impairment losses)/impairment losses
R on other receivables 8 2) 1
A AR RER TR Loss on change in fair value of financial assets
SR 2 s A AH SR B R 1R at fair value through profit or loss 7 - 10,967
ban el T - F/NEIE S Share of results of an associate - 7,084
186,724 (217,019)
1AL Decrease in inventories 373 6,125
& 5 Jx HAb REUSERIE ~ 4 M (Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables,
TSI B ) b deposits and prepayments (16,916) 149,178
5 B HA AT SR, Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables
(kD) 48,811 (139,547)
BT T F) B4 Cash from/(used in) operations 218,992 (201,263)
CAT TS HL Income tax paid (36,454) (41,316)
S E TS, () B4R Net cash flows from/(used in) operating activities
T 182,538 (242,579)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (Continued)

HEZF =+ A=1+—HILEE
Year ended 31 December 2023

2023 2022
i T#x T
Notes HK$°000 HK$’000
A B B By < Bl i i CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
W 2 A Purchase of property and equipment (16,324) (42,390)
Iin] — FHI W 7 2 ) AR Advance to an associate (94,421) _
BN Deposits paid (3,608) (5,837)
R B /] 2 CloE 4 Deposits received from disposal of a subsidiary 78,153 -
E LS Interest received 204 10,722
A R(EFHE R R Proceeds from disposal of financial assets at fair
T\ MR Y 4 T 2 T A A value through profit or loss = 197,371
B W) 2 B Al T A S Proceeds from disposal of property and equipment 3,135 124
BEEE () B8 B& i Net cash flows (used in)/from investing activities
T (32,861) 159,990
B RS B < Bl i i CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
(B SR T B HoAh 15 2K Repayment of bank and other borrowings (70,500) (213,000)
EATFLE Interest paid (172,572) (97,341)
R A ARG Repayments of principal portion of lease liabilities (10,788) (6,043)
BT LA K Bank and other borrowings raised 80,000 350,000
RSB (T ) TS & TR Net cash flows (used in)/generated from financing
T activities (173,860) 33,616
Bl KB B2 Y oD i NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS (24,183) (48,973)
TAAERIY B4 1 3 4 5 Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 87,341 132,596
SIS TE S B 15228 TRAE Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net 75 3,718
R B RO B EY) CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END
MER G RAFIRDL R T B4 % OF YEAR, REPRESENTING CASH AND
ATHER BANK BALANCES AS STATED IN THE
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION 63,233 87,341

110 MR AIEARAT] 202345



woa BB ok W

=

W1 Y B B A PR~ R (TAS A W] ) R —
RN A I A2 RESREHS
BERS A~ AL SR 225 (— JUS— 4R 505 = Mk
B KEERE BAERT) 5T ML S R
PR W] > B i 7 vE W 5 28 5 BT A BR
ANEINAD T D O o R /AN N 2
{1t 3% <5 b #b ik 5 Cricket Square, Hutchins
Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-
1111, Cayman Islands » T A2 &) A PR 4R
AT Bl (TP 1) 1Y 2 S B I o 1
P AT R R I B B £ 00 A1l R G s R N
(CTIEA=PN

AAF L EER AT - HMBEARZ
FEEBFGE IR M 41 - R F
CEFETA=ET R REER R
P4 A R e R B (VR P i A TS B
B NR R AL ME ([Z])) e
Savan Legend A 105 5 J% 16 44 47 5 T
H ([Savan Legend EE{RAT]) o #M ¥ A
5 B 5 JEe i UL 2 s S VR AR B 1R~
JE -~ g SR G ) R AR A R © Savan
Legend B R B 24 17 & S A€ S 18082 S0 I
B SR RAIEE -

R 452 B YR AR 4 A R A 00 A BIR N ) (A
WRARA D) (R = BRI A R 2 —)
TERBNAENA AT BT R 1
(TR Bs k) MHABBRT » A%
] i L PR E 85 B 1 IR A A 4R L
TR o AN 4 [ B R 5 A A 2 B RS T
HOM ZFEZ_HEANH ZHAHER
[FH > R 45 A SR PR A9 TR IS
SRR - A E - ENA TR
H > A2 [ B R 47 5 5T o7 85 IRFS 1) ok
RIB Sk (TRHBED) > DS R = %
TR T HZ R o AT T T
T AZH S REE BB RS SETL
— 3T 1 5 3 = A A RO o ek o DA T R
ARG RAEANE - HERE  ES - BPH
B ER T B foh o S Ll R B R %
HoZE T =4F—H— A =4F (TR
Bshrgkl) o MR T - =FINH = HE
B R e 1 2 — I W 8% > AR
A% 427,000,000 G B F2 L8R AT 5 (4
82,000,000 7T T L4 A o

W E D TAENA T EH s WEUT
R 2 5 B R HL A BT A R L ) B A
LA NP HEAS Wi BIRR th =% — 4K
A-t+ANB#RERE "X "4+ A
=Ft—H -} _F 4+ AR
H o> W5 47 A B H fh B 7R b2 =) B g8
LA N IE OB 5 0+ 4 r R it
> DURR 5 B Y BOURF 5T 57 ) HL B LG
O[] A TR B 4 35 46 42 R 4 35 5 il

% o

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R =t A=+ —H
31 December 2023

GENERAL INFORMATION

Macau Legend Development Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 5 October 2006 as an exempted
company with limited liability under the Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Law
3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands and its
shares are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The registered office of the
Company is located at Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681,
Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands and the principal place
of business of the Company in Macau Special Administrative Region
(“Macau”) is located at Palace Building, Macau Fisherman’s Wharf,
Avenida da Amizade e Avenida da Dr. Sun Yat Sen, Macau.

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 41. As at 31 December
2023, the Group owned Macau Fisherman’s Wharf (“MFW?”) in
Macau and Savan Legend Resorts Hotel and Entertainment Complex
(“Savan Legend Resorts”) in Lao People’s Democratic Republic (“Lao
PDR”). MFW is a waterfront integrated gaming, hotel, convention
and entertainment complex located on the outer harbour of the Macau
Peninsula. Savan Legend Resorts is an integrated resort which is
engaged in gaming and hotel business in Lao PDR.

Pursuant to the service agreement dated 25 September 2006 (the “Old
Service Agreement”) and its related amendments entered into with SIM
Resorts S.A. (“SJM”), being one of the three original concessionaires
in Macau, the Group provides gaming services to SJM in its premises
in Macau. The Old Service Agreement between the Group and SJM
expired on 26 June 2022 when the term of SJM concession agreement
with the Macau government ended on the same date. On 16 June 2022,
the Group entered into an addendum to the Old Service Agreement
with SJM (the “Addendum”) that the service period was extended to
31 December 2022. On 30 December 2022, the Group signed a new
three-year service agreement with SJM for the provision of services in
selling, promotion, advertising, customer development and introduction,
coordination of activities and other related services to SJM for a
term of three years commencing 1 January 2023 (the “New Service
Agreement”). Pursuant to the 1st Addendum of the New Service
Agreement signed on 3 April 2023, the Group paid a deposit of HK$7.0
million and provided a bank guarantee of HK$82.0 million to STM.

On 23 June 2022, the Macau government extended the term of
concession agreements of SJM and all the other concessionaires and
sub-concessionaires from 26 June 2022 to 31 December 2022. On 16
December 2022, SJM, together with other existing concessionaires
and sub-concessionaires, were formally awarded a ten-year gaming
concession for the operation of casino games of fortune in Macau under
a definitive gaming contract entered into with the Macau government.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

2.1

112

K=+t H=+—H
31 December 2023

—RE R (4

FR A% 48 565 7/202295 15 AEFT 1 55 16/2001
URUIUPREHIRCUE 37 Rt Sus A (b sie
WY 1) ol 48 3 5 88 RS 468 28 0 A o
FE) SUFFELAT A0 B IR TR — AR T Y
A 5 408 S G A VL 1) DR 4 BB TR A 4 4
T 1Y) 355 T A A A A o AN S T B
S W R A R B A AE - A
ANF R ([HEF]) R > AL AT
LR AR A A A TP AR A A Y BT A
BT -

E2IE 2 2

MoE =+ T A=+ —H o AEE
A B & E R4 4)799,600,0009 50 > i
WEE_Z =A== —HIEE
J AR s 1R 1R AE 4,900,000 0T 0 R E
CTEET T AZE—H o AREERMRAT
Hof £ AR %E 152,568,600,00045 75 - Hi
633,600,000 TG > — 47 1 2 HA M - 1
HBI 4 R ARAT R 563,200,000 7T

BTN EEN R EREALSHE
633,600,000% G > 50,000,000% JCHE 2R
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2.1

GENERAL INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

In accordance with the Macau Law No. 16/2001 (the “Macau Gaming
Law”), as amended by Law No. 7/2022, that the Macau Gaming Law
allows existing satellite casinos to continue to operate in premises not
owned by Macau casino gaming concessionaries during a three-year
transition period. The Group has maintained regular discussions with
SIM on the continuation of cooperation beyond the transition period.
The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) have confirmed the
Group intends to continue operating all of the Group’s principal
businesses in Macau for the foreseeable future.

BASIS OF PRESENTATION

The Group had net current liabilities of approximately HK$799.6
million as at 31 December 2023 and incurred a net loss of HK$4.9
million during the year ended 31 December 2023. The Group’s total
bank and other borrowings amounted to HK$2,568.6 million, of which
HK$633.6 million will be due for repayment within one year from the
reporting date, while its cash and bank balances amounted to HK$63.2
million as at 31 December 2023.

Within the total outstanding amount of HK$633.6 million, which is due
for repayment within one year from the reporting date, HK$50.0 million
represents a loan from the controlling shareholder, and HK$100.0
million represents a loan from a substantial shareholder. The controlling
shareholder and the substantial shareholder have confirmed in writing
that they agreed not to request for repayment until 31 August 2024
and 31 March 2024, respectively. Notwithstanding that the Group has
yet to obtain updated letters of financial support from the controlling
shareholder and the substantial shareholder of the Company for not
demanding for repayment of these loans in the coming 12 months from
the reporting date, the Group expects that, based on past experience, the
said outstanding shareholders’ loans will continue beyond the current
term.

On 20 December 2023, the Group entered into an agreement pursuant
to which the Group agreed to sell the entire shares of MLD Resorts
Laos Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Group, for a total
consideration of US$39.0 million (approximately equivalent to
HK$304.2 million). The Group considers that the disposal shall
strengthen the cash flow of the Group allowing the Group to enhance its
liquidity, and that the Group can reallocate more financial resources to
its business operation in Macau and for overall future development. As
of the date of the approval of these consolidated financial statements,
the aforesaid transaction has not been completed.
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2.1 BASIS OF PRESENTATION (CONTINUED)

Notwithstanding the management’s expectation and forecast as outlined
above, there remains circumstances that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. The Directors
consider that the Group will have adequate funds available to enable
it to continue its operations as a going concern and have sufficient
working capital to satisfy its present requirements for at least 12 months
from the end of the reporting period, based on the Group’s profit
forecast and cash flow projection which, inter alia, take into account the
following with a view to improving the Group’s liquidity:

(a) a substantial shareholder of the Company has confirmed in
writing not to demand repayment of certain loans in the aggregate
amount of HK$330.0 million prior to 31 March 2025, and will
continue to provide financial support to the Group;

(b) the Group will be able to obtain continual support from the
controlling shareholder and a substantial shareholder of the
Company by not requesting for repayment of shareholders’ loans
of HK$150.0 million in aggregate;

(c) management will take the necessary steps to complete the
disposal of the Group’s operation in The Lao People’s Democratic
Republic to strengthen cash flow for the Group’s business;

(d) the Group has undertaken and will continue to undertake various
mitigating measures to manage the current business environment,
including a cost control program to minimise the cash outflow of
non-essential items; and

(e)  with the full border normalisation since mid of 2023, and riding
on the Macau government target for international visitors to pre-
COVID level in 2024, the Group expects that this could lead to
improved business and financial performance for the Group.

The Directors believe that, taking into account of the above factors,
the Group will have sufficient working capital to satisfy its present
requirements for at least the next 12 months from the end of the
reporting period. Accordingly, the Directors are satisfied that it is
appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial statements of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 on a going concern basis.

Should the going concern assumption be inappropriate, adjustments
may have to be made to the carrying values of the Group’s assets to
state them at their recoverable amounts, to provide for any further
liabilities which might arise and to reclassify its non-current assets
and non-current liabilities to current assets and current liabilities,
respectively. The effect of these adjustments have not been reflected in
the consolidated financial statements.
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2.2 BASIS OF PREPARATION

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong Kong Financial Report Standards,
Hong Kong Accounting Standards (” HKASs”) and Interpretations)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA™) and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars (“HK$”), which is also the functional currency of the Company
and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand except when
otherwise indicated. They have been prepared under the historical cost
convention, except for financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
which have been measured at fair value.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements
of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2023. A subsidiary is an
entity, directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is
achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns
from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that
give the Group the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the
investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights results
in control. When the Company has less than a majority of the voting
or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all relevant facts
and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee,
including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the
investee;

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(c)  the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same
reporting period as the Company, using consistent accounting policies.
The results of the subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which
the Group obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the date
that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group and to the non-
controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling interests
having a deficit balance. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity,
income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between
members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and
circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of the three
elements of control described above. A change in ownership interest
of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity
transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the related
assets (including goodwill), liabilities, any non-controlling interest
and the exchange fluctuation reserve; and recognises the fair value of
any investment retained and any resulting surplus or deficit in profit or
loss. The Group’s share of components previously recognised in other
comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits,
as appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the Group had
directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following new and revised HKFRSs for the
first time for the current year’s financial statements.

Rl
Insurance Contracts

GaTE A PeE
Disclosure of Accounting Policies

Bt it i9E 7%

Definition of Accounting Estimates

BT 7 o A 19 B R B (e B A B I

Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction

R P — S s AR A

International Tax Reform — Pillar Two Model Rules
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2.3 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

Except as described below, the adoption of the amendments to HKFRSs
in the current period has had no material impact on the Group’s financial
performance and position for the current and prior periods and/or on the
disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements. The nature
and the impact of the new and revised HKFRSs that are applicable to
the Group are described below:

(a)

(b)

(©)

Amendments to HKAS 1 require entities to disclose their material
accounting policy information rather than their significant
accounting policies. Accounting policy information is material
if, when considered together with other information included in
an entity’s financial statements, it can reasonably be expected
to influence decisions that the primary users of general purpose
financial statements make on the basis of those financial
statements. Amendments to HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Making
Materiality Judgements provide non-mandatory guidance on
how to apply the concept of materiality to accounting policy
disclosures. The Group has disclosed the material accounting
policy information in note 2 to the financial statements. The
amendments did not have any impact on the measurement,
recognition or presentation of any items in the Group’s financial
statements.

Amendments to HKAS 8 clarify the distinction between changes
in accounting estimates and changes in accounting policies.
Accounting estimates are defined as monetary amounts in
financial statements that are subject to measurement uncertainty.
The amendments also clarify how entities use measurement
techniques and inputs to develop accounting estimates. Since
the Group’s approach and policy align with the amendments, the
amendments had no impact on the Group’s financial statements.

Amendment to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction narrow the scope
of the initial recognition exception in HKAS 12 so that it no
longer applies to transactions that give rise to equal taxable
and deductible temporary differences, such as leases and
decommissioning obligations. Therefore, entities are required to
recognise a deferred tax asset (provided that sufficient taxable
profit is available) and a deferred tax liability for temporary
differences arising from these transactions.

The adoption of amendments to HKAS 12 did not have any
material impact on the basic and diluted loss per share attributable
to ordinary equity holders of the Group, other comprehensive
income and the consolidated statements of cash flows for the
years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.
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2.3 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

()

Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax Reform — Pillar Two
Model Rules introduce a mandatory temporary exception from
the recognition and disclosure of deferred taxes arising from
the implementation of the Pillar Two model rules published by
the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development.
The amendments also introduce disclosure requirements for the
affected entities to help users of the financial statements better
understand the entities’ exposure to Pillar Two income taxes,
including the disclosure of current tax related to Pillar Two
income taxes separately in the periods when Pillar Two legislation
is effective and the disclosure of known or reasonably estimable
information of their exposure to Pillar Two income taxes in
periods in which the legislation is enacted or substantively
enacted but not yet in effect. The Group has applied the
amendments retrospectively. Since the Group did not fall within
the scope of the Pillar Two model rules, the amendments did not
have any impact to the Group.

2.4 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following revised HKFRSs, that have
been issued but are not yet effective, in these financial statements. The

Group intends to apply these revised HKFRSs, if applicable, when they

become effective.

B v PG E I SE 109 S A s g eI 52898
(MEFTA)
Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28

BB HLILIG 23 7] 2 6 5 R A 2 Y B ] 67 3 P

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture?

Fr v A HS i HE RIS 1658 (IERT7R)
Amendments to HKFRS 16

BT P9 A
Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback’

B RS B 2 TE D ) ([ B 7T A ))
Classitication of Liabilities as Current or Non-current (the “2020
Amendments”)"*

ke st UE RIS 158 BRI A
Amendments to HKAS 1

ARG A A IR A5 ([~ F = A ERT A )

Non-current liabilities with Covenants (the “2022 Amendments”) '#

FHEFHERSE 19E (BRTA0)
Amendments to HKAS 1

LI I il 2

Supplier Finance Arrangements’

Fr v w e ) 557 5% 2 o P A U RIS 7 5% (B T A%)
Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7

HZ B S
Lack of Exchangeability’

s gt 2198 (EHT40)
Amendments to HKAS 21
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ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025

3 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption

As a consequence of the 2020 Amendments and 2022 Amendments,
Hong Kong Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial Statements —
Classitication by the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a Repayment
on Demand Clause was revised to align the corresponding wording with
no change in conclusion.

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected to be
applicable to the Group is described below.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 address an inconsistency
between the requirements in HKFRS 10 and in HKAS 28 in dealing
with the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its
associate or joint venture. The amendments require a full recognition
of a gain or loss resulting from a downstream transaction when the
sale or contribution of assets constitutes a business. For a transaction
involving assets that do not constitute a business, a gain or loss resulting
from the transaction is recognised in the investor’s profit or loss only
to the extent of the unrelated investor’s interest in that associate or joint
venture. The amendments are to be applied prospectively. The previous
mandatory effective date of amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28
was removed by the HKICPA. However, the amendments are available
for adoption now.

Amendments to HKFRS 16 specity the requirements that a seller-lessee
uses in measuring the lease liability arising in a sale and leaseback
transaction to ensure the seller-lessee does not recognise any amount of
the gain or loss that relates to the right of use it retains. The amendments
are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024
and shall be applied retrospectively to sale and leaseback transactions
entered into after the date of initial application of HKFRS 16 (i.e., 1
January 2019). Earlier application is permitted. The amendments are
not expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.



T )

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

2.4 ELAE A 1E v A A 280 A 1 B 5 i ot

1 (A7)

SRR ERTAER T AES B
B EE B B HE o B R
EAEEN R > DRI E A E
R JHAE o R AT AE » B2 70 8
AN a2 B AT (o HL A A R B ORE AR
ATRETER R B o RZIERT A SRS T AR
ALUAH A S THAE - A
R (R P A BB R A S 1 T B AR
THAMRE - BRI GRRA N e B
OB e SER AR BRI AME SR
LY E AW B ERAGT - RAH
HE A i i B W6 B ST IR A &
MRS RE SR RE) o R 4A
SETER A B AR 124 H R a6 ST R A
MR IR B AR > T BOEATRUMIGR -
% M6 R AS B G BB T - 0 Fo R PR AR
F oo 4R HLE R R R AN T
IR R R E ) B AR ERTA . R
IRIR o ASE T H AT IETE SEAL sZ B 7T A
MR U RBUA B O T W R
Al e ARERIL AL > BT AHMA S
S A A O] Y S8 5 S R B BT e K R
2 .

s I S 7 R D 7 s P i A Y
TR (ERTA) I 1AL v A PR
TR SR E L R% A 4 PR RO
o WZIEHTAS B ER BE B 7E T B B S
i 2 M 5 P40 T O R
9 AR~ B R L O R SR B i 1
MB o ZERTA TR R o BT
AR WS~ B HCE A
SE B AE SR T 0T R 4 3t T S P
Wt o THRFRZAE AT AS A G B AR [
e E L RERLE N2

A g RS2 158 (B RTA0) 45 1 B i
T G4l B R W SR A T — R
VAR AE Bk Z T SEHPE RS DL T o R
oAy Al AR RE A o SZAERT A
BORAER EORE (o IV i 3 T e A
W B WO AT S AR I R B o AR T
o AE R RZAERT A > BB A REEE At
PCRR R o W0 4 HE % AE R AS B AT AT 2
R BEAE ) 40 e ) 2 e sl o IR B
it M) 300 200 5 L 1) A R R i B A A
#lS 73 v SR ) B W B 2 R A R (v
) o FHEFRZAE R A AN 1 A S A B B
L EERERIE DN~

24

ZER St ZA=1T—H
31 December 2023
ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

The 2020 Amendments clarify the requirements for classifying liabilities
as current or non-current, including what is meant by a right to defer
settlement and that a right to defer must exist at the end of the reporting
period. Classification of a liability is unaffected by the likelihood that
the entity will exercise its right to defer settlement. The amendments
also clarify that a liability can be settled in its own equity instruments,
and that only if a conversion option in a convertible liability is itself
accounted for as an equity instrument would the terms of a liability not
impact its classification. The 2022 Amendments further clarify that,
among covenants of a liability arising from a loan arrangement, only
those with which an entity must comply on or before the reporting
date affect the classification of that liability as current or non-current.
Additional disclosures are required for non-current liabilities that
are subject to the entity complying with future covenants within 12
months after the reporting period. The amendments shall be applied
retrospectively with early application permitted. An entity that applies
the 2020 Amendments early is required to apply simultaneously the
2022 Amendments, and vice versa. The Group is currently assessing the
impact of the amendments and whether existing loan agreements may
require revision. Based on a preliminary assessment, the amendments
are not expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 clarify the characteristics of
supplier finance arrangements and require additional disclosure of
such arrangements. The disclosure requirements in the amendments
are intended to assist users of financial statements in understanding
the effects of supplier finance arrangements on an entity’s liabilities,
cash flows and exposure to liquidity risk. Earlier application of the
amendments is permitted. The amendments provide certain transition
reliefs regarding comparative information, quantitative information as
at the beginning of the annual reporting period and interim disclosures.
The amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on the
Group’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 21 specify how an entity shall assess whether a
currency is exchangeable into another currency and how it shall estimate
a spot exchange rate at a measurement date when exchangeability is
lacking. The amendments require disclosures of information that enable
users of financial statements to understand the impact of a currency not
being exchangeable. Earlier application is permitted. When applying
the amendments, an entity cannot restate comparative information.
Any cumulative effect of initially applying the amendments shall be
recognised as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained profits
or to the cumulative amount of translation differences accumulated in
a separate component of equity, where appropriate, at the date of initial
application. The amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Fair value measurement

The Group measures certain financial instruments at fair value at the
end of each reporting period. Fair value is the price that would be
received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The
fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction
to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either in the principal
market for the asset or liability, or in the absence of a principal market,
in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal
or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the Group. The
fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions
that market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability,
assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account
a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using
the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market
participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the
circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure fair
value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising
the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in
the financial statements are categorised within the fair value hierarchy,
described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant
to the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 —based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level input
that is significant to the fair value measurement is observable,
either directly or indirectly

Level 3 —based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level
input that is significant to the fair value measurement is
unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements
on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether transfers have
occurred between levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation
(based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Investment in an associate

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long term interest
of generally not less than 20% of the equity voting rights and over
which it has significant influence. Significant influence is the power
to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the
investee, but is not control or joint control over those policies.

The Group’s share of results and net assets of an associate are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using the equity
method of accounting. The financial statement of an associate used
for equity accounting purposes are prepared using uniform accounting
policies as those of the Group for like transactions and events in similar
circumstances. Under the equity method, an investment in an associate is
initially recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position at
cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income of the associate. In addition, when
there has been a change recognised directly in the equity of the associate,
the Group recognises its share of any changes, when applicable, in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity. When the Group’s share of
losses of an associate exceeds the Group’s interest in that associate, the
Group discontinues recognising its share of further losses. Additional
losses are recognised only to the extent that the Group has incurred legal
or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.

An investment in an associate is accounted for using the equity
method from the date on which the investee becomes an associate.
On acquisition of the investment in an associate, any excess of the
cost of the investment over the Group’s share of the net fair value
of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee is recognised
as goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of the
investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment, after
reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss in the period in
which the investment is acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence that the
interest in an associate may be impaired. When any objective evidence
exists, the entire carrying amount of the investment is tested for
impairment in accordance with HKAS 36 as a single asset by comparing
its recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value less costs
of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognised
is not allocated to any asset that forms part of the carrying amount of
the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised in
accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of
the net investment subsequently increases.

When the Group transacts with an associate, profits and losses resulting
from the transactions with the associate are recognised in the Group’s
consolidated financial statements only to the extent of interests in the
associate that are not related to the Group.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance obligation
is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or services underlying the
particular performance obligation is transferred to the customer at an
amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be
entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

A performance obligation represents a promise in a contract with a
customer to transfer to the customer either (a) a good or service (or a
bundle of goods or services) that is distinct; or (b) a series of distinct
goods or services that are substantially the same and that have the same
pattern of transfer to the customer.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over time by
reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation if one of the following criteria is met:

. the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits
provided by the Group’s performance as the Group performs;

. the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that the
customer controls as the assets is created or enhanced; or

. the Group’s performance does not create an asset with an
alternative use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable
right to payment for performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the customer
obtains control of the distinct goods or services.

Contracts with multiple performance obligations (including allocation
of transaction price)

For contracts that contain more than one performance obligation
including an obligation to provide goods or services to customers on
complementary basis or related to the customer relationship programs,
the Group allocates the transaction price to each performance obligation
on a relative stand-alone selling price basis.

The stand-alone selling price of the distinct good or service underlying
each performance obligation is determined at contract inception. It
represents the price at which the Group would sell a promised good or
service separately to a customer. If a stand-alone selling price is not
directly observable, the Group estimates it using appropriate techniques
such that the transaction price ultimately allocated to any performance
obligation reflects the amount of consideration to which the Group
expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring the promised goods or
services to the customer.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)
Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods or services to a
customer, the Group determines whether the nature of its promise is a
performance obligation to provide the specified goods or services itself
(i.e. the Group is a principal) or to arrange for those goods or services to
be provided by the other party (i.e. the Group is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified good or service
before that good or service is transferred to a customer.

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation is to arrange for the
provision of the specified good or service by another party. In this case,
the Group does not control the specified good or service provided by
another party before that good or service is transferred to the customer.
When the Group acts as an agent, it recognises revenue in the amount of
any fee or commission to which it expects to be entitled in exchange for
arranging for the specified goods or services to be provided by the other

party.
Interest income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective
interest method by applying the rate that exactly discounts the estimated
future cash receipts over the expected life of the financial instrument
or a shorter period, when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the
financial asset.

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn licensing income
and/or for capital appreciation, rather than for use in the production or
supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes; or for sale in
the ordinary course of business.

Investment properties are measured initially at cost, including
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment
properties are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any
accumulated impairment losses. Depreciation is recognised so as to
write off the cost of investment properties over their estimated useful
lives and after taking into account of their estimated residual value, using
the straight-line method.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Investment properties (Continued)

An investment property is derecognised on disposal or when the
investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and no future
economic benefits are expected from its disposal. Any gain or loss
arising from derecognition of the property (calculated as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset) is included in profit or loss in the period in which the property is
derecognised.

For a transfer from investment properties to owner-occupied properties
or inventories, the deemed cost of a property for subsequent accounting is
its carrying amount at the date of change in use. If a property occupied
by the Group as an owner-occupied property becomes an investment
property, the Group accounts for such property in accordance with the
policy stated under “Property and equipment” for owned property and/
or accounts for such property in accordance with the policy stated under
“Right-of-use assets” for property held as a right-of-use asset up to the
date of change in use.

Property and equipment

Property and equipment (other than construction in progress) are stated
at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. The
cost of an item of property and equipment comprises its purchase price
and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working
condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property and equipment have been
put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is normally charged
to profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred. In situations
where the recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a
major inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset as
a replacement. Where significant parts of property and equipment are
required to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises such parts
as individual assets with specific useful lives and depreciates them
accordingly.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Property and equipment (Continued)

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of each item of
property and equipment (other than construction in progress) less their
residual values over (i) in the case of gaming machinery and equipment,
the shorter of their estimated useful lives and ten years, based on the
ten-year gaming concession granted to SJM commencing 1 January
2023; and (ii) in the case of other property and equipment, their estimated
useful lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives,
residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted
for on a prospective basis. The principal annual rates used for this
purpose are as follows:

Buildings Over the shorter of the term of
the lease and 2%
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 5% — 50%

Over the shorter of the term of
the lease and 10% — 33%

Leasehold improvements

Motor vehicles 10% —25%
Vessels 10%
Machinery and equipment (except for 5% — 15%

“gaming machinery and equipment”)
Gaming machinery and equipment 10% —20%

An item of property and equipment including any significant part
initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or
loss on disposal or retirement recognised in profit or loss in the year the
asset is derecognised is the difference between the net sales proceeds
and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress represents integrated resort under development
or construction, which is stated at cost less any impairment losses,
and is not depreciated. Cost comprises the direct costs of construction
and capitalised borrowing costs on related borrowed funds during the
period of construction. Construction in progress is reclassified to the
appropriate category of property, plant and equipment when completed
and ready for use.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or
contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified or arising from business
combinations on or after the date of initial application, the Group
assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease based on the definition
under HKFRS 16 at inception, modification date or acquisition date, as
appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed unless the terms and
conditions of the contract are subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach for
all leases, except for short-term leases. The Group recognises lease
liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets representing
the right to use the underlying assets.

At inception or on reassessment of a contract that contains a lease
component and non-lease components, the Group adopts the practical
expedient not to separate non-lease components and to account for the
lease component and the associated non-lease components as a single
lease component.

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its
short-term leases of machinery and equipment that have a lease term of
12 months or less from the commencement date and do not contain a
purchase option. Lease payments on short-term leases are recognised as
an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.



T )

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

HOR G wHBOR ()
M (4)

AL MEZ AN (8)
eI =

A A AR B B R A0 (RIDAR ) i T i
o P BG I 30) meROH FTIMEE E © fIHE
FE AR AR G o FUBRAE AT 2 5T 8 K B
[N 75 S W iR =g R DR ER TR T
TR g%

o 0 BB R A AR C R AL B
e - CEANPGEERA > UK
T B i F 38 S A AR AR 4
AR A AT 2 WA L B B R o o T
19 A TR B0 A5 HR BR K 8 A B - B
T8 SR B ¥ P T TE S M A A T ILAS

o7 B A LU A0 R ) A T
FRAEI A (DL & 70 ) 5 L ARA T -
GREEUNE

FHE T 25754
M 2F 54
B 34F
AR

O T AR 2 A 4 R e AR IR T B
He QIS OWE [ B T | (7 o B 5 o v
HIEE99E ) AR B HL 2 fufdst & - 3
028 e R IR 119 2% S0 (ELAE Hh 1 3 B8 A 2y
R M AT BRI A R A

HEAK

L B R AL B B i A 0 A
PE th 2 AR B A A A8 - L AT 3
5 78 5 A R (B BB 1 7 AT 3500 9 A AT
W AH B IR R R B R
T S8 AR AR B B T U AR 48 A R R £ (ELAE
Rz & H - BN E AR B 4 2
i 7 AT {6k B R SR A R 2 AT G > S AL
TR T A SR EAT (A RS AR - R
JE A L AL SORT K o 37 IR Hp it At
— 4 e b A 2 T AR A O i A
AN SRR DU B TR 2% B S

R =t A=+ —H
31 December 2023

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement date of the
lease (that is the date the underlying asset is available for use). Right-
of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation
and impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease
liabilities.

The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities
recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments made at
or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received.
The cost of a right-of-use asset also includes an estimate of costs to
dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to restore the underlying
asset or the site on which it is located.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the
shorter of the lease terms and the estimated useful lives of the assets as

follows:

Leasehold land 25 to 75 years
Buildings 2 to 5 years
Machinery 3 years

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS 9
Financial Instruments (“HKFRS 9) and initially measured at fair
value. Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are considered as
additional lease payments and included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date of the lease at
the present value of lease payments to be made over the lease term. The
lease payments include fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments
that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid
under residual value guarantees. The lease payments also include the
exercise price of a purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised
by the Group and payments of penalties for termination of a lease, if
the lease term reflects the Group exercising the option to terminate the
lease. The variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or
a rate are recognised as an expense in the period in which the event or
condition that triggers the payment occurs.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease liabilities (Continued)

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group uses its
incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement date because
the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After
the commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased
to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments
made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured
if there is a modification, a change in the lease term, a change in lease
payments (e.g., a change to future lease payments resulting from a
change in an index or rate) or a change in assessment of an option to
purchase the underlying asset.

Lease modifications

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate lease if:

. the modification increases the scope of the lease by adding the
right to use one or more underlying assets; and

. the consideration for the leases increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the increase in scope
and any appropriate adjustments to that stand-alone price to
reflect the circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate lease,
the Group remeasures the lease liability based on the lease term of
the modified lease by discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities by (a)
decreasing the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset to reflect
the partial or full termination of the lease for lease modifications that
decrease the scope of the lease. The Group recognises any gain or loss
relating to the partial or full termination of the lease in profit or loss;
or (b) making corresponding adjustments to the relevant right-of-use
asset for all other lease modifications. When the modified contract
contains a lease component and one or more additional lease or non-
lease components, the Group allocates the consideration in the modified
contract to each lease component on the basis of the relative stand-alone
price of the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of the
non-lease components.



T )

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

HOR G wHBOR ()
M (4)
AL 25 RN

WA AR B AN o R AR B B 4
(2B A B A AT IR % 25 FHL B0 2 8
B EHE -

7S 37 A R T AR A R A 19 48
R R 43 T B L ] i 9 L5 B 6 2 8 7 AL
B o W AR AL AR R OOR A AL Ay
5 > % G2 ] 2 A 50 8 5 1E R VE I 5 [
HH A A 20 L 2 25 LR 20 o R R AR
WSO R S JFG A T R AL P 4
BOEIIRIL FF AR A5 IR A o R A
R A SR AR I R BRI
ML & A WO MR T (EL - SIf A AL B 400 P 4 A
(] 77 i W R 4 AL R A - R

A5 T TSR BB ER) 3 ] A fE R A WA A

SR R T A Y BT A JEL B B (el R
B R R AR AR S A A -

HE BT

AL A BB BB UL H
EAE A AR - A A B JRUE A
{19 e A8 M L AT L A B AL B
AR B Ak —# a0

b

T At 5 1 1 5 ) S S SR Y
DARZ B # I RE B W S B W (O AT
W95 2y 94552 By B B BAT MR < 4 0 e
PR o R WK o DIUAMERHER) & IE
H %z H A BT IER R A -

“EC =4t ZA=+—H
31 December 2023

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Leases (Continued)
The Group as lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease inception (or when
there is a lease modification) each of its leases as either an operating
lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the
risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset are classified
as operating leases. When a contract contains lease and non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in the contract to
each component on a relative stand-alone selling price basis. Licensing
income is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease terms and
is included in revenue in profit or loss due to its operating nature. Initial
direct costs incurred in obtaining an operating lease are added to the
carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised over the lease term
on the same basis as licensing income. Contingent rents are recognised as
revenue in the period in which they are earned.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental
to ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee are accounted for as
finance leases.

Lease modification

The Group accounts for a modification to an operating lease as a new
lease from the effective date of the modification, considering any
prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to the original lease as part
of the lease payments for the new lease.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity,
transactions in currencies other than the functional currency of the entity
(foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchange prevailing
on the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting period,
monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the
rates prevailing at that date.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Foreign currencies (Continued)

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the dates
of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value
in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the
date when the fair value was measured. The gain or loss arising on
translation of a non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated in
line with the recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair value of
the item (i.e., translation difference on the item whose fair value gain
or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss
is also recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss,
respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the related
asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a non-monetary asset
or non-monetary liability relating to an advance consideration, the date
of initial transaction is the date on which the Group initially recognises
the non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising from the
advance consideration. If there are multiple payments or receipts in
advance, the Group determines the transaction date for each payment or
receipt of the advance consideration.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and
on the retranslation of monetary items are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial statements,
the assets and liabilities of the Group’s operations are translated into
the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) using
exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Income
and expenses items are translated at the average exchange rates for the
period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during that period,
in which case, the exchange rates prevailing at the date of transactions
are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the heading of
translation reserve.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the cash
flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated into Hong Kong dollars
at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently
recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries which arise throughout the
year are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates that
approximate to those prevailing at the dates of the transactions..
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are recognised
as an expense when employees have rendered service entitling them to
the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the undiscounted
amount of the benefits expected to be paid as and when employees
rendered the services. All short-term employee benefits are recognised as
an expense unless another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of
the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees (such as
wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave) after deducting any
amount already paid.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take
a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale,
are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they are incurred.

Income tax

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and
deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable
profit differs from profit/loss before tax because of income or expense
that are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are never
taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated
using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period taking into consideration interpretations and
practices prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation
of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for
all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally
recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which those
deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets
and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from
the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of assets
and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit
nor the accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition
of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries and an associate, except
where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not
reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences associated with such investments and
interests are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there
will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits
of the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the
foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are
expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or the asset
is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax
consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group
expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the
carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing transactions in
which the Group recognises the right-of-use assets and the related lease
liabilities, the Group first determines whether the tax deductions are
attributable to the right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Income tax (Continued)

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are attributable
to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12 Income Taxes
requirements to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities separately.
Temporary differences on initial recognition of the relevant right-of-
use assets and lease liabilities are not recognised due to application of
the initial recognition exemption. Temporary differences arising from
subsequent revision to the carrying amounts of right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities, resulting from remeasurement of lease liabilities and
lease modifications, that are not subject to initial recognition exemption
are recognised on the date of remeasurement or modification.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied to the same
taxable entity by the same tax authority.

Current and deferred taxes are recognised in profit or loss, except when
they relate to items that are recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity, in which case the current and deferred taxes are
also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity
respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial
accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is included in the
accounting for the business combination.

In assessing any uncertainty over income tax treatments, the Group
considers whether it is probable that the relevant tax authority will
accept the uncertain tax treatment used, or proposed to be used by
individual group entities in their income tax filings. If it is probable,
the current and deferred taxes are determined consistently with the tax
treatment in the income tax filings. If it is not probable that the relevant
tax authority will accept an uncertain tax treatment, the effect of each
uncertainty is reflected by using either the most likely amount or the
expected value.

Inventories

Inventories consist of food and beverage, retail merchandise and
operating supplies are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost of inventories are determined on a first-in, first-out method.
Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price for inventories
less all costs necessary to make the sale.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are recognised
separately from goodwill and are initially recognised at their fair value
at the acquisition date (which is regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in a
business combination with finite useful lives are reported at cost less
accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses, on
the same basis as intangible assets that are acquired separately.

Licences

Purchased licences are stated at cost less any impairment losses and are
amortised on the straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives.

Further details of the amortisation of the Group’s intangible assets are
included in note 19 of the financial statement.

Impairment of non-financial assets other than goodwill

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its property and equipment, right-of-use assets and
intangible assets with finite useful lives to determine whether there is
any indication that these assets have suffered an impairment loss. If
any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the relevant asset
is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if

any).

The recoverable amounts of property and equipment, right-of-use assets,
and intangible assets are estimated individually. When it is not possible
to estimate the recoverable amounts individually, the Group estimates
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (“CGU”) to which
the asset belongs.

In addition, the Group assesses whether there is indication that corporate
assets may be impaired. If such indication exists, corporate assets are
also allocated to individual CGUs, when a reasonable and consistent
basis of allocation can be identified, or otherwise they are allocated
to the smallest group of CGUs for which a reasonable and consistent
allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and
value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset (or a CGU) for which the estimates of future
cash flows have not been adjusted.



T )

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

HOR G wHBOR ()
T il A (P DAAD) DA (A0)

i il et A (R < A L) 1T i [
SRR (E > S (B
ALV ) D M T 9 2 HL T i (o] R o R
REF% 5 B S R o i 2 e i 2 3
P BT Y A S R A S E
A AR P B Lo — A 4 A B 2 IR
(B (L4670 e 22 w2 AL B 4 e AR B 2 A3
B O A 3 W L MR T ) B Z AHLBL
AR B 2 PR R o 2 T UM A
R > S5 LA IAE o] e 2 R (B (A
F) - PR A B < A A A P A I
B (1 R TET T A1 L EE L )40 i T R
A o A R AT (EL S AR U AR
UTF=FZzhRmEmE  ZEENARME
B A (AT R~ L (E
(B 1 2E) A o R IT oK BE 23 A9 9 (B
Ve 1 <5 REUAR 5% 4P o) o8 7 s BB < 2 A LA
AL v A 72 P A bL T 4% EE AT

FC o 9 (B0 s R L8 A 1) BT PO TR 48 i e

e ©

s B IR BE AR B 0] > 3% B (Bl
A B B — AL B < AR B RO MR TR (ELEr
4 T 22 AT i ] < R ) KB RT AN B
BTN ARE B R TR (LS A1 A0 0 % 208 1 4
AR % (B 4 A B — AL B
o A BT T 9 (A 4 T 7R R Y SR AT
(B o 90 M 18 P 458 [ 72 L 7 A2 301 T R 4R

R =t A=+ —H
31 December 2023

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Impairment of non-financial assets other than goodwill (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is estimated to be less
than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or a CGU)
is reduced to its recoverable amount. For corporate assets or portion
of corporate assets which cannot be allocated on a reasonable and
consistent basis to a CGU, the Group compares the carrying amount of
a group of CGUs, including the carrying amounts of the corporate assets
or portion of corporate assets allocated to that group of CGUs, with the
recoverable amount of the group of CGUs. In allocating the impairment
loss, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-rata
basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the group
of CGU. The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced below the
highest of its fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in
use (if determinable) and zero. The amount of the impairment loss that
would otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to
the other assets of the unit or the group of CGU. An impairment loss is
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which it arises.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount
of the asset (or CGU or a group of CGUs) is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or
CGU or a group of CGUs) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment
loss is recognised in profit or loss in the period in which it arises.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently
measured at amortised cost, fair value through other comprehensive
income, and fair value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends
on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics and the
Group’s business model for managing them. With the exception of trade
receivables that do not contain a significant financing component or for
which the Group has applied the practical expedient of not adjusting
the effect of a significant financing component, the Group initially
measures a financial asset at its fair value plus in the case of a financial
asset not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade
receivables that do not contain a significant financing component or for
which the Group has applied the practical expedient are measured at the
transaction price determined under HKFRS 15 in accordance with the
policies set out for “Revenue from contracts with customers” above.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at amortised
cost or fair value through other comprehensive income, it needs to give
rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
(“SPPI”) on the principal amount outstanding. Financial assets with
cash flows that are not SPPI are classified and measured at fair value
through profit or loss, irrespective of the business model.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets refers to
how it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash flows.
The business model determines whether cash flows will result from
collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both.
Financial assets classified and measured at amortised cost are held
within a business model with the objective to hold financial assets in
order to collect contractual cash flows, while financial assets classified
and measured at fair value through other comprehensive income are
held within a business model with the objective of both holding to
collect contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets which are
not held within the aforementioned business models are classified and
measured at fair value through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised
on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group commits to purchase
or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales
of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the period
generally established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.
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31 December 2023
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their
classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using
the effective interest method and are subject to impairment. Gains and
losses are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised,
modified or impaired.

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
(debt instruments)

For debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income, interest income, foreign exchange revaluation and impairment
losses or reversals are recognised in profit or loss and computed in the
same manner as for financial assets measured at amortised cost. The
remaining fair value changes are recognised in other comprehensive
income. Upon derecognition, the cumulative fair value change
recognised in other comprehensive income is recycled to profit or loss.

Financial assets designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income (equity investments)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify irrevocably
its equity investments as equity investments designated at fair value
through other comprehensive income when they meet the definition of
equity under HKAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation and are not
held for trading. The classification is determined on an instrument-by-
instrument basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled to profit
or loss. Dividends are recognised as other income in profit or loss
when the right of payment has been established, it is probable that the
economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the Group
and the amount of the dividend can be measured reliably, except when
the Group benefits from such proceeds as a recovery of part of the cost
of the financial asset, in which case, such gains are recorded in other
comprehensive income. Equity investments designated at fair value
through other comprehensive income are not subject to impairment
assessment.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”) are
carried in the statement of financial position at fair value with net
changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss and is included in the
“other income, gain and losses, net”.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part
of a group of similar financial assets) is derecognised when:

. the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

. the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from
the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the received cash
flows in full without material delay to a third party under a “pass-
through™ arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the
Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the
risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the
asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an
asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement, it evaluates if, and
to what extent, it has retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the
asset. When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the
risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the
Group continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of the
Group’s continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises
an associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability
are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the
Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the
transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying
amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the
Group could be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses (“ECLs”)
for all debt instruments not held at fair value through profit or loss.
ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows
due in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive, discounted at an approximation of the original
effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will include cash flows
from the sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are
integral to the contractual terms.
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31 December 2023

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which there
has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from default events that
are possible within the next 12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those
credit exposures for which there has been a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit
losses expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of
the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit risk on a
financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition.
When making the assessment, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with the
risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition and considers reasonable and supportable information
that is available without undue cost or effort, including historical and
forward-looking information. The Group considers that there has been
a significant increase in credit risk when contractual payments are more
than 30 days past due.

Debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive income and
financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment under the
general approach and they are classified within the following stages for
measurement of ECLs except for trade receivables and contract assets
which apply the simplified approach as detailed below.

Stage 1 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has not increased
significantly since initial recognition and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition but that are not credit-
impaired financial assets and for which the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 — Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting date
(but that are not purchased or originated credit-impaired) and
for which the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal
to lifetime ECLs
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

For trade receivables and contract assets that do not contain a significant
financing component or when the Group applies the practical expedient
of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing component, the
Group applies the simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under the
simplified approach, the Group does not track changes in credit risk,
but instead recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each
reporting date. The Group has established a provision matrix that is
based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-
looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers an event of
default occurs when information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
including the Group, in full (without taking into account any collateral
and credit enhancement by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default has occurred
when a financial asset is more than 90 days past due unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate that a more
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information
indicating that the counterparty is in severe financial difficulty and
there is no realistic prospect of recovery, for example, when the
counterparty has been placed under liquidation or has entered into
bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets written off may still be subject
to enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking
into account legal advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes a
derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit
or loss.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and borrowings,
payables, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an
effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the
case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly attributable
transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables, and
bank and other borrowings.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on their
classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (loans and borrowings)

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest
rate method unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in
which case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in
profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the
effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of the
effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is included
in finance costs in profit or loss.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the
liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the
same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing
liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification
is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and a recognition
of a new liability, and the difference between the respective carrying
amounts is recognised in profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount
is reported in the statement of financial position if there is a currently
enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an
intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously.

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s family
and that person

(1)  has control or joint control over the Group;

(i1)  has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the Group

or of a parent of the Group;

or
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Related parties (Continued)

(b)

the party is an entity where any of the following conditions
applies:

®

(ii)

(iii)

@iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

the entity and the Group are members of the same group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity
(or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of the other
entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same third
party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other
entity is an associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit
of employees of either the Group or an entity related to the
Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over
the entity or is a member of the key management personnel
of the entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part,
provides key management personnel services to the Group
or to the parent of the Group.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position
comprise cash on hand and at banks, and short-term highly liquid
deposits with a maturity of generally within three months that are readily
convertible into known amounts of cash, subject to an insignificant risk
of changes in value and held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash
commitments.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and
cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks, and short-term
deposits as defined above, less bank overdrafts which are repayable on
demand and form an integral part of Group’s cash management.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is probable that
a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation,
provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the
obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised for
a provision is the present value at the end of the reporting period of
the future expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation.
The increase in the discounted present value amount arising from the
passage of time is included in finance costs in profit or loss.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 3, the Directors of the Company are required to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
The estimates and underlying assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-going
basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period
in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period,
or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects
both current and future periods.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Judgements

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving
estimations (see below), that the Directors of the Company have made
in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies and that
have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
consolidated financial statements.

Determination on lease term of contracts with renewal options

The Group applies judgement to determine the lease term for lease
contracts in which it is a lessee with a renewal option, specifically, the
leases relating to leasehold land in Macau. In determining the lease
term and assessing the length of the non-cancellable period, the Group
applies the definition of a contract and determines the period for which
the contract is enforceable. Leases are considered to be no longer
enforceable when the Group as the lessee and the relevant lessors both
have the right to terminate the lease without permission from the other
party with no more than an insignificant contractual penalty.

The assessment of whether the Group is reasonably certain to exercise
renewal options impacts the lease term, which significantly affects
the amount of lease liabilities and right-of-use assets recognised. Re-
assessment is performed upon the occurrence of either a significant
event or a significant change in circumstances that is within the control
of lessee and that affects the assessment.

When assessing reasonable certainty, the Group considers all relevant
facts and circumstances including economic incentives/penalties for
exercising or not exercising the options. Factors considered include:

. contractual terms and conditions for the optional periods
compared with market rates (e.g. whether the amount of payments
in the optional periods is below the market rates);

. the extent of leasehold improvements undertaken by Group; and

. costs relating to termination of the lease (e.g. relocation costs,
costs of identifying another underlying asset suitable for the
Group’s needs).

As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amounts of right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities for the lease contracts which the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise the renewal option were HK$60,974,000
(2022: HK$63,319,000) and HK$78,646,000 (2022: HK$77,318,000)
respectively.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period,
that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

Recoverability of refundable deposit for a potential long-term
investment project

The management of the Group takes into consideration the likelihood of
utilisation of such deposit based on the potential long-term investment
project status. Meanwhile, the management of the Group considered
that the deposit shall be used to settle the consideration in full for the
proposed acquisition of certain land use rights in connection with a
proposed development project in Cambodia, and there is uncertainty
on the timing on when such transaction can be finalised and the
recoverability of the deposit thereon if such transaction is not going
to proceed further. Where the expectation on the recoverability of
the deposit is different from the original estimate, such difference
will impact the carrying amount of the deposit and loss allowance in
the periods in which such estimate has been changed. Details of the
refundable deposit are disclosed in note 22.

Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment
for all non-financial assets at the end of each reporting period. Non-
financial assets are tested for impairment when there are indicators that
the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment exists
when the carrying value of an asset or a CGU exceeds its recoverable
amount, which is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and its
value in use. When calculating the recoverable amounts, management
must estimate the expected future cash flows based on projected income
and expenses of the business, working capital needs, growth rates,
discount rates and physical deterioration and all relevant forms of
obsolescence and optimisation rates.

Changes in the key assumptions on which the recoverable amount of
the assets are based could significantly affect the Group’s assessment
resulting in an impairment loss being recognised.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the management performed an
impairment assessment on the Group’s CGUs and no impairment loss
was recognised on these non-financial assets (2022: no impairment loss
was recognised on these non-financial assets).
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Wt 5. REVENUE
AL E WS S AT R An analysis of the Group’s revenue is as follows:
2023 2022
T#x TH#EIC
HK$’000 HKS$’000
2% TR RH B 2 S i 4R Revenue from gaming related operations:
i = B IR BT AR Recognised over time:
() HEPAT & IEAR G RIER RS B i#kPE ()  from provision of gaming related facilities
b R A B i it A R AR B — R and gaming related general management
PR LA AR mT S8 HE i BTG S A services under the New Service Agreement
(EF M EEG) M H 2 BUER th A and indirect participation in the gaming
E promotion business under the VIE Structure
(as defined in note 6) in respect of:
— G — Mass market tables 335,663 367,352
— B WG — VIP tables* - 82,419
— AT — Slot machines - 1,102
335,663 450,873
AR — IR 2T LARERT Recognised at a point in time:
(i) WA & IHA [ i gy (i) from operation of a casino in respect of:
— G — Mass market tables 36,959 20,415
— HEWS — VIP tables 65,154 20,506
— i — Slot machines 55,357 27,325
157,470 68,246
493,133 519,119
2 B FE R M B B R A Revenue from non-gaming related operations:
Bl S BRI [H] 77 AR - Recognised over time:
A& E TS % 5 A Income from hotel rooms 221,054 50,422
A& E T IR A Income from building management services 20,070 16,266
MR B 85 (o 26 SRR D) SR AR IR B 1) Income from provision of services under the
A Addendum (as defined in note 1) = 15,987
241,124 82,675
* W55 G R ARG S B AR SRR T * The amounts include outsourced VIP tables and indirect participation
MR TR R S E g — A F in the gaming promotion business in Macau through New Legend VIP
B2 ] (T3 I 1) 1 1 (] 2 2 B % Club Limited (“New Legend”) under the VIE Structure, which has been
PR DR F D EF-A—HE terminated effective 1 January 2023.
1k o
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5. WitR (8) 5. REVENUE (CONTINUED)
2023 2022
T TFHIT
HK$’000 HK$’000
AR BT DARERY Recognised at a point in time:
EHK Food and beverage 109,364 67,877
S5 P Sales of merchandise 164 1,047
oAt Others 18,994 8,730
128,522 77,654
A For operating leases:
A E T MR R ACE R Licensing income from investment properties 38,866 32,157
408,512 192,486
901,645 711,605
2023 2022
Tl T
HK$°000 HK$°000
B A 2 s (45 fERRIRER) Revenue from contracts with customers,
timing of revenue recognition:
— B BLRE ] — over time 576,787 533,548
K — e B — at a point in time 285,992 145,900
862,779 679,448
KRB EN S Revenue from operating leases:
— RS K — fixed lease payments 36,849 30,205
— AR A K — variable lease payments 2,017 1,952
38,866 32,157
901,645 711,605
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REVENUE (CONTINUED)
Performance obligations for contracts with customers
Gaming related operations

Provision of casino management services and gaming promotion
business

Revenue from the provision of gaming related facilities and gaming
related general management services are recognised over time when
performance obligations are satisfied while the gaming operator
simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the
Group’s performance as the Group renders its services. The Group’s
performance obligation is primarily the provision of casino management
services to a gaming operator in Macau under the New Service
Agreement and the Old Service Agreement. The Group has the right to
receive its service income, based on net gaming wins of the casinos of
each month, from the gaming operator when the service is rendered.

Revenue from indirect participation in the gaming promotion business
is recognised over time when performance obligations are satisfied
while the gaming operator simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the Group renders its
services. The Group’s performance obligation is primarily the provision
of promotion services to a gaming operator in Macau under the VIE
Structure. The Group has the right to receive its service income, based
on net gaming wins of the VIP tables of each month, from the gaming
operator when the service is rendered.

The Directors of the Company considered that the Group acts as a
principal for casino management services and gaming promotion
business provided to gaming operator as the Group is primarily
responsible for fulfilling the contractual obligations to provide the
specified service to customers and controls the specified service to be
provided by the Group before the specific service is transferred to the
customer.

Casino operation

Gaming revenue from the casino operation is the aggregate net
difference between gaming wins and losses. The Group accounts for
gaming revenue from the casino operation on a portfolio basis given
the similar characteristics of wagers, by recognising net win per gaming
day.

For casino transactions that include complimentary goods and services
or loyalty points under the customer relationship program provided
by the Group to gaming customers to incentivise gaming, the Group
allocates the transaction price to each performance obligation based on
their relative stand-alone selling prices.
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REVENUE (CONTINUED)
Performance obligations for contracts with customers (Continued)
Non-gaming related operations

The transaction price of hotel rooms, food and beverage, retail
transactions and other services is the net amount collected from the
customer for such goods and services. The transaction price for such
transactions is recorded as revenue when the goods or services are
transferred or rendered to the customers during their stay at the hotel or
when the delivery is made for the food and beverage, retail goods and
other services.

Income from building management services is recognised as a
performance obligation satisfied over time, when the Group provides
building management services to tenants of the Group’s properties in
Macau. The Group has the right to receive its service income, based
on agreed monthly building management service fee, from the tenants
when the service is rendered.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The executive Directors of the Company (the “Executive Directors”)
have been identified as the chief operating decision maker (the
“CODM?”). The Executive Directors review the Group’s internal reports
in order to assess performance and allocate resources.

For the provision of gaming related facilities and gaming related general
management services, and the indirect participation in the gaming
promotion business, the Executive Directors regularly analyse gaming
related revenue in terms of service income from mass market tables, VIP
tables and slot machines. For the operation of casinos, the Executive
Directors regularly analyse gaming related revenue in terms of net
difference between gaming wins and losses from mass market tables,
VIP tables and slot machines. The Executive Directors review separately
the entire revenues and operating results attributable to gaming related
services and non-gaming operations. As such, the Executive Directors
have identified the operating and reportable segments under HKFRS 8
Operating segments as gaming and non-gaming operations.

The segment information is consistent with the internal information
that is regularly reviewed by the Executive Directors for the purposes
of resource allocation and assessment of performance. This is also
the basis of organisation in the Group, whereby the management has
determined to organise the Group with reference to the differences
in products and services. The principal activities of the operating and
reportable segments are as follows:
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31 December 2023
SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Gaming — 1) Gaming related services for mass market tables, VIP
tables and slot machines under the New Service Agreement and the
Old Service Agreement entered into between Hong Hock Development
Company Ltd. (“Hong Hock”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company and the gaming operator, SJM, whereby the revenue
was derived based on net gaming wins. Revenue from the indirect
participation in the gaming promotion business represents the sharing
of gross gaming revenue generated by VIP gaming tables operated by
a subsidiary, New Legend, through the structure established by the
entering into the VIE Agreements among Hong Hock, New Legend and
Mr Yip Wing Fat, Frederick, further details of which are set out in the
Company’s circular dated 9 June 2014 and the VIE Structure has been
terminated with effect from 1 January 2023; and 2) Casino operation in
Lao PDR.

Non-gaming — operations at MFW and Savan Legend Resorts, including
hotel and other operations such as licensing income from the shops,
provision of building management service, food and beverage and
others. For segment reporting under HKFRS 8, financial information
of these operations with similar economic characteristics has been
aggregated into a single operating segment named ‘“non-gaming”.

Segment revenue and results

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by
operating and reportable segment:

Year ended 31 December 2023

L2 E3L¥ Vi Ky i) oy
Gaming  Non-gaming Segment total ~ Elimination  Consolidated
Tl T Tl T Tt
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000

PSE External revenue 493,133 408,512 901,645 = 901,645
paillies Inter-segment revenue = 32,986 32,986 (32,986) =
b e Segment revenue 493,133 441,498 934,631 (32,986) 901,645
Sy ) Segment profit/(loss) 163,087 (306,380) (143,293) - (143,293)
R BT R A B Unallocated depreciation and amortisation (55,331)
KA BLEADIA K2R > Unallocated other income and corporate

T expenses, net (7,379)
& A Finance costs (202,849)
Wi i e Loss before tax (408,852)
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
Segment revenue and results (Continued)

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by
operating and reportable segment: (Continued)

Year ended 31 December 2022

227 F TR il B

Gaming ~ Non-gaming  Segment total Elimination ~ Consolidated

Tt TeE Tt TEE T

HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000

MU g External revenue 519,119 192,486 711,605 - 711,605
sl Inter-segment revenue - 49,929 49,929 (49,929) -
Al g Segment revenue 519,119 242,415 761,534 (49,929) 711,605
s <tis! Segment loss (73,183) (488.472) (561,655) - (561,655)
Fo BT B A B Unallocated depreciation and amortisation (63,622)

KA BLEAIA K ARZER % > Unallocated other income and corporate

pEiEl expenses, net (13,110)
iR - NEIE & Share of results of an associate (7,084)
il A Finance costs (109,973)
PRBLAT R Loss before tax (755,444)

Sy R A 5 % Bt B S R o

BRI G T BOR B RE 3 Pt 2 A
B TR o 20 W0 SE ARG 45 20 WY
SR H R OB 23 L RO IR M O
TSR e HL A 22 =) ([ P e ARG B4 1))
T A H A 2% o0 8 B BT I AR o TR
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Inter-segment revenue is charged at amounts agreed by both parties.

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same as
the Group’s accounting policies described in note 3. Segment results
represent the results of each segment without allocation of depreciation
of certain investment properties and property and equipment arising
from the fair value adjustments on acquisition of MFW and its
subsidiaries (the “MFW Group”) and amortisation of other intangible
assets, unallocated other income and corporate expenses, net,
unallocated impairment losses on non-financial assets, the share of
results of an associate and finance costs. Unallocated corporate expenses
include Directors’ remuneration paid or payable by the Company and
certain administrative expenses for corporate use. This is the measure
reported to the Executive Directors for the purposes of resource
allocation and performance assessment.

No analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities by operating and
reportable segments is disclosed as it is not regularly provided to the
executive Directors for review.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
Other segment information

Year ended 31 December 2023

W% El3LY A4 Hg B

Gaming Non-gaming Unallocated Consolidated

Tt T o Tt T#u

HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000

W BT Depreciation of property and equipment 22,300 272,261 17,428 311,989
Eitd<v7/ELilg Depreciation of investment properties - 16,401 1,593 17,994
oA AT o Amortisation of other intangible assets - - 1,007 1,007
o FIRE G RE TS Depreciation of right-of-use assets 5,316 9,980 35,303 50,599
T 7 S T A Reversal of allowance for inventories - (390) - (390)
LB W R A O e 1R Loss on disposal of property and equipment 10,597 1,893 (532) 11,958

BEZF A, A=, HILEE Year ended 31 December 2022

% EaL Y ESL A

Gaming  Non-gaming Unallocated  Consolidated

T T T T THs T TH#T

HKS$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

VE NS RN Depreciation of property and equipment 26,375 301,363 19,074 346,812
BB Depreciation of investment properties - 9,811 1,593 11,404
HAb R TE & 8 Amortisation of other intangible assets - - 9,302 9,302
o AR AT Depreciation of right-of-use assets 6,391 10,854 35,299 52,544
e mpeR el Reversal of allowance for inventories - (3,139) - (3,139)
B S SR e 1R Loss on disposal of property and equipment - 66 - 66

B PR AR R A W A
PRI PRI o 7 8 2 51 73 & & I # A
2 HT > TR 2 1 P R I
39053 B R % R BTl o ) 9 B %
SEERL > EOME BB o Bk AR B gy R 3

%5 o

The CODM makes decisions according to operating results of each

segment. No analysis of segment asset and segment liability is presented

as the CODM does not regularly review such information for the

purposes of resource allocation and performance assessment. Therefore,

only segment revenue and segment results are presented.
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K=+t H=+—H
31 December 2023

6. JrEREFL () 6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
P B Geographical information
AR A [ A b B IR S R H At The Group’s operations are located on Macau, Lao PDR and others
b (G035 R 28 S b5 ) o (including Cambodia and Cape Verde).
AL QINEF 2 0o &R Information about the Group’s revenue from external customers is
K B2 5 o A B 1 0 IR B presented based on the locations of the operations. Information about
JE R (I 1 W 2 R Bk A1) i b 3 the Group’s non-current assets (excluding loan to an associate) is
B2 o presented based on the geographical locations of the assets.
28 H AR W i Fhw B G e
BET A=+ HIREE +=ZHA=+—H
Revenue from external customers Non-current assets
Year ended 31 December 31 December
e S - S e Y TR TAR
2023 2022 2023 2022
T Tt Tt AR
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
T Macau 739,657 641,746 5,972,428 6,330,395
i Lao PDR 161,988 69,859 229,005 248,814
HoAt Others - - 239,843 229,989
901,645 711,605 6,441,276 6,809,198
FEEXPRNER Information about major customer
WEE_FE - =#+_"H=+—HI4F Revenue of HK$335,663,000 for the year ended 31 December 2023
B AR B RIRGES (— A B R E R (2022: HK$466,769,000) was derived from SIM, a customer in the
B B %5 £5335,663,0000 70 (& gaming segment, amounting to approximately 37% (2022: 66%) of the
F 1 466,769,0004570) - A5 H AT A total revenue of the Group.

#137% (T4 1 66%) °
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31 December 2023

7. HABWA - Wesk RER o HE 7.  OTHER INCOME, GAINS AND LOSSES, NET
(a) HAWA (a) Other income
2023 2022
T#x T
HK$°000 HK$°000
FLE YA Interest income
— BT —bank deposits 206 114
— N UEFH R SR - financial assets at FVTPL
ol - 10,608
EL S fR b Insurance claims received 90 152
HoAth Others 11,484 27,642
11,780 38,516
(b) HAbMess RIEHE - S (b)  Other gains and losses, net
e S TR TUR
2023 2022
Tt THIT
HK$°000 HK$°000
Fe N B A I T 7 5 AR Loss on change in fair value of financial
2 ERUEE 2 o S SR R assets at FVTPL = (10,967)
T 52 e 1 U Exchange losses, net (936) (7,633)
HE AR W 3 R R s 1R Loss on disposal of property and equipment (11,958) (66)
(12,894) (18,666)
1,114) 19,850
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SR T ZA=1+—H
31 December 2023

8. SmEEZWMEER B8 8. IMPAIRMENT LOSSES ON FINANCIAL ASSETS, NET
2023 2022
Tt TH#T
HK$°000 HK$’000
LA I E HERRIE R - A Impairment losses, net, recognised on:
1 5 FREMAC K T a1 e P43 Loss allowance for impairment of trade receivables 42 1,566
B 5 REGK TR 25 AN T M 19 4% Trade receivables amount written off
as uncollectible 10 25
Ho AU IE (AR EHE ) Wi{E  (Reversal of impairment losses)/loss allowance
MR for impairment of other receivables 2) 1
50 1,592
A B A, 2 SE s R 37 - Details of the impairment assessment are set out in note 37.
9. REEHRA 9. FINANCE COSTS
2023 2022
Tt THETT
HK$°000 HK$’000
SRATAE 2R S Interest on bank borrowings 140,948 81,510
HoAh A 3R B Interest on other borrowings 51,196 10,101
& & EHS Interest on lease liabilities 5,481 5,779
SRAT A 20 il LA S HAth Amortisation of finance costs on bank
T A A B borrowings and other finance costs 5,224 12,583
202,849 109,973
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R =t A=+ —H
31 December 2023

10. FHEEERITHABME 10. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
EMOLUMENTS
HRETLETBAEME Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments
CATSEA A A Rl R FEATHA B The emoluments paid or payable to the Directors and chief executive of
HEEnT the Company were as follows:
BT FHfTHER BT
Executive Directors Non-executive Directors Independent non-executive Directors
PR MEKEE BERM AN REE WEE 2BE S WEAR BRE EAR FER it
Chan Tsang Chan Li Ho Li Wong Tam Lau Mak
Mei Yi, Ka Weng Chu David  Chiulin, Chun Che Man, Wai Chu, Ngai Kee, Wang  Ka Wing,
Melinda Hung Lin Kwan Chow Laurinda Tak Eddy Maria Ricky Honmgxin  Patrick Total
T T#c T T T T T T T Tr T T Tk
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$000 HKS$'000 HKS000 HK$000 HK$000 HKS000 HKS'000 HK$000 HK$000 HKS000
BREZZC=HTOA For the year ended
SRR 31 December 2023
[k Fees - - - - - 390 360 360 - 330 330 330 2,100
B R Salaries and allowances 1,714 - - 2,260 - - - - - - - - 3974
Eshil b N Performance related incentive payments 180 - - 240 - - - - - - - - 420
PRAER B Contributions to retirement benefit scheme 1 - - 1 - - - - - - - - 2
4 Total emoluments 1,895 - - 2501 - 390 360 360 - 330 330 330 6,496
BE-Z-2H1CA For the year ended
=t kAR 31 December 2022

g Fees - - - - - 510 400 149 46 510 510 425 2,550
A R Salaries and allowances 2482 2,154 208 2,122 3,118 - - - - - - - 10,084
FUL BB Performance related incentive payments 70 - - 63 - 11 8 3 - 1 11 9 186
RIRFEAIFHBI e Contributions to retirement benefit scheme 1 15 - 1 - - - - - - - - 17
T2 4 Total emoluments 2,553 2,169 208 2,186 3,118 521 408 152 46 521 521 434 12,837

1) 7% 2 ) 2 S 1YY 2 A R 2 D £ 3k
92 ARG RBUEE - RS
HEHE -

SR R AT 0 N R A B
84 WU BEAS 2% A B A 4R o] ) L 4
P2 RHs o

BT FE AT S AT
0 38 I 2y O A8 S A AR ) R 4
PR RS

T AR AR BE N > A SR PR 4 1) A2 ] 3
FSCRHME AT o DLAE B i A A 4 1 5
T Tn R A 4 B AR B SEY > BAE A
B o MEEEAR 24 ) 5 g % 5 8 47 2 i 5
(EREEA

The performance related incentive payments to the Directors of the
Company are determined by reference to the Group’s performance and
approved by the Board of Directors.

The executive Directors’ emoluments shown above were for their
services in connection with the management of the affairs of the
Company and the Group.

The emoluments of the non-executive Directors and independent non-
executive Directors shown above were for their services as Directors of
the Company.

During both years, no emoluments were paid by the Group to the
Directors of the Company as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Group or as compensation for loss of office. None of the Directors of
the Company has waived any emoluments in both years.
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31 December 2023
10. FEHFRRFETHRABNE () 10. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)

HRREPHEAERESRNR Y - B Transactions, arrangements or contracts in which the Directors
HEH have material interests
ik Ly SURSEHR R P YR T PUE
Agreement Connected party Relationship with the Group Nature of transactions and major terms Transaction amount
TROERE CECTRE
2023 2022
Ti#n TiEx
HK$°000 HK$'000
LRSI s s ok TGS HFRERBARAR  BAATHBE DR ER RS ARSI R A R - 36
12 IN SRR B A
Legendale Beijing Hotel Service Beijing Hua Hai Jin Bao Real Estate An associate of Mr David Chow, Renting of hotel rooms and convention
Agreement Development Co. Ltd. ex-co-chairman and ex-non-executive venues and the procurement of event
(i 45 A ARAR)  Director of the Company management services to the Group*
R RAE s ok BRI (RF9) AR RS EZBBA  RREAAEZRERAS () AEERWRE - 26 RCIES 52 §2%
(R i) Hi A 192 6 Adrian Pinto-Marques /64 2 0 HEmiko IR
Mito Pinto-Marques % 1 J Adriano Dillon Guerrero (i) Procurement of travelling, ticketing and
Pinto-Marques /& transportation services to the Group®
Amigo Travel Service Agreement Amigo Travel (Macau) Limited An associate of Mr David Chow as the shareholders of
(“Amigo Travel”) Amigo Travel are Ms Emiko Mito Pinto-Marques and (i) 44 B[S 2107 5 7 e 53 53%
Mr Adriano Dillon Guerrero Pinto-Marques, the parents (i) Provision of hotel rooms from
of Mr Adrian Pinto-Marques, the son-in-law of Mr the Group®
David Chow
DB B R AR B EARAT () bR B == VR A N AR S R A ) () FEbR RO RS 780 780
Macau Legend Investment Holdings Limited!i £ (i) Provision of management service to
B nw o Lai Teng*
Lai leng Investment Company Limited  Lai leng Investment Company Limited ~ Lai leng was acquired by Macau Legend Investment (ii) 77
Management Service Agreement (“Lai Teng") Holdings Limited, a subsidiary of the Group, (ii) Consultancy fee 958 1,997

as an associate on 16 April 2019.

EERASEERARAFEY EERHEEERARAT TR th A% BE E (RISRESE 2 ) Rk e T B X - 194
ihke ([EE)) A o Administrative management expenses
Arcwealth Global Investment and Arcwealth Global Investment and Arcwealth is owned by Mr Donald Chow
Management Limited Sale and Management Limited (“Arcwealth”) (the son of Mr David Chow) and Ms Melinda Chan.
Purchase Agreement
* E G M TR 14A T T 2 * These transactions constitute continuing connected transactions for the
FHERAESE ) © purpose of Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
# AR SR AR B S  E —R —= # The relevant services were provided to the Group up to 31 December
FETZHA=+—H [HEiE2HREALL 2023 at prices determined on arm’s length basis and the prevailing market
KON RS 1) BA T T S5 (B A 1 D B price for comparable types of services in the same industry.
P E
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Tt AH AL

2 45 T A SR TR Y T4 T O AL EE
MAARANTER (ZF - 4F  ULH
$) > HEFRII S A Mk 108 #E - UK =
P EANFE R R FETHNE R

11.

R =t A=+ —H
31 December 2023

FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

The five highest paid individuals of the Group during the year
included two Directors (2022: four Directors) of the Company whose
emoluments are disclosed in note 10 and three (2022: one) employees
who are neither a Director nor chief executive of the Company. Details

BRI —4) c ARG T =24 A of the emoluments of the remaining three (2022: one) individuals are as
T (R4 ) FNZFERS N follows:
TR AR TR TTUR
2023 2022
R THIT
HK$°000 HK$’000
B TR R AR A Salaries, allowances and benefits 6,369 2,500
RBURABSEEI A X Performance related incentive payments 364 -
7,233 2,500
A BAE B wiE R Emoluments of the employees were within the following bands:
2023 2022
AN# N4
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
1,000,001 5 7T % 1,500,000 7T HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1 -
2,000,001 57T 42,500,000 7T HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 1
2,500,001 5 7T 4 3,000,000 7T HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 1 -

R I JEE A AR 4 AR 1) T 4% B
B L (B35 2 35 A B S AHE AT I
G LU Z T SR A 2 ) s i B A 4
R SEMY - S E 2 B A -

During both years, no emoluments were paid by the Group to the five
highest paid individuals (including Directors and employees) as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for
loss of office.

Macau Legend Development Limited 2023 Annual Report 159



oA M OB ok W oEE ()

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

R A=—H
31 December 2023

12, BBt 12. LOSS BEFORE TAX
RO e St o
2023 2022
liF3 T THTT
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
BrBiRTEAR 2 40BR, GGEA) L Loss before tax has been arrived at after charging/
THH S (crediting):
BTHA Staff costs
S 4 (L 10) Directors’ remuneration (note 10) 6,496 12,837
Hth B THA Other staff costs
— B S A AE R — salaries and other benefits 250,950 274,441
— R IRAE R kK — contributions to retirement benefits schemes 3,528 3,225
B TR A Total staff costs 260,974 290,503
AP B (AR FE B B SRS A IA) - Reversal of allowance for inventories
(included in cost of sales and services) (390) (3,139)
HAbSY G i (B AR KRT  Amortisation of other intangible assets (included in cost

FAR A1,007,0007 70 (& — T4 of sales and services of HK$1,007,000 (2022: cost

B RS A W998,000%7Dﬁ§’ #~  of sales and services of HK$998,000 and operating,

TP A B 52 178,304,000% 7)) administrative and other expenses of HK$8,304,000)) 19 1,007 9,302
BTN 4 Auditor’s remuneration 4,280 4,000
TERR A7 £ AR B S (RLRS 1E B9 5 Cost of inventories recognised as an expense

JRs AR 14 (included in cost of sales and services) 74,499 64,435
a2 Depreciation of investment properties 16 17,994 11,404
LEN & Eiy Depreciation of property and equipment 17 311,989 346,812
MG TR (BRAER & IR Depreciation of right-of-use assets (included in cost

A K150,493,0009 90 (& 4 of sales and services of HK$50,493,000 (2022:

51,320,000 7C) J2 548 ~ ﬁiﬂ(&ﬁ HK$51,320,000) and operating, administrative and

b B 32 106,000 70 (— & 4F other expenses HK$106,000 (2022: HK$1,224,000))

1,224,000%0) ) 18 50,599 52,544
ENEE s C/ESIRE LBt TN Gross licensing income from investment properties (38,866) (32,157)
W AR ARG YRR Less: Direct operating expenses that generate licensing

AN B R S income from investment properties 17,994 11,404
BOEYIER R AT B A A Net licensing income from investment properties (20,872) (20,753)
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P B 13. INCOME TAX
TR TE A
2023 2022
Tt THEIC
HK$’000 HK$’000
PR e Bl Macau complementary tax
— AR — current year (770) (376)
— R R R AR A — over provision in prior year 415,537 -
414,767 (376)
EHRAR ) — B BT AR Lao PDR annual flat tax and income tax
— AR — current year (17,165) (72,585)
— R A R A A — over provision in prior year - 214,690
(17,165) 142,105
SR ZERT B Cambodia complementary tax
— AR — current year 177) -
R SR A K A (P 5129) Deferred tax credit (note 29) 6,506 6,506
TR iR Income tax credit 403,931 148,235
LI 7 754 O T 4 47 TN A Ak R LB Macau complementary tax is calculated at the rate of 12% (2022: 12%)
i MR BL R 12% (ZF 24 1 12%) 51 on the estimated assessable profit for the year. No provision for Hong
B o B AT AR BH AR B T A s A A Kong Profits Tax has been made in the consolidated financial statements
P IE g5 18 -